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Financial Highlights

{in thousands, except per share data) 02 2001 2000 1999 1998
Net premiums written $ 1,104,897 $ 769,058 $ 545,555 $ 563510 $ 474,781
Net premiums earned 931,011 732,440 531,424 540,087 466,715
Total revenues 1,075,137 849,972 659,930 655,117 623,481
After-tax operating income {loss) " {37,569) 1,910 (6,459) 33,387 30,600
Net income (loss) (48,024) 7,103 1,325 25,594 44734
Total assets 4,105,794 3,802,979 3,469,408 3,245,087 3,460,718
Shareholders’ equity 581,330 512,006 440,046 429143 511,480
Per share data:
After-tax operating income (loss) " @ $ (120 $ 008 $  (0.29) $ 140 $ 125
Net income {loss}? (1.53) 032 0.06 1.08 182
Book value
Excluding unrealized gain (loss) on fixed maturities 1750 19.46 21.07 21.22 20.61
Including unrealized gain {loss) on fixed maturities 18.55 19.64 20.40 19.21 21.90

(1) Operating income (loss) differs from net income (loss) under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and does not replace net income (loss) as the GAAP measure of our

results of operations. In arriving at operating income (loss), we start with GAAP net income (loss) and exclude net realized investinent gains and losses because (i) net realized investinent

gains (losses) are unpredictable and not vecessarily indicative of current operating fundamentals or future performance of our insurance and retnsurance business segments and (i)
in many instances, decisions to buy and sell securities are made at the holding company level, and such decistons result in net vealized gains (losses) that do wot relate to the operations

of the individual segments.

(2) Per share data is presented on a diluted basis.
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PMA Capital

To QOur Shareholders,

J; he year 2002 was marked with many important events for our Company. We were
\ successful in raising approximately $§86 million of senior convertible debt marking
our second public capital raising event in as many vears. In addition, we replaced our bank
facility with a new credit facility, which currently provides us with up to $45 million in capital.
In early 2002, we exited the excess and surplus lines marketplace to concentrate all of our
resources into our primary insurance and reinsurance businesses, both of which are positioned
for continued profitable growth in today’s strong underwriting environment. Finally, both PMA
Re and The PMA Insurance Group finished the year with historically low combined ratios.
Our net loss of $48.0 million in 2002 included $56.9 million in losses related to the exit

costs and underwriting results from the excess and surplus lines company that we placed into
run off in early 2002. In addition, our 2002 results included net after~tax realized investment
losses totaling $10.4 million, which reflect impairment losses from the write-down of certain
of our investments in telecommunication and energy bonds. Partially offsetting these losses
were $19.3 million in after-tax operating earnings from our ongoing businesses, PMA Re and
The PMA Insurance Group.

PMA Re is our property and casualty reinsurance company that underwrites almost
exclusively in the United States through the broker market and is known for its stability
and security. The PMA Insurance Group is our property and casualty insurance organization
specializing in workers’ compensation and integrated disability management. Both of these

companies compete in different niches of the commercial property and casualty insurance

marketplace, where we believe their blend of skills gives us a competitive advantage in serving

a well-defined, cross-section of clients.

Our Specialty Insurance Businesses — 2002 Performance
Although PMA Re’s underwriting performance improved in 2002, we were disappointed
that their results included losses of $33 million after-tax ($50 million pre-tax) for loss reserve
development recognized in the fourth quarter. The higher than anticipated claim activity
that we experienced in 2002 was associated with the 1998, 1999 and 2000 underwriting vears,
which continue to be a challenge for most reinsurers.

PMA Re is operating in a market where the effects of the World Trade Center disaster
and the effects of poor underwriting, primarily for the years 1997 to 2000, are being felt by

many insurance companies, including most of PMA Re’s competitors. As a result, reinsurance

It our Letter to Shareholders and in the President’s messages that follow on pages 8 to 20, statements that are not historical are forward-looking statements,
tncluding such statements in the Qutlook discussions beginning on pages 4, 14 and 20. In addition, forward-looking statements typically include words such

as “believes”, “estimates”, “anticipates”, “expects” or similar words. Actual results may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.
See “Cautionary Statements” on page 46 relating to these fonvard-looking statements. In addition, references are made throughout pages 2 1o 20 1o operating
income (loss), which is the measure used by management to assess the financial performance of our business segments. Operating income (loss) is a non-GAAP

Sfinancial measure. Please see Note 15 1o our Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation of operating imcome (loss) to GAAP net income (loss).
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pricing increased throughout 2002 and so far in 2003. While new capacity in the form of
Bermuda start-up companies emerged in late 2001 and early 2002, several other competitors
have substantially reduced or completely withdrawn their capacity from the marketplace

in 2002. In addition, many of today’s remaining competitors in both the broker market and
direct reinsurance market have experienced turnover in their management teams and are

rethinking their strategy and commitment to the reinsurance

John ¥W. Smithson

President and
Chief Executive Officer

PMA Capital

marketplace. As a result, market dislocation has exerted upward
pressure oI rates.

We expect PMA Re will continue to succeed in
focusing on its target market, the small- to medium-sized
property and casualty insurance companies (those with
statutory surplus less than $500 million), and to expand
business in this target market because of our market stability,
broad array of custom-designed reinsurance solutions and
continued emphasis on customer service. When we combine
these traits with our long-standing broker relationships, we
believe that PMA Re remains positioned for improving
operating results in 2003. For the upcoming year, we expect
reinsurance premiums to grow in excess of expected losses and
expenses and to have continued excellent underwriting year
results. We also expect continued positive operating cash flow
at PMA Re, which should contribute nicely to our earnings.

The PMA Insurance Group, our longest standing
business, reported solid improvement in revenues and earnings
in 2002 marking the sixth straight year of improving perform-
ance. Over the past decade, The PMA Insurance Group
has evolved from a Pennsylvania-based regional insurer to
a super-regional carrier with offices along the eastern portion
of the United States from New York to Georgia, and west to Tennessee. Its growth has been
achieved in a very targeted and measured fashion. The PMA Insurance Group remains commit-
ted to develop opportunities within its marketing area by offering its target market of medium-
and large-sized account workers’ compensation customers expert management over the cost of
their workplace injuries.

The PMA Insurance Group focuses on consistent delivery of excellent service, primarily
in the areas of risk control and claims management. We believe delivering consistent, quality
service and maintaining a local presence throughout our service area differentiates us from our
competitors, many of whom are much larger in size but less focused on customer service in

the ways that The PMA Insurance Group is.



PMA Capital

For 2003, we expect The PMA Insurance Group’s premiums to continte to grow, and
for the growth to outpace loss costs and expenses. We also expect continued improvement in

operating cash flows, which would add to net investment income at The PMA Insurance Group.

Market Environment
Throughout the favorable underwriting environment in 2002, our underwriting teams at PMA
Re and The PMA Insurance Group had many opportunities to quote business at prices and
on terms and conditions that we expect will generate returns and combined ratios that meet
or exceed targeted levels, We expect that the 2002 “underwriting year” results, which represent
premium writings for 2002 and related
“The improvements in pricing and in terms and conditions ~ investment earnings on these funds over
projected ultimate losses and expenses,
began to appear late in 2000, and have continued through will meet our targeted combined ratio

of 95 percent for PMA Re and 104
percent for The PMA Insurance Group.

2002. Many industry experts are expecting this trend to

continue through 2003, and we share their view. At these combined raios, the

2002 underwriting year results should
generate a level of return that meets or exceeds our minimum acceptable return on equity of
10 percent. Because of the lag that exists between the time we write the business and subsequent-
ly earn the premium and generate investment income over the duration of the expected claim E
payment cycle, our combined ratios and return on equity reported in our calendar year results |
will lag the underwriting year performance by nearly 24 months. As a result, the business written

in 2002 will not manifest itself in our reported results untl late in 2003 and throughout 2004.

Exit from the Excess and Surplus Lines Marketplace

In May 2002, we made the decision to exit the surplus lines marketplace, which we

had serviced through Caliber One Indemnity Company. The returns that this company had
generated since we commenced writings in 1998 had been inadequate. At the same time, we
saw that the marketplace opportunities for our two other long-standing and well-established
operating companies required all of our capital and resources to fully exploit the current market
opportunities. As a result, we decided that, despite the emerging market opportunities available
in the excess and surplus lines marketplace, our resources and efforts were better invested in
pursuing continued profitable growth of our two businesses where we have proven platforms —

PMA Re and The PMA Insurance Group.

Outlook

Most industry observers would agree with our belief that today’s commercial property and
casualty insurance market offers carriers strong profit potential. The improvements in pricing and
in terms and conditions began to appear late in 2000, and have continued through 2002. Many

industry experts are expecting this trend to continue through 2003, and we share their view.
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Against this backdrop of favorable current year underwriting opportunities, however,
there remain uncertainties weighing on the industry’s ability to generate acceptable returns.
Legacy liabilities such as asbestos and environmental exposures continue to cast a pall on
the industry’s improving current underwriting year fundamentals. Several insurers and reinsurers
exited the business in 2002, due to capital constraints and an inability to adequately provide for
“sins of the past” Thankfully, we are not weighted down by legacy liabilities, and we believe that
our recent reserve actions have strengthened our balance sheet.

In this strong market, we are convinced that those companies that differendate themselves
from their competition in providing value-added service to their clients will thrive; those that do
not will become obsolete. Service has become a paramount consideration to the commercial
insured. As pricing trends continue to improve, and terms and conditions become more favorable
for us, we believe that customers will focus on the service aspects of the industry in making their

buying decision. Profit opportunities
“Service has become a paramount consideration to the remain excellent for those companies
commercial insured. As pricing trends continue to improve, that have the service culture and

underwriting expertise to provide

and terms and conditions become more favorable for us, customers with specialty risk manage-
ment solutions. The service culture
that permeates both PMA Re and
of the industry in making their buying decision” The PMA Insurance Group provides

we believe that customers will focus on the service aspects

us with an important competitive
advantage. Our underwriting approach and appetite provide a consistency of service that is
unique, and we believe appreciated, in today’s ever-changing marketplace.

Opwerall, we find ourselves faced with an attractive underwriting environment and we
may very well see exceptional opportunities to expand our premiums. Our capital base is solid,
and we expect that it will remain supportive of our growth objective to write the business that
we desire in our target markets during 2003.

We see 2003 as a year in which we will continue to participate in the improving
market conditions and a year where we can deliver improved operating earnings and growth
in our book value. I am extremely proud of the 1,250 people here at PMA, who are committed
to serving our clients’ needs in a way that not just meets, but exceeds, their expectations.

Our 2003 operating and capital plans are focused on achieving profitable growth and improved
fundamentals that our shareholders expect in order to enjoy greater value from their ownership
in PMA Capital.

Yo W ot

John W. Smithson
President and Chief Executive Officer




A specialty risk management
company with two specialty

businesses in distinct markets.

&y

Property and Casually

Reinsurance

Property and Casually
Insurance with a
Workers' Compensation

and Disability specialty

C DERINI NG C A RAETERISTIEE ==

We are a lead reinsurer. This affords
us the opportunity to influence
pricing and coverage terms to meet
our underwriting and profitability
standards. Our underwriting expertise
and service area capabilities lead to
long-term relationships with our
ceding company clients. We also offer
our clients solid claims paying ability.
PMA Capital Insurance Company,
through which PMA Re writes

its business, is rated A-, “Excellent,”

by A.M. Best.

‘We are one of the leading regional
insurers in the United States, Our
capital base is strong and our operating
philosophy centers on underwriting
excellence, fiscal discipline, superior
service, responsible growth and
strategic marketing. As a workers’
compensation specialist, we offer
clients one of the most effective
programs of risk control, claims and
managed care services in the industry.
We have emerged as one of the fore-
most writers of integrated disability
insurance. The PMA Insurance
Group’s Pooled Companies are rated

A-,“Excellent,” by A.M. Best.
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We provide both traditional
reinsurance and finite risk solutions
for approximately 390 domestic
and international insurance and

reinsurance companies.

We serve middle-market and large
accounts. Our client base represents

a broad spectrum of industries,
ranging from large manufacturers and
contractors to the health care indus-

try and educational institutions.

We deal predominantly with
reinsurance brokers and most of
our business comes from the five

largest global reinsurance brokers.

We use a diversified distribution
system consisting of a network of
national, regional and local brokers
and agents, employee benefits

brokers, and a direct sales force.

We craft solutions that solve problems,
cost effectively manage risk and,
most importantly, provide an insurer
with the tools to take advantage of
profitable opportunities. Traditional
treaty reinsurance, finite risk reinsur-
ance and facultative reinsurance alone
or in combination are the primary
building blocks that we use to help

insurers execute their business plans.

Our major product lines are workers’
compensation and integrated
disability management. We also offer
other property and casualty lines —
commercial automobile, general
liability and commercial packages.
Through PMA Management Corp.,
an operating division of The PMA
Insurance Group, we provide risk
management services to clients who

choose to be self-insured.
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| MA Re’s results in 2002 improved over our performance in 2001, but were not

W

— \.  consistent with the expectations that we had coming into the year. Although we
made strong gains in pricing our 2002 underwriting year business, our calendar year results

overall were unacceptable because of a fourth quarter charge

U piiint s d sivh o

Stephen G. Tirney

President and
Chief Operating Officer
PIMA Re

of approximately $50 million pre-tax mainly to increase our
loss reserves for accident years 1998, 1999 and 2000. As loss
trends for these vears have become more fully developed,

it has become much clearer that the business written during
this period was unprofitable for us and for many of our

competitors who participated in the casualty reinsurance

business during the late 1990s.

The 2001 and 2002 underwriting years have per-
formed much better than the last few years of the decade long
soft market, which came to an end in 2000, and contributed to
our operating profit of $13 million pre-tax and combined ratio
of 106.4 percent for 2002. Nonetheless, we are disappointed
with the poor performing business written from 1997 to 2000
and the effect that it had on the level of profitability that we
reported in 2002. For 2003, I expect underwriting results for
our current book of business to be strong and more reflective
of the 2001 and 2002 underwriting year results.

In last year’s annual report I noted that the underlying
insurance market was improving and that I expected the
reinsurance market to also improve. In 2002 the reinsurance
market did in fact improve. However, this market is very different than the hard markets of the
past. Hard markets are usually caused by a shortage of reinsurance capacity. Although there
has been some level of capacity withdrawing from the reinsurance market, there was no shortage

of reinsurers willing to write attractively priced business throughout 2002.




In today’s environment, most reinsurers recognize

that the only way to make an attractive return on their
capital is to produce an underwriting profit. We believe that
the best way to make an underwriting profit is to have
experienced and focused underwriters, who can adhere to
well-defined underwriting guidelines that are established

to produce a profitable outcome. At PMA Re, one of our

most widely recognized competitive strengths is the quality,

Paul |. Ayoub {Information Technology).

(in sillions)

Service is a meaningful facet of PRMA Re’s relationship with its customers.
Service team leaders (from left to right) include: Richard ReCousx (Claims),
John J. Peel {Finance), Robert J. McConville {Operations), David C. Snow

(Actuarial), V. Jeffrey Purcell {Contracts), Anthony J. Grosso (Marketing), and

Gross Premiums Written

$800
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maturity and depth of our underwriting talent. Many of
our underwriters have spent a number of years and in some
cases decades with our organization.

In 2002, we did a great deal of work to improve
the level of service to both our brokers and our ceding
companies. We believe that our level of service is a meaningful

facet of PMA Re that distinguishes us from our competitors.

In a recent survey of reinsurance brokers, PMA Re was judged to be among the best markets
when brokers were looking for “lead” quotes for working layer casualty excess business and finite

risk business. These are two lines of business in which PMA Ree has tremendous expertise.

Integral to PMA Re’s underwriting philosophy is our strong preference
to provide reinsurance products to those companies that use reinsurance to
manage risk in their operations, as opposed to those companies that view
reinsurance as a commodity used to subsidize their pricing. At PMA Re, the
value-added service we provide is using our expertise to help our ceding
companies manage their risk. Complementing this basic underwriting
philosophy is our preference to offer reinsurance support to our long-term
customers or those insurers whom we believe have the potential to become

long-term customers.

As market conditions for
our traditional treaty and
facultative reinsurance
products improved
beginning in 2001 and
inte 2002, premiums for
that business grew
dramatically, while
demand for our finite
product remained

strong.
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Because every line of business is unique, each reinsured line of business necessitates a
specific knowledge of the participating insurers, the brokers, the legal environment, the insurance
products, the corresponding reinsurance products and the ability to price the products. PMA Re
has addressed these requirements through dedicated departments that focus on each major line
of business. Within each department there are specialists for specific lines of business. PMA Re's

five specialized underwriting departments are: Traditional

Treaty, Finite Risk and Financial Products, Professional

and Specialty, Facultative, and Accident Reinsurance.

Traditional Treaty, which focuses on general property and
casualty business, had a good year and experienced strong
growth in 2002 as gross premiums written more than
doubled to $383.0 million. The combination of our strong
presence in this arena and the overall firming rate envi-
ronment contributed to our underwriters’ success in
2002. A significant portion of this growth came from our
existing clients, where premiums on renewal business
increased significandy. In addition, we were successful in

targeting and writing new business as well.

10



Finite Risk and Financial Products produced strong results again in 2002
as they continue to focus on traditional reinsurance products with
caps or other forms of limiting features rather than esoteric financial
instruments. In 2002, gross written premiums for this underwriting unit
were $252.4 million, up 3 percent
from the 2001 level. PMA Re’s Finite

team has established itself as a capable
market when brokers are looking

to solve problems for their small- and
medium-sized insurance clients that
are often ignored by the larger market
finite operations, yet have significant

profit potential.

< Professional Liability and Spedialty focuses
on directors’ and officers’ and errors
and omissions Lability coverage, as well
as other professional liability business.
Market conditions in these lines of
business improved greatly in 2002,
most notably through rate increases,
but just as importanty through tight-
ened contract terms and conditions.

As a result, gross written premiums grew to $92.1 million in 2002, up significantly from

$34.2 million the year before.

<& Faaultative, which reinsures property, casualty and professional liability risks on an individual
policy basis, just about doubled its gross premiums written to $49.3 million in 2002 mainly

on the strength of price increases and excellent submission activity.

< Acident Reinsurance was established in mid-2002 to focus on high-layer workers’ compen-
sation reinsurance and life catastrophe reinsurance products. We felt this product line was an
excellent complement to our traditional workers’ compensation reinsurance capabilities. The

accident reinsurance market was significantly impacted by the World Trade Center attack

on September 11, 2001, and we believe that prices and terms and conditions are favorable

in the current market environment.




At the heart of PMA Re’s underwriting philosophy is a strong preference to establish

and maintain long-term relationships with our clients. We believe quite strongly that this is a

good business practice and it is an excellent way to grow and improve results. In 2002, the

renewal book for our traditional reinsurance business grew by 35 percent, after an increase in

excess of 30 percent in 2001. We use this renewal rate change analysis as an effective proxy for

measuring rate increases.

While we are pleased with 2002’ premium growth and rate increases, we are also

pleased that our exposures were decreasing or increasing at a slower rate. During the course

facultg e

leverage our returns.

of the past two years, our underwriters have been negotiating more

restrictive terms and
conditions, which reduce
exposures and act as de facto
rate increases; a ‘rate increase’
related to better terms and
conditions is difficult to
measure, but is nevertheless
real and improves the quality
of the business.

In addition, PMA
Re’s underwriting focus
during the last three years
has been to reduce our
pro rata book and to

concentrate on building

a larger excess of loss portfolio. We believe that such a portfolio
affords a reinsurer more control over the terms and conditions

of the reinsurance. There is also another advantage of excess

of loss reinsurance. In pro rata reinsurance, a reinsurer is on a “first
dollar basis” with the insurer and pricing is more or less on

a “take it or leave it” basis. Excess of loss reinsurance gives us the

opportunity to price the reinsurance contract where we can best
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While rates are firming and business submissions were strong throughout
2002, the industry wrestled with the very real exposure to losses from terrorist
activities. Although Congtress passed and the President signed the Terrorism Risk

Insurance Act in 2002 (“the Act”), the new law is not a perfect solution to the

problems of insuring terrorism
exposures. First, the Act is only for
three years and covers only domestic
losses arising from acts of foreign
terrorists that are certified by the
Federal Government, and the Act
does not apply to reinsurance. In
addition, the deducuables required
under the Act are significant and the
recovery allocation methods have
not been worked out. It is our view
that all terrorism losses should be
covered by the Federal Government.
Nevertheless, our customers are
now looking to us to provide some

terrorism event coverage to protect

them for their retentions under the Act, and they are looking to us as a long-term partner.

Because of the shortcomings of the Act, we will continue to carefully assess and prudently

underwrite to minimize our reinsurance of risks that are potentially exposed to terrorism losses

by excluding or limiting coverage for acts of terrorism. In all instances,

1dent

we carefully monitor our accumulation of terrorism coverage by zones,

much the same way that we track our property aggregates.

13



QOutlook

‘We are quite pleased with the market presence and business acceptance PMA Re enjoyed in

2002 as the market clearly was firming. Our expectation is for the 2002 underwriting year to

generate underwriting profits. As we look ahead to 2003, initial indications are that the revenues

and operating income will improve over 2002. We will continue to work diligently to bring

our expertise to our clients in the same tradition of service excellence that has taken us to

record levels of business writings in 2002. Despite a lowering of our financial strength rating

to A- (“Excellent”) by A.M. Best in early 2003, we remain confident that 2003 will be a good

year for PMA Re.

We believe that our clients and brokers, especially the more than half that have been

doing business with PMA Re for ten years or more, will recognize that PMA Re remains

a committed and excellent market serving the reinsurance needs of its clients. The market is
very attractive right now, and we have an established platform in place to
support our brokers and the needs of their clients. All of the 165 employees

at PMA Re are proud to be part of a strong and focused underwriting

Gross Premiums Written company, where we share a mutual respect for our brokers and our ceding

E}{ Eﬁﬁjgg Company Size company clients. To all of you that have supported PMA Re and find safety
and security in placing your reinsurance business with PMA Re, we are

= grateful for your continued support. PMA Re stands ready to continue its

$100 33-year tradition of being a secure and committed reinsurance market.

3660

$500 7

At PMA Re, we target
small- to mid-sized ceding
companies. These compa-

nies present excellent

opportunities for leng-

é& 99 63 01 02
term relationships

ZJ Other

& Large (Over $500 million)

O Medium (3251-580 million)

O Small ($51-250 million) expertise, as well as our

O Very Small (Under $51 million)

because they can benefit

from our underwriting

excellent service.
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The PMA Insurance Group

, | 12002, the momentum continued to build at The PMA Insurance Group. We strength-
A ened our position as one of the premier regional property and casualty insurers in the U.S.
For the sixth consecutive year, we improved both our financial position and operating performance.
We generated positive earnings momentum, improved the quality of our
book of business, grew our book of business and enhanced our market
profile and visibility.

Disciplined underwriting, prudent revenue growth, diligent
expense management and excellent service delivery represent the tenets
we consider to be our primary success drivers. Qur organizational culture
1s strong and focused on results and disciplined execution. We have built
a strong foundation and will continue to capitalize on this solid platform

for further profitable growth in 2003.

Marketplace Environment
In 2002, the property and casualty insurance industry continued to
experience favorable conditions that began in the second half of 2000.
Much needed price increases continued to be realized in 2002, with
insurance prices in all product lines improving, We capitalized on favorable
market conditions by increasing our pricing in our product lines and
geographic areas, which improved underwriting margins.

The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act requires insurers to offer

coverage from domestic losses arising from acts of foreign terrorists.

In return, the Federal Government provides insurers with some financial

backstop. However, carriers still face substantial financial exposure from

Vincent T. Donnelly terrorism acts since each insurer must satisfy a deductible before the government program
President and is triggered. To manage this exposure, we continue to execute a disciplined underwriting
Chief Operating Officer strategy based upon individual risk evaluation and appropriate analysis of exposures to include

The PMA Insurance Group the possibility of a catastrophic event. With respect to workers’ compensation, we evaluate

exposures with heightened awareness of certain factors, including;

< Classes of business deemed most susceptible to this type of risk
< Location of individual risk
< Aggregate number of employees located in a particular area

< Proxanuty to national landmarks

Disruption in the property and casualty marketplace continues, as many carriers repositioned
themselves financially and strategically with resulting turmoil to their business operations

and service franchises. In contrast, we have a solid business strategy, strong financial position and
a service platform that differentiates us. We are focused, know the types of business we desire and

how we want to compete, and we are prepared to capitalize on the favorable market conditions.

15
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Workers’ compensation is experiencing loss costs trends that are to some extent offsetting
price increases. Claims frequency, which had been declining for almost a decade, is beginning to
level off. Indemmity severity is up, driven by wage inflation and longer claims duration. Escalating
medical inflation is impacting workers’ compensation costs as well. We are strengthening our
commitment to combat these trends through our medical cost management program, overall

claims management and our loss prevention services.

Financial Performance
Pre-tax operating income, our key measure of operating performance, grew to $25.3 million,
as compared to $23.1 million in 2001, an increase of 10 percent. Revenue growth was strong
due primarily to price increases across all our product lines and, to a lesser extent, an increased
number of accounts written due to focused marketing efforts in all our territories. Gross written
premiums grew to $515.3 million, compared to $416.7 million in 2001, an increase of 24 per-
cent. New business writings continued to be robust, resulting in premiums of approximately
$140 million, compared to approximately $120 million in premiums in 2001. Our retention rate
was 81 percent based on premiums.

PMA Management Corp., our operating division that provides unbundled risk
management services to self-insured and alternative market clients, increased its revenue to
$14.3 million, compared with $11.2 million in 2001.

A key measure of expense control, the expense ratio, continued to improve. For the sixth

Gross Premiums Written consecutive year the expense ratio declined, this year to 26.4 percent, compared to 26.7 percent

(in millions) . ) . . . . .
in 2001.We are making investments in the company for operational improvements in order

e to keep pace in delivering service as we grow. Our diligent expense management and increased
_ ] revenues have allowed us to maintain the favorable trend in the expense ratio and improve
= our profitability.
0 —_— Our balance sheet is strong with policyholders’ surplus
Pre-tax Operating of $305 million. Loss reserves continue to be adequate and
T - = Efi‘ig?‘lfw our combined ratio improved to 103.2 percent in 2002,
compared to 105.5 percent in 2001.
T T T T T 0
= i Market Position
ma T T i :: ‘ We are a large, regional, multi-line property and casualty
0 mimin insurance company, offering local service through a network
wwena 1 of 16 offices. We have the capability to write and service
$15 BiRinin multi-state accounts. Our core business is workers’ compensa-~
_ | tion insurance. We focus our marketing efforts on clients
e — B —i T who truly value a risk management approach that offers
= g _‘ L excellent service and quality products with the goal of
b
}
EREIE




PMA's performance-
oriented culture is rooted
in the Company’s values of
passion, professionalism,
teamwork, accountability
and execution. Qur culture
forms an operational
philosophy that generates
service excellence and
high levels of client

satisfaction.

The PMA lTosuevrance Grouop

lowering their total insurance costs.
We serve our customers through our

three business units:

Risk Management Services focuses on
large accounts, comprising 38 percent
of our direct written premium, Our
risk management options range from
first-dollar risk transfer to alternative
market products, including a dedicated

captive unit.

Commercial Markets, comprising 57 percent of our direct written
premium, serves the needs of mid-size employers with our high-quality

insurance products and risk control, managed care and claims services.

Groups, representing 5 percent of our direct written premium,

offers individual smaller companies the opportunity to leverage their
purchasing power. We tailor programs for associations, franchises,

cooperatives and other sponsoring entities.

The PMA Way

In-depth workers’ compensation expertise and service are two of our primary competitive

advantages. Our strategy is to leverage these capabilities to both cultivate new business and retain
quality accounts. The PMA Way, our operational philosophy, forms the basis of our service
approach. The PMA Way is deeply ingrained in our performance-oriented culture and is based
upon our mission, vision, operating philosophies and values of passion, professionalism, team-
work, accountability and execution. We are an employer of choice, being named one of the “Best
Places to Work in Pennsylvania,” ranking number 30 among large employers in Pennsylvania.
Qur service standards and strong culture enable us to offer our clients service consistency,

regardless of product line or location. Key service components include:

Account Management — A disciplined method of managing client relationships through
multi-disciplinary teams that is designed to enhance service performance, create cross-selling

opportunities and strengthen client relationships.

Medical Cost Management — Our Disability Management Program is focused on early interven-
tion and returning injured workers to work as soon as medically possible. In the majority of our
territories, we use the First Health Network, a national preferred provider network of medical
practitioners and hospitals. Our penetration rate — the proportion of medical payments made
to First Health participating providers — continued to grow to 56 percent in 2002, generating

measurable cost savings for us and our clients.
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Pharmacy Benefits Management Program — In 2002, we
formed an alliance with Tmesys®, an on-line pharmacy
benefits management program that generates savings
by reducing prescription drug costs. We anticipate

the Tmesys program will result in significant cost

reductions for us and for our clients.

Technology — We exploit technology to realize
operational efficiency and enhance our delivery of
service. In 2002, we implemented phase one of our
Total Claims Reconstruction Project — First Notice
of Loss — streamlining the process and activities required when workers’ compensation claims
are reported. Phase one serves as a launching point for additional, major, multi-year enhance-
ments to our claims systems and processes. In 2002, we added approximately 900 new users
to our Risk Management Information System, PMA CINCH®.

A survey of active insurance clients conducted by an independent opinion market
research consultant in spring 2002 affirmed high levels of satisfaction with our service franchise.

The results included:

< 91 percent of client respondents reported that PMA has exceeded, fully met or generally
met their service expectations
< 94 percent of survey respondents said their employees were satisfied with how PMA

treated them during their workers’ compensation injuries and illnesses

In twelve service categories, PMA earned an “Excellent/Good” rating from 90 percent

or more of the respondents in areas such as:

< Ease of doing business with us as an insurer
< Ease of reporting claims
< Quality of local service
< Understanding clients’ risk exposures

< Risk Control: Understanding your business

Growth Strategies

In addition to capitalizing on our service franchise to cultivate new

business, we are employing the following strategies:

X Ennta inmem__

Geographic Expansion — Our single most significant geographic
expansion initiative continues to be PMA Horizons, in which we write and

Diealiiity  § service clients headquartered in our marketing territory who have operations

\ [Management

throughout the U.S. In 2002, we wrote approximately $27 million in new business
premium through PMA Horizons, which added to the $24 million in new business

premium we achieved in 2001. In 2002, our newest office, the Nashville, Tennessee branch,
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Ninety-four

‘ percent of our
clients responding

to the survey said
their employees were
satisfied with how
PMA treated them
during their injury/

illness.

The synergy of PRMA
employees working
together on teams
heightens the level

of expertise we provide

our clients.

9 1 % Ninety-one

The PMA tnsuvrance Growuvep

completed its first full year of operation, expanding its distribu~
percent of our tion network of agents and brokers and generating $6 mullion

. . in direct premiums written.
clients responding

g o ® .
to the survey stated Integrated Disability Management — PMA One®, our integrated

disability management (IDM) product, capitalizes on our
that PMA excesded,

disability management expertise, combining both workers’

fully met or generally compensation and short-term and long-term group disability

met their service into a single insurance program to manage employee lost time
expectations. due to injuries and illnesses.

We continue to be the largest writer of integrated

disability management business in the U.S. as measured by

the number of accounts. In 2002, our client retention ratio was 82 percent. IDM generated

$48 million in premium in 2002, compared to $44 million in 2001.

Distribution Systemt — The PMA Insurance Group partners with a select group of 330 agents
and brokers, a balanced mix of national brokers, independent regional agents and brokers,
local independent agents and employee benefit brokers. Each distribution force component
significantly contributes to our annual revenue. In 2002, we appointed a small group of new
agents primarily in support of our expansion ofhces.

Our direct sales force, operating in Pennsylvania and Delaware, continues to contribute

significantly to revenue, generating approximately $45 million in direct preminums written in 2002.

PMA Management Corp.
(PMAMC) — PMAMC

improved all key financial
measures in 2002. PMAMC

wrote a record level of

|
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Our emphasis on
profitable growth
and day-to-day goal
achievement fuels

PMA's success.

The PMA tnsuvrance Group

new business, $3.2 million compared with $2.8 million in 2001. Profitability continued to
improve and client retention was 92 percent. Diversification in the size and type of business

written continued, as well as our geographic spread.

Other Property and Casualty Lines — Commercial automobile, general liability and commercial
multi-peril insurance generated $104.4 million of gross written premiums in 2002, representing
20 percent of our book of business. These lines are valuable to PMA for diversification and

cross-selling opportunities.

Outlock

While many challenges will confront the property and casualty insurance industry in 2003,
at PMA, we see significant opportunities. We have been benefiting from favorable market
conditions, and we expect pricing to remain strong in 2003. We intend to capitalize on these
market conditions, and prudently pursue profitable new business opportunities.

To address the financial exposure not covered by

a C C @ nt ab lll ij 7 the Terrorism Ruisk Insurance Act, we will continue to

J‘ .

execute underwriting parameters that focus on reducing
potential workers’ compensation risk concentrations.
Along with organic growth, we intend to expand geographically. Our

expansion efforts will be based upon a careful assessment of a state’s future profitability
potential for us. Our most significant geographic expansion will continue to be
PMA Horizons. We intend to strengthen our position with workers’ compensation
accounts by providing group disability insurance and standard commercial property
and casualty lines where our underwriting standards are met.

We have built a strong foundation and intend to capitalize on our significant

resources: exceptional service franchise,
underwriting expertise, strong balance
sheet, results-oriented corporate
culture, seasoned management team,
and talented and passionate employees.
We intend to fully maximize these
resources to continue to enhance our

record of financial performance. We

believe that we have a winning record
of performance and the momentum,
focus and business platform to achieve

even greater success.
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PMA Capital

Selected IFmginciaﬂl Data

Shareholders’ equity

(dollar amounts in thousands, éxcept per share data) 2002 (1) S0 2000(1) 1999 1998
Met premiums written $ 1,904,937 $ 769,058 $ 545555 - $ 563510 $ 474,761
Consolidated Results of Qperations: o
Net premiums earned $ 997,011 $ 732,440 $ 531424 $ 540,087 $ 486,715
Net investment income - 84881 86,945 102,591 110,057 120,125
Net realized investment gains (losses) {16,085) 7,988 11,975 {7,745) 21,745
Other revenues ' 15330 22599 14,000 12,718 14,895
Total consolidated revenues » $'1,075,137 $ 849,972, $ 659,990 655,117 $ 623481
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change $ (48.029) $ 7103 $ 135 $ 28353 $ 44734
Cumulative effect of accounting change, . :
net of related tax effect? — — - {2,759) —
Met income (loss) $  (48.024) § 7103 $ 1325 $ 25594 $ 4473
Per Share Data:
- Weighted average shares: ) .
Basic 31,284,848 21,831,725 21,898,867 22,976,326 23,608,618 -
Diluted 31,284,848 22,216,695 22,353,622 23,785,916 24,524,888
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change: L .
Basic $  (153) $ 0.33 $ 0.06 $ 1.23 $ 1.89
Diluted (1.53) 032 0.06 1.19 1.82
Net income {loss) pér share: ’ .
Basic (153) 033 006 1.1 189
Diluted (1.33) 032 0.06 1.08 182
Dividends paid per Common share®® ‘ —_ = 0.6 0.32 0.32
Dividends paid per Class A Cammon share®® 0.42 042 0.375 0.36 0.36
Shareholders’ equity per share 1855 19.64 12040 19.21 21.90
Consolidated Financial Position: ‘ .
Total investments $ 1,823,510 $ 1,775,335 $ 1,826,949 $ 1,918,035 $ 2,325,409
Total assets 4,105,794 3,802,979 3,469,406 - 3,245,087 3,460,718
Reserves for unpaid losses and LAE . 2,449,880 2,324,439 2,053,138 1,932,601 1,940,895 -
Debt ' 159,280 62,500 - 163,000 163,000 163,000
- 581,380 . 612,006 440,046 429,143 511,480

" (1) Operating results in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were impacted by approximately $90 million pre-ﬁx (859 million. after-tax), $52 million pre-tax (§34 million afier-tax) and-860 million pre-tax
(839 million after-tax), respectively, of reserve itrengthening. Operating results for 2002 were also impacted by $43 million pre-tax (828 million after-tax) for costs associated with the exit from and run off
of Caliber One, our former excess and surplus lines business. In addition, operating results for 2001 were impacted by 830 million pre-tax (320 wmillion after-tax) for World Trade Center losses.

(2) In 1999, the Company adopted SOP 97-3, “Accounting by Insurance and Other Enterprises for Insurance-Related Assessments "As a result of adopting SOP 97 3, the Company recorded a llabrlu‘y

" of 84.3 million pre-tax and a resulting charge to eamings of §2.8 miltion, net of tax effect.

(3) Effective at the close quusmess Apnl 24, 2000, all shares of Commion stack were reclassified as CIassA Cowmmmon stocle Accordingly, all dividends subsequent to Aprz[ 24, 2000 are for the Class A

Common stock.
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{dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2001 {1} 2000(1) -

(4

3
(6

m
®

Pre-tax operating income (loss); . :
PMA Re . $ 13422 $ (3,062 $ (7,297 $ 50319 $ 46,408

The PMA Insurance Group _ } : © 25345 23,148 21,601 18,200 10,470
Corporate and Other , _ : (14339 16,322) {19,142) (20,765) (21,948)
Ongoing Operations : ‘ o 24429 13,764 {4,838) T 47,754 34,930
Run-off Operations® ' o (87,501) '(26,168) 104 83 (1,606)
Pre-tax operating income {loss) - (63,072) (12,404) {11,852} 47,837 33,324
Net realized investment gains (losses) ’ {16,083) 7,988 11,975 {7,745) 21,745
income (loss) before income taxes and . . .
cumulative effect of accounting change o o (79,357) (4,416) 123 40,092 55,069
Income tax expense (benefit) - : ' : 3.133) (1,519 (1,202) 11,739 10,335
income (loss) before extraordinary loss and : ' - .
cumulative effect of accounting change ' (48,024) 7,103 . 1,325 -28,353 44,734
Cumulative effect of accounting change, - , o -
net of related tax effect? - L= — — {2,759) —
Net income (foss) . o . $ - (48,028) $ 7103 $§ 1325 $  255% 3 44734
GAAP Ratics for Ongoing Insurance Segments:
_PMARe: .
Loss and LAE ratio 78.6% 87.4% 91.6% 70.4% 68.9%
Expense ratio ) 25.8% " 268% 31.7% 32.1% 34.8%
Combined ratio®® ) 105.4% 1142% . 1233% 102.5% 103.7%
Operating ratio”! B '  976% 100.9% 102.9% 82.9% 79.2%
The PMA Insurance Group: » S ' ‘

" Loss and LAE ratio i - CO780% 74.7% 74.9% ' 75.1% - 816%
Expense ratio’® - ‘ } 26.8% 26.7% 29.3% 31.7% ' 33.7%
Policyholders’ dividend ratio T 1.8% ) 4.1% 15% 8.6% 1.3%
Combined ratio® ' _ ‘ 103.2% 105.5% 11.7% 115.4% 1226%

Operating ratio” - 94.5% %1% 92.7% 92.7% 95.9%

Pre-tax operating income {loss) excludes net realized investiment gains (losses). Pre-tax 'operating income by business segment for all periods is unaudited and has been presented in accordance with SFAS
No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” which the Company adopted on Janviary 1, 1998. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” and Note 15 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. The Cormpany excludes net realized investment gains {losses) from the profit and loss measure it utilizes

10 assess the performance of its operating segments because (i) net realized investment gains flosses) are unpredictable and not necessarily indicative of current operating fundamentals or future performance
and (i) in many instances, decisions to buy and sell securities are made at the holding company level, and such decisions result in net realized gains (losses) that do wot relate to the operations of the
individual segments. ~
In May 2002, we cxited the excess and surplus lines business and placed this business, formerly known as Caliber One, into run-off.

The combined ratio computed on a GAAP basis is equal to losses and Joss adjustmzm expenses plus acquisition expenses, operating expenses and policyholders’ dividends (where applicable), all divided
by net premiums earned.

Thie operating ratio is equal to the combined ratio less the net investment income ratio, which is computed by dividing net investment income by net earned premiums.

The GAAP operating expense ratios exclude §11.3 million, §8.8 m:llron 87.0 million, $7.9 million and $9.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, of PMA Management Corp. direct expenses related to service revenucs, which are not included in premiums earned.
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'Mamag@m@ms Dﬂscussmn ;mdl Analysis of IFmamcml
Condition and Resu}hts of @pemfcmm

" The following is a discussion of the financial condition of
PMA Capital Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries -

(“PMA Capital” or the “Company” which also may be
referred to as “we” or “us”) as of December 31, 2002, com-
pared - with December 31, 2001, and the r¢sults of operations
of PMA Capital for 2002 and 2001, compared with the
immediately preceding year. The balance sheet information
presented below is as of December 31 for each respective year.
The statement of operations information is for the year ended.
December 31 for each respective year.

This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunc-
tion with our audited Consolidated Fmanaal Statements and
Notes thereto presented on pages 49‘ to 72 in this Annual
Report.You should also read our discussion of Critical ‘
Accounting Estimates beginning on page 45 for an explana-
tion of those accounting estimates that we believe are most
important to the portrayal of our financial condition and .
results of operations and that require our most difficult, subJec—
tive and complex judgments.’

© This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fmancml

. Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) contains
forward-looking statements, including those made in the
Business Qutlook section, which involve inherent risks and
uncertainties. Statements that are not historical facts, including
statements about-our beliefs and expectations, are forward-
looking statements. These statements are based upon current
estimates assumptions and projections. Actual results r‘nay differ

materially from those projected in such forward-looking state-
ments, and therefore, you should not place undue reliance on
them. See the Cautionary Statements on page 48 for a list of
factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially
from those contained in any forward-looking statement. Also,

- see the Business —~ Risk Factors in our Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31, 2002 (2002 Form 10-K”) for a further
discussion of risks that could materially affect our business.

Consolidated Results

In this MD&A, in addition to providing net income (loss),
we also provide operating income (loss) because we believe
that it is a meaningful measure of the profit or loss generated .

-by our operating segments. Operating income (loss) differs

from net income (loss) under generally accépted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and does not replace net income (loss) as
the GAAP measure of our results of operations. In arriving at
operating income (loss), we start with GAAP net income (loss)
and exclide net realized investment gains and losses because

" (i) net realized i 1nvestment gains and losses are unpredictable

and not necessamly indicative of currént operating fundamentals

or future performance of our insurance and reinsurance
. business segments and (ii) in many instances, decisions to buy

and sell securities are made at the holding company level, and
such decisions result in net realized gains and losses that do'not

- relate to the operations of the individual segments.

The major components of revenues, pre-tax operatmg income (loss) and net income (loss) are as follows:

{doliar amounts in thousands) 2002 i ) T 2001 - 2000
Revenues: _ o :
Net premiums written $ 1,104.587 769,058 545,555
Net premiums earned $ 991010 § 732440 531,424
Net investment income 85,881 - 86,945 102,591
Net realized investment gains (losses) {16,085) . 7988 11,975
Other revenues 15330 - 22,599 14,000

Total revenues

Components of pre-tax operating income (loss) and net incoms {loss):
PMARe - '
-The PMA Insurance Group

Carporate and Other . .

Pre-tax operating income (loss} — Ongoing Operat|ons

Run-off Operations” -

Pre-tax operating loss

Net realized investment gains (iosses)

Income {loss) before income taxes

Income tax benefit

Net income (Iossl

$ 1075037 $ 849972 - § 658,990

(3,062) 3

$ 13422 $ {7,297)
L BME 23,148 - 21,601
(14338) - (6,322) {19,142)
26429 13,764 {4,838)
(87501} . {26,168) (7,014)
(63,072) (12,404) {11,852)
{16,088} . - 7,988 11,975
{73,157) (4,416) 123
{31,133) {11,519) {1,202)

$ (48 @24}) $ 7103 $ 1,325

(1) In May 2002, we anviounced our decision to wtthdrawﬁvm the excess and surplus lines marketplace. As a result qfthzs deaszon the results qfthz: segment, formerly known as Caliber One, are reported as

Run-off Operations.
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We recorded a net loss of $48.0 million in 2002, com-
pared to net income of $7.1 million and $1.3 million in 2001
and 2000. Included in net income (loss) are after-tax net real-
ized investment losses of $10.5 million in 2002; compared to

after-tax net realized investment gains of $5.2 million and $7.8 -

‘million for 2001 and 2000. After-tax net realized investment’
losses for 2002 include impairment losses of $15.4 million-
{$23.8 million pre-tax) on fixed income securities, primarily
corporate bonds issued by telecommunications and energy
companies. Net realized investment gains for 2001 reflect the

sale of securites because of our decision to shift the mix of - -

our invested, asset portfolio from U;SATreasuljy and agency

4_VPM4A Capital

securities to corporate bonds and structured securities as a
.means to enhance our portfolio’s yield. As a result of invest-
ment sales pursuant to this strategy and the declining interest
rates in 2001, we recorded net realized investment gains in
2001. During 2000, realized investment gains resulted primari-
ly from the sale of equ1ty securities, which had reached our

_ targeted price level.

Also included in net income for 2001 are a $6.3 million

after-tax gain ($9.8 million pre-tax included in Other rev-

" enues) on the sale of certain real estate properties and a tax
benefit of $10.1 million resulting from the completion of an
IRSS examination of our 1996 tax return.

Following is'a reconaha’aon of our operatmg results as dJscussed below to GAAP pre-tax mcorne (loss) and net income (loss):

2002 2001 . 2000-
(dollar amounts in thousands) - Pre-tax ARer-tax Pre-tax After-tax Pra-tax After-tax
Operating income {loss) for Ongoing Operations C$ 264829 S 13239 $ 4001 $§ 597 . $(4838) $ (1,776)
- Operating loss for Run-off Operations - (87501)  (55,868) (26,168) (20,507) (7,014) (4,683)
Gain on sale of real estate — — 9,763 6,346 J— L —
Tax benefit — — — 10,100 —_ =
Operating income (loss) {83,072} (37,589) {12404 1,910 (11,852) (6,'459)‘
Net realized investment gains {losses) (16,083) {10,45%) 7,988 5,193 11,975 7,784
Income (loss)

$(78.957) $(63028) S (4416) S 7103 $ 123§ 1325

- Pre-tax operating income for the Ongomg Operatlons was
$24.4 million in 2002, compared to pre-tax operating income
of $4.0 million in 2001 and a pre-tax operating loss of $4.8

million in 2000. The improvement in pre-tax dperating results

in 2002 reflects improved underwriting results at both PMA
Re and The PMA Insurance Group. Partially offsetting the
improved underwriting results is a pre-tax net charge of -

_approximately $45 million ($26 million after-tax) recognized - -

in the fourth quarter, primarily reflecting higher than expected

_ losses and LAE at PMA Re of $50 million: pre-tax. Results for

2001 include a charge of approximately $30 million pre-tax |
(820 million after-tax) relating to losses resulting from the
attack on the World Trade Center. Operating results for 2000

include a charge of approximately $60 million pre-tax (approx-

imately $40 million after-tax) for higher than expected losses
and LAE at PMA Re. ' ' . ‘

‘After-tax operating income for the Ongoing Operations
was $19.3 million in 2002, compared to after-tax operating
income of $6.0 million in 2001 and an after-tax operat:mg loss
of $1.8 million in 2000.

Operating results for the Run-off Operations for 2002
reflect unfavorable prior year loss development of approxi-
mately $52 million pre-tax ($34 million after-tax) and a
charge of $43 million pre-tax ($28 million after-tax) associat-
ed with our decision to exit from and run off our excess and
surplus lines business, partially offset by better than expected
underwriting results for the current accident year. Operating
results for the Run-off Operations for 2001 and 2000 reflect
net unfavorable prior year development of $22 million pre-
tax ($14 million after-tax) and $3 million pre-tax ($2 million
after-tax), respectively.

Consolidated revenues were $1,075.1 million, $850.0
million and $660.0 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000. The
increase in revenues in 2002, compared to 2001, primarily
reflects higher net premiums earned by PMA Re and The
PMA Insurance Group mainly due to price increases across
all lines of business. The increase in revenues in 2001, com-
pared to 2000, primarily reflects higher net premiums earned,
partially offset by lower net investment income.
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Capital

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Impact on 2001 Results fom the September 11th
Terrorist Attack on the World Trade Center

Results for our Ongoing Operations in 2001 were adversely
impacted by approximately $30 million pre-tax ($20 million
after-tax) as a result of losses incurred at PMA Re from the
September 11th terrorist attack on the World Trade Center..
The 2001 charge of approximately $30 million pre-tax con-
sisted of total assumed losses of approximately $135 million,
which 15 before (1) reinsurance recoveries (3110 million),

(2) additional premiums due to PMA Re’s retrocessionaires
($30 nullion) and (3} additional premiums due to PMA Re
on its assumed business ($25 million). Results for the Run-off
Operations for 2001 include approximately $1 million of net
property losses related to the September 11th terrorist attack
on the World Trade Center, net of $9 million of ceded losses.
Our estimate- of the net loss from the terrorist attack on

the World Trade Center continues to be approximately $30
million pre-tax and is based on our analysis to date of known
exposures, However, it is difficult to.fully estimate our loss
from the attack given the uncertain nature of damage theories
and loss.amounts, and the development of additional facts
related to the attack. As more information becomes available,
our estimate may need to be increased.

Business Qutlock

Our current expectation is that throughout 2003 premium
rates will remain adequate, which will enable PMA Re and
The PMA Insurance Group to achiéve premium growth of
10-15%. Premium growth may accelerate beyond our current
forecasts if rates move higher than we are expecting. However,
. if rates do not maintain adequate levels during 2003, then we
would constrain our premium writings. '

Overall, we expect underwriting results to improve in
2003 due to expected price strengthening that we believe will
continue to outpace loss cost and expense trends. Accordingly,
embedded underwriting margiris should remain strong in
2003.We would expect to see the 2003 combined ratio for .
PMA Re to be around 95%, which is severalApoints below
their long-term goal of 100% and we expect the combined
ratio for The PMA Insurance Group to be in line with their
long-term goal of 104%.

Based on our current expectations, the esnmated range of
consolidated after-tax operating earnings for 2003 is between
$1.70 and $1.85 per diluted share. Our range of estimated
operating earnings per share for 2003 assumes that rate ade-

quacy will contine to improve as prices continue to increase |

in 2003. In addition, it. assumes that loss trends run at a similar
pace as 2002 levels, excluding catastrophes, and that loss

26

reserves for prior accident years continue to be adequate. In
addition, our 2003 earnings per share estimate does not reflect
any dilution from our 4.25% convertible senior debentures.

If we were to assume conversion of this debt, then our
earnings per share figures would be lower by about 10%.

We are unable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
range of GAAP net income per share for 2003 because this
would require us to forecast net realized investment gains and
losses, which are included in GAAP net income but excluded
from operating income. We are unable to reasonably estimate
future net realized investment gains and losses because they are
unpredictable and not necessarily indicative of our current
operating fundamentals or our future performance. In addition,
in many instances, decisions to buy and sell securities are made
for reasons unrelated to our insirance and reinsurance businesses
and are made at the holding company level in part due to credit
concerns or overall changes in the fixed income markets.

The statements made in this Business Outlook section are
forward-looking. Our actual results may differ materially from

‘our current expectations as a result of the factors described in

the cautionary statements accompanying the forward-looking
statements and other factors described in the Cautionary
Statements on page 48. Also, see the Business — Risk Factors
described in our 2002 Form 10-K. _

Please see our earnings release dated February 5, 2003,
which is available on our website at www.pmacapital.com for
information regarding the status of this business outlook.

Recent Deve}lopments

On February 25, 2003, A.M. Best announced that it was
lowering the insurance financial strength rating of PMA
Capital Insurance Company from A (“Excellent” - 3rd of 16)
to A- (“Excellent” — 4th of 16), with their outlook moved
from negative to stable. The current financial strength rating

. of A- (“Excellent” — 4th of 16) of the domestic insurance

companies within The PMA Insurance Group was affirmed
with a stable outlook.

On March 5, 2003, Moody’s Investors Service (“Moodys”)
announced that it lowered the senior debt rating of PMA
Capital Corporation to Bal (“Moderate” — 11th of 21) from
Baa3 ("Medium” — 10th of 21) and also lowered the insurance
financial strength rating of PMA Capital Insurance Company
to Baal (“Adequate” — 8th of 21) from A3 (“Good” - 7th
of 21). In addition, Moody’s affirmed the insurance financial
strength ratings of the members of The PMA Insurance Group

“at Baal (“Adequate” — 8th of 21). Moody’ has a negative out-

look on these ratings.
-On February 7, 2003, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services

~announced that it was not taking any ratings action in

response to our fourth quarter 2002 results. -
-See the Ratings discussion in our 2002 Form 10—K for
additional information.




PMA Re ‘ ‘
Summarized financial results of PMA Re are as follows: N
(doliar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Net premiums written “$ 639,038

Net premiums earned $ 551593 $340401 § 251,109
Net investment income 48,736 45,361 51,125
Operating revenues 680,249 385,762 302,234
-Losses and LAE 438228 . 297623 229925
Acquisition and
operating expenses 147,588 91,201 - 79,606
Total losses and expenses 585,827 388,824 - 309,531
Pre-tax aperating income (loss) $- 1342 $ (3062) § (7.297)
Combined ratio o 105.4% 1142% ~ 123.3%
Less: netinvestment income ratio  ° 8.8% 13.3% 20.4%
Operating ratio - 97.6% 100.9% 102.8%

PMA Re’s pre-tax operating income was $13.4 - million in
2002, compared to pre-tax operating losses of $3.1 million in
2001 and $7.3 million in 2000. PMA Re’s 2002 operating
results reflect improved underwriting results, partially offset

by a net charge of approximately $45 mullion pre-tax. This
charge primarily relates to strengthening of PMA Re’s loss
reserve position for prior accident years at year-end 2002

($64 million) to reflect our most current projection of the
ultimate results for these underwriting years. PMA Re’s 2002
results benefitted from better than expected cutrent accident
year business ($14 million), mainly property reinsurance, and

a net benefit of approximately $5 million recognized in the
fourth quarter primarily due to reductions in acquisition and
operating expenses, partially offset by costs associated with
ceding certain of its prior year loss development. Operating
results for 2001 include a pre-tax charge of approximately
$30 million relating to the effects of the losses caused by the
attack on the World Trade Center. Operating results for 2000
include a pre-tax charge of approximately $60 million relating
to the effects of higher than expected losses and LAE. For
additional Information, see the discussion under Losses and
Expenses on page 29 and the discussion under Impact on
2001 Results from the September 11th Terrorist Attack on the
World Trade Center on page 26. ‘ :

§ 360,604 § 261,505

PMA Capital

" Premiums -

PMA Re’s gross premiums written by business unit and major
lines of business are as follows:
(dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Business Unit:

Traditional - Treaty $ 382855 $ 171,318 $ 224,226

Finite Risk and Financial Products 252,413 244527 109,062

. Specialty — Treaty 92,088 34,180 50,971

Facultative . 49,331 26,566 10,564

Total : $ 776,787 476591 § 3943823
Major Lines of Business: '

Casualty $ 503642 266672 $ 268877

Property 247,273 206,940 123,393

" Qther!! ] 25,864 29719 2,553

Total $ 775,787 $ 476591 $ 394,823

(1) Primarily aviation, ocean marine and acident in 2002,

PMA Re’s net premiums written by business unit and major
lines of business are as follows:
(dollar amounts in thousands) : 2002 2001 2000

Business Unit: ‘
$ 134,724

" Traditional - Treaty . $ 314372 $115814
Finite Risk and Financial Products 230,720 209,939 89,254
Specialty — Treaty 75,871 26,252 34,062
Facultative 18,576 8,539 3,465
Total , $ 639,039 $ 360,604 $ 261505
Major Lines of Business:
Casualty ’ $ 395538 $ 186603 $ 157,887
Property 297,711 171,056 101,086
Otherl? , 24,730 2,945 2,532
Total i ’ - $ 639039 §$ 360,504 $ 261505

(1) Primarily aviation, ocean marine and accident in 2002,

Gross premiums written were $776.8 million, $476.6 million
and $394.8 million, and net premiums written were $639.0
million, $360.6 million and $261.5 million in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

Gross and net premiums written for 2002 include
additional premiums as a result of a change in estimate during
2002 of ultimate premiums written for prior years, including
$58.1 million and $44.2 million, respectively, of gross and net
premiums written and $39.9 million of net premiums earned
resulting from a second quarter revision in our estimate.
Because premiums from ceding companies are typically
reported on a delayed basis, we monitor and update, as appro-
priate, the estimated ultimate premiums written. During the
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued
g ! y

- second quarter of 2002, our periodic review of estimated
ultimate premiums writtén; comparing actual reported
premiums to originally estimated premiums based on ceding
company estimates, indicated that premiums written in recent
. years, primarily for 2001 and 2000 in the Traditional- and
Specialty-Treaty units, were higher than originally estimated.

This increase in net premiums earned in 2002 was cornpletely '

offset by losses and LAE, and acquisition expenses.

- In 2001, gross and net premiums written include approx1— o

mately $25 million of premiums (mainly property premiums
in the Finite Risk and Financial Products unit) due under
*'contractual provisions of certain of PMA Re’s assumed busi-
. ness where additional preraiums were due to us becausé of the
 cession of World Trade Center losses to us by our reinsureds.
These additional premiums were more than offset by approxi-
mately $30 million of ceded premiums payable by PMA Re
to its retrocessionaires because PMA Re ceded a portion of its
World Trade Center gross losses to these retrocessionaires. In
2000, net premiums written were reduced by ceded premiums
of $52.1 million on existing retrocessional contracts covermg
higher than expected losses and LAE in 2000.
Excluding the effects, as discussed above, of the change in

our estimate of ultimate premiums written m 2002; the attack -

on the World Trade Center in 2001 and the additional ceded
~ premiums on existing retrocessional contracts covering l'ugher
than erected losses and LAE in 2000:

> Gross prermums written increased approximately $267 mil- -

lion, or 59%, in 2002, compared to 2001, reflecting higher
premiums in all of our business units. We have been able
to obtain significant price increases and improved terms
- . and conditions on business written across all underwriting

units in 2002. Por example, the Traditional- and Specialty-
Treaty units, which. comprise 61% of 2002 gross premiums
written, experienced rate increases, as measured by the level

" of premiuin increase on renewed in-force business, of '
approximately 35%. Additionally, gross premiums written
increased in 2002, compared to 2001, due to PMA Re’s
increased writings of aviation, ocean marine and accident
reinsurance business (included in Other in the tables on

. page 27) due to significantly improved market conditions
in these lines. . ‘
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Gross premiums written increased approximately $57
million, or 14%, in 2001, compared to 2000. In addition
to rate increases on business written in 2001, the increase
in gross and net written premiums in 2001, compared
to 2000, reflects higher premium volume for both property
and casualty coverages written by the Finite Risk and
Financial Products unit due primarily to increased demand
for these coverages. Partially offsetting premium growth
in 2001 was lower premium volume from PMA Re’s
Specialty~ and Traditional-Treaty units, which primarily
write casualty lines of business. During 2001, approximately
35% of the beginning in-force business for the Traditional-

" .and Specialty—Treaty units was non-renewed, largely

reflecting non-renewal of accounts that did not meet our
pricing guidelines. Despite the full year decline in writings
for PMA Re’ Traditional and Specialty treaty coverages,
the environment for writing these coverages on acceptable
terms became increaéjngly more favorable as 2001

. progressed due to significant price increases and better

contract terms and conditions. This resulted in an increase”
in premiums written for the Traditional and Specialty

", treaty coverages for the second half of 2001, compared

with the first half of the year. This increase continued into

.2002 as discussed above.

Ceded premiums increased by approximately $38 million
in 2002, compared to 2001, and increased $5 million in
2001, compared to 2000. The increase in ceded premiums
primarily reflects the increase in gross premiums written
and an increase in premiums charged by retrocessionaires.

Net premiums written increased approximately 63% in o x
2002 and 17% in 2001, mainly reflecting the trends dis-
cussed above for gross premiums written. Net premiums
earned increased by approximately 48% in 2002 and 14%
in 2001, cornpared to the immediately preceding year. '
Traditionally, trends in net premiums earned follow pat-
terns similar to net premiums written. Generally, in periods
of premium growth, the increase in net premiums written
will-be greater than the increase in.net premiums earned,
as was the case in 2002 and 2001. Premiums are earned
principally ‘on a pro rata basis over the coverage periods

of the underlying policies. However, with respect to -

_ policies that provide for premium adjustments, such as
. experience-rated or exposure-based adjustments, such’

premium adjustments may be made subsequent to the’
end of the pohcy s coverage period and will be recorded

“as earned premium in the perlod in which the adjustment

is made.



Losses and Expenses
The components of the GAAP combined ratios are as follows:

' 2002 2001 2000
Loss and LAE ratio 786% = 87.4% 91.6%
Expense ratio:
" Acquisition expenses 24.3% 209% - 26.1%
Operating expenses 2.5% -5.9% 5.6%
Total expense ratio ‘ 26.8% 26.8% 31.7%
" Combined ratio 108.4% 1142% - 123.3%

PMA Re’ loss and LAE ratio for 2002 reflects a $50 million
increase in net loss reserves in the fourth quarter of 2002 due
to higher than expected losses and LAE in certain lines of
business. In the fourth quarter, PMA Re’ actuarial department
conducted its routine year-end reserve study to determine the
impact of any emerging data on anticipated loss development
trends and recorded unpaid losses and LAE reserves. During
the fourth quarter, our actuaries noticed a higher than expected
increase in the level of reported losses by our ceding compa-
nies. Based on the actuarial work performed, ‘which included
analyzing recent trends in the levels of the reported and paid
claims using various loss projection techniques, an updated
selection of actuarially determined loss reserve estimates was
developed by accident year for each major line of business
written by PMA Re. Management’s selection of the ultimate
losses indicated that gross loss and LAE reserves needed to

be increased by approximately $72 mullion in the fourth
quarter, due to an $86 million increase in gross loss and LAE
reserves, primarily for excess of loss and pro rata general
liability occurrence contracts ($54 million) and, to a lesser-
extent, excess of loss general lability claims-made contracts
(813 million), from accident years 1998, 1999 and 2000.
Under existing retrocessional contracts, approximately $22
million of the higher than expected losses were ceded to
PMA Re% retrocessionaires, reducing the net impact of prior
year development to approximately $64 million. Partially
offsetting the prior year development was a $14 million
decrease in reserves for full year 2002 accident year business,
mainly property reinsurance, reflecting better than expected
underwriting results.

The $64 million of higher than expected losses and
LAE for prior accident years recorded in the fourth quarter
contributed approximately 12 points to the loss and LAE ratio
and to the combined ratio for 2002. In 2001, PMA Re’ loss -
and LAE ratio and combined ratio included approximately
9 points due to the unfavorable loss activity related to the
attack on the World Trade Center. Absent these items, the
improvement in underwriting results in 2002, compared
to 2001, reflects the continued strong current year pricing
environment, along with tighter terms and conditions, which
resulted in us achieving more premium per unit of exposure

"in all segments of our reinsurance business.

PMA Re’s loss and LAE ratio for 2000 reflected the ‘
recognition in the third quarter of 2000 of the effects of higher

- than expected losses and LAE in certain lines of business,

primarily coverages for 1998 and 1999 written: on a pro rata
basis, partially offset by lower than expected losses and LAE
for treaties covering losses occurring in accident years 1996

. and prior. The increase in the estimate of gross loss and LAE

reserves of $83 million primarily reflected higher than expected
losses. mainly in our pro rata business. The concentration of
estimated adverse loss development related primarily to gener-
al hability treaties written on a claims made basis covering
losses in 1998 and 1999, property treaties covering 1999 losses
and, to a lesser extent, commercial automobile liability treaties
covering losses in 1998 and 1999. In addition, the reserve
increase reflects unfavorable prior year loss reserve develop-
ment in the excess of loss general liability line for accident
years 1998 and 1999. Under existing retrocessional contracts,
$60 million of gross losses were ceded to PMA Re’s retroces-
sionaires, reducing the impact on net incurred losses and LAE

* to $23 million. The increase in net incurred losses and LAE,

combined with $35 million of ceded premiums and interest
on funds held under existing retrocessional contracts covering
the ceded losses, resulted in a pre-tax charge of approximately
$60 million to PMA Re’s operating results in 2000.

For additional information about PMA R’ loss reserves,
see page 34 and Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial

Statements. For additional information, see Impact on 2001

Results from the September 11th Terrorist Attack on the
World Trade Center on page 26.

Net premiums earned, which are used in calculating the
compornents of the expense ratio, were positively impacted by
the change in our estimate of ultimate premiums written in
2002 and negatively impacted by the attack on the World Trade

P



PMA Capital

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

" Center in 2001 and the higher than expected losses in 2000
discussed above. Excluding the effect of these items from the
calculadons of our acquisition and operating expense ratios:

o The acquisition expense ratio increased 3.9 points and the .

operating expense ratio decreased 3.2 points in 2002,
compared to 2001. The increase in the acquisition expense
ratio is primarily due to lower ceding commissions
received by PMA Re on our retrocessional programs and
a shift towards pro rata reinsurance business in the Finite
Risk and Financial Products business unit, which generally
has higher acquisition expense ratios and lower loss ratios
than excess of loss business. The improvement in the .
operating expense ratio is primarily due to growth in our
net premiums earned, combined with a lower level of
operating expenses in 2002 compared to 2001. The lower
operating expenses are primarily due to improved results
related to our participation in a Lloyd’s of London syndi-
cate and managing general agency.

o The acquisition expense ratio decreased 1.0 point and the
' operating expense ratio increased 1.1 points for 2001,
" compared to 2000. The lower acquisition expense ratio
is primarily due to the shift in business towards excess of
loss Finite Risk and Financial Products business, which
generates a lower acquisition expense ratio than traditional

treaty business. The increase in the operating expense ratio

is due to operating expenses growing at a faster rate than
-earned premiums in 2001, which reflects net results related
to our participation in a Lloyd’s of London syndicate and
managing general agency. ‘

Net Investment Income

Net investment income was. $48.7 million, $45.4 million and ‘

$51.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
increase in 2002, compared to 2001, reflects higher interest
earned of $9.7 million on funds held arrangements.In a funds

held arrangement, the ceding company holds onto the premi-

ums and losses are offset against these funds in an experience
account. Because the reinsurer is not in receipt of the funds,
the reinsurer earns interest on the experience fund balance at

- a predetermined credited rate of interest. The higher interest
on funds held in 2002 was partially offset by lower investment
earnings of $6.4 million on the invested asset portfolio. The
lower investment earnings resulted from a drop in yields of
approximately 100 basis points on an average invested asset
base that increased approximately 5% during 2002.The
decrease in net investment income in 2001, compared to
2000, is primarily due to lower investment yields.
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The PMA Insurance Group

Summarized financial results of The PMA Insurance Group
are as follows:
(dollar amounts in thousands) : : 2002 2001 2000

$ 452276 § 355547 S 268,839
Net premiums earned . $ 410,265 $ 346574 §$ 252,348
Net investment income 35,613 39,444 47,969
Other revenues 14,6%4 11,240 10,099
460,573 397,268 310416
307,734 258,933 189,001
119,806 101,080 80,959

Net premiums written

Operating revenues

Losses and LAE
Acquisition and operating expenses

Dividends to policyholders 7,587 14,087 18,855
Total losses and expenses 435,227 374110 288815
Pre-tax operating income $ 25346 $§ 23148 § 21601
Combined ratio ) 103.2% 105.5% 111.7%
Less: net investment income ratio 8.7% 11.4% 19.0%
Operating ratio : 94.5% 94.1% 92.7%

Pre-tax operating income for The PMA Insurance Group
improved to $25.3 million in 2002, compared to $23.1 million
in 2001 and $21.6 million in 2000.The 10% and 7% increases
in operating income were primarily due to improved under-

_writing results reflecting improved pricing and rate adequacy,

partially offset by lower net investment income.

Premiums
The PMA Insurance Group’s premiums written are as follows:
{dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Workers" eompensation and
integrated disability: )
Direct premiums written . $ 397,639 $ 315611 $ 246,617
Premiums assumed 13,338 6,331 3,620
Premiums ceded (37,624) (29771)  (39,367)

$ 373383  $292171 § 210870

Net premiums written

Commercial Lines:
Direct premiums written $ 102318 § 92107 § 83381
Premiums assumed 1437 - 2646 1,848
Premiums ceded {25.432) (31,377)  (27,260)

LW.E% $ 63376 $ 57,969

Net premiums-written

Total: ‘
Direct premiums written © $ 500557 $ 407,718 $ 329,998
Premiums assumed 14,775 8,977 5,468

Premiums ceded - (53,058)  (61,148)  (66,627)

. $ 452,276 § 355547 § 268,839

Net premiums written




Direct workers’ compensation and integrated disability
premiums written increased 26% in 2002 and 28% in 2001,
compared to the immediately preceding year, primarily due
to price increases of approximately 17% and 14% on workers’
compensation business and, to a lesser extent, an increase in
the volume of risks underwritten for the workers’ compensa-
tion and integrated disability lines of business. In recent years,’
The PMA Insurance Group increased its writings of workers’
‘compensation premiums through focused marketing efforts in
its principal marketing territories covering the eastern part of
the United States. It has also increased the level of business
written for Insureds operating primarily in one of The PMA
Insurance Group’s principal marketing territories but with
some operations in other states.

For workers’ compensation coverages, the premium -
charged on fixed-cost policies is primarily based upon the

. manual rates filed with the state insurance department. Manual
rates in The PMA Insurance Group’s principal marketing
territories for workers’ compensation increased on average
approximately 13% in 2002, 10% in 2001 and 8% in 2000.
These increases in manual rates generally reflect the effects
of higher average medical and indemnity costs in recent
years. Manual rate changes directly affect the prices that
The PMA Insurance Group can charge for its rate sensitive
workers’ compensation products, which include fixed cost
and dividend policies that comprise approximately 58% of
workers’ compensation premium for 2002.

Direct writings of commercial lines of business other
than workers’ compensation, such as commercial auto, general
liability, umbrella, multi-peril and commercial property lines
(collectively, “Commercial Lines”), increased by $10.8 million
and $8.7 million in 2002 and 2001, compared to the immedi-
ately preceding year, primarily due to weighted average
annual rate increases of approximately 28% in 2002 and 2001
for commercial auto, general liability and commercial multi-
peril lines. .

Premiums ceded increased $1.9 million in 2002, com-
pared to 2001 and decreased $5.5 million in 2001, compared
to 2000. Premiums ceded for workers’ compensation and
integrated disability increased by $7.9 million in 2002 as
a result of the increase in direct premiums written as well
as higher rates being charged by reinsurers. Premiums ceded
for Comumercial Lines were lower by $5.9 million in 2002,
primarily as a result of higher retentions in the Commercial
Lines’ reinsurance programs. The change in premiums ceded
in 2001, compared to 2000, reflects a decrease of §9.6 million
in premiums ceded for workers’ compensation, partially
offset by an increase of $4.1 million in premiums ceded for
Commercial Lines in 2001, compared to 2000. Premiums
ceded for workers’ compensation decreased despite the growth.

‘The increase in 2002, compared to 2001, 1s primarily due to

in gross premiums written for workers’ compensation because
The PMA Insurance Group increased its net retention by
adding a deductible limit of approximately $10 million on

its workers’ compensation reinsurance program, effective
January 1, 2001. The increase in premiums ceded for
Commercial Lines 1s primarily due to the increase in direct
premiums written for these products.

Net prermums written increased 27% in 2002 and 32%
in 2001, compared to the immediately preceding year, mainly
reflecting the trends discussed above for direct premiums
written. Net premiums earned increased 18% in 2002 and
37% in 2001. Generally, trends in net premiums earned follow
patterns similar to net premiums written adjusted for the
customary lag related to the timing of premium writings
within the year. Direct premiums are earned principally on
a pro rata basis over the terms of the policies. However, with
respect to policies that provide for premium adjustments,
such as experience-rated or exposure-based adjustments, such
premium adjustment may be made subsequent to the end
of the policy’s coverage period and will be recorded as earned
premium in the period in which the adjustment is made.

Losses and Expenses
The components of the GAAP combined ratios are as follows:
‘ 2002 2001 2000

Loss and LAE ratio 75.0% 74.7% 74.9%

Expense ratio:

Acquisition expenses 17.5% 176% 18.4% .
Operating expensest!! 8.8% 9.1% 10.9%
Total expense ratio ’ 28.4% 26.7% 29.3%
Policyholders’ dividend ratio 1.8% 41% 1.5%
- Combined ratio! ' 103.2%  1055%  111.7%

(1} The expense ratic and the combined ratio exclude §11.3 million, §8.8 million and 7.0 mil-
lion in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, for direct expenses related to loss adjusting services
and risk control fees included in other revenues, which are not included in premiuins eamed.

The loss and LAE ratio increased slightly in 2002, compared
to 2001, and improved slightly in 2001, compared to 2000.

a higher current accident year loss and LAE ratio, partially
offset by lower unfavorable prior year development and the
favorable impact of net discount accretion. The improvement
in 2001, compared to 2000, is primarily due to an improved
current accident year loss ratio and the favorable impact of net
discount accretion, partially offset by the unfavorable impact
of changes in prior year development.

3




Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

The current accident year loss and LAE ratio increased
by 1.0 point in 2002, compared to 2001, primarily due to
increased reinsurance costs and higher workers’ compensation
loss trends, partially offset by price increases. Medical cost
inflation continues in the 8% range, which has primarily
contributed to increased severity of workers’ compensation
losses. The PMA Insurance Group continues its efforts to
try to mitigate medical cost inflation primarily through its
affiliation with a national preferred provider organization,
an extensive medical review process and utilization of nurses,
Wwhere appropriate. As discussed below, lower policyholder
dividends are also used as a means to improve a policy’s overall
profitability. '

The current accident year loss and LAE ratio improved
by 1.7 points in 2001, compared to 2000, primarily reflecting
price increases in workers’ compensation and integrated
disability lines of business. The reduction in the loss and LAE
ratios for workers’ compensation and integrated disability in
2001 also reflected a decline in claims frequency for workers™
compensation business.

The PMA Insurance Cyroup experienced $1.1 million
and $2.9 million of unfavorable prior year development in
2002 and 2001, respectively, compared to favorable prior year
development of $6.1 million in 2000. The lower unfavorable
prior year development reduced the loss and LAE ratio by
0.5 points in 2002, compared to 2001. The change in prior
year development unfavorably impacted the loss and LAE
ratio by 3.2 points in 2001, compared to 2000. The unfavor-
able prior year development in 2002 and 2001 primarily
reflects higher than expected claims handling costs. The favor-
able prior year development in 2000 primarily reflects better
than expected loss experience from loss-sensitive and rent-a-
captive workers’ compensation business. Premium adjustments
for loss-sensitive business and policyholders’ dividends for
rent-a~captive business offset this favorable development.
Rent-a-captives are used by customers as an alternative method
to manage their loss exposure without establishing and capital-
izing their own captive insurance company. '

The loss and LAE ratio is negatively impacted by accre-
tion of discount on prior year reserves and favorably impacted
by the recording of discount for current year reserves. The net
of these amounts is referred to as net discount accretion. The
recording of discount essentally offset the accretion of discount
on prior year reserves for 2002 and 2001, and resulted in a
favorable impact to the loss and LAE ratio of 0.2 points year
over year. The accretion of discount on prior year reserves
exceeded the recording of discount for 2000. The change in
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‘Total losses and expenses

net discount accretion in 2001, compared to 2000, favorably
impacted the loss and LAE ratio by 1.7 points. The lower
accretion of discount in 2001, compared to 2000, primarily
reflects the transfer of substantially all of the assets and
liabilities, including discounted loss reserves, of The PMA
Insurance Group’s run-off operations to a third party under
an assumption reinsurance agreement effective December 31,

- 2000. See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for additional information.

For additional information regarding The PMA Insurance
Group’s loss reserves, see page 34.

The expense ratio improved by 0.3 points in 2002 and by
2.6 points in 2001, compared to the immediately preceding
year, as premium growth outpaced the increase in expenses.

‘The policyholders” dividend ratio was 1.8%, 4.1% and
7.5% in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Under policies
that are subject to dividend plans, the customer may receive
a dividend based upon loss experience during the policy
period. The improvements in the policyholders’ dividend ratio
occurred primarily because The PMA Insurance Group sold
less business under dividend plans and wrote business under
lower paying dividend plans, Lower dividend payments are
effectively another form of price inctease that contribute to

the overall profitability of our workers’ compensation business.

Net Investment Income

Net investment income was $3.8 million lower in 2002 and
$8.5 million lower in 2001, compared to the immediately pre-
ceding year. The decline in 2002, compared to 2001, primarily
reflects a reduction in invested asset yields of approximately

50 basis points. The decline in 2001, compared to 2000, reflects.
a lower invested asset base due to the transfer of substantially
all of the assets and labilities of The PMA Insurance Group’s
run-off operations to a third party effective December 31,
2000 under an assumption reinsurance agreement.

Run-off Operations

Summarized financial results of the Run-off Operations, for-
merly known as Caliber One, are as follows:

_{dollar amounts in thousands} 2002 2001 2000

-~ Net preniiums written $ 14553 $ 53674 $ 16,043
Net premiums earned $ 3013 $ 46232 $§ 28,799
Net investmient income 40 3128 442
Operating revenues ‘ 31,253 49,356 33,223
Losses and LAE 76,585 60,207 30,462

Acquisition and operating expenses 42,058 15,317 9,775
118,754 75,524 40,237
$ (87.501) $ (26,168) § (7,014)

Pre-tax operating Idss




In May 2002, we announced our decision to withdraw

from the excess and surplus lines marketplace previously
served by the Caliber One operating segment. On January 2,
2003, we completed the sale of the capital stock of Caliber
One Indemnity Company and received gross proceeds of
approximately $31 million, representing $3.5 million plus sur-
plus of approximately $27 million. Pursuant to the agreement
of sale, we have retained all assets and liabilides related to the
in-force policies and outstanding claim obligations relating

to Caliber One’s business written prior to closing. The
transaction is not expected to have a material effect on our
financial condition and results of operations. As a result of our
decision to exit this business, the results of this segment are
reported as Run-off Operations.

In 2002, the Run-off Operations recorded pre-tax
operating losses of $87.5 million. As a result of our decision to
exit from and run off this business, the Run-off Operations -
recorded a charge of $43 million pre-tax. Components of the
charge include expenses associated with the recognition of
liabilities of approximately $27 million, including reinsurance
costs of approximately $19 million, long-term lease costs of
approximately $4 million and involuntary employee termina-
tion benefits of approximately $3 million. In addition, the
$43 million charge includes approximately $16 million to
write-down assets to their estimated net realizable value,
includirig approximately $9 million for reinsurance, premiums
and other receivables and non-cash charges of approximately
$6 million for leasehold improvements and other fixed assets
and $1.3 million for goodwill. The charge was included in
Operating expenses (approximately $24 million) and Net
premiumns earned (approximately $19 million) in the
Statement of Operations in 2002. :

During 2002, approximately 80 employees were termi-
nated in accordance with our exit plan. All of the terminated
employees worked for Caliber One, primarily in the under-
writing area. Approximately 17 positions, primarily claims,
remain after the terminations. Involuntary employee termina-
tion benefits of $1.9 million were paid during 2002. The
remainder will be paid in 2003.

Pre-tax operating results for 2002 also include net
unfavorable prior year loss development of approximately
$52 million. During 2002, company actuaries conducted
reserve reviews to determine the impact of any emerging
data on anticipated loss development trends and recorded
unpaid losses and LAF reserves. Based on the actuarial work

performed, which included analyzing recent trends in the levels
of the reported and paid claims, an updated range of actuariaily
determined loss reserve estimates was developed by accident
year for each major line of business written by this segment.
Management’s selection of the ultimate losses resulting from
their reviews indicated that net loss reserves for prior accident
years, mainly 1999 and 2000, needed to be increased by ,
approximately $52 million, net of $12 million of ceded losses.
This unfavorable prior year development reflects the impact

of higher than expected claim severity and, to a lesser extent,
frequency, that emerged in 2002 on casualty lines of business,
primarily professional liability policies for the nursing homes
class of business; general liability, including policies covering
contractors’ liability for construction defects; and commercial

" automobile, mainly for accident years 1999 and 2000.

The Run-off Operations recorded a pre-tax operating
loss of $26.2 million and $7.0 million for 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The results for 2001 include net unfavorable prior

yyear development of $22.2 million, which is net of losses of

approximately $26 million ceded to third party reinsurers
under existing reinsurance contracts. These losses primarily
reflect higher than expected claim frequency and severity that
emerged in 2001 on certain casualty lines of business, primarily
professional liability policies for the nursing homes class of
business and, to a lesser extent, property lines of business. As

a result of its reserve reviews conducted in 2001, the Run-off
Operations revised its estimate of ultimate expected claim
activity and, accordingly, increased its estimate of ultimate
losses, substantially all for accident years 1999 and 2000.

- Operating results for the Run-off Operations for 2000
reflect higher than expected losses and LAE in certain segments
of the professional liability (nursing homes), commercial
automobile, general liability and property lines of business for
coverage of 1999 and 2000 exposures. The loss and LAE ratio
for 2000 also reflects the ceding of a substantial amount of losses
and LAE from the professional liability and commercial
automobile lines of business to reinsurers. For additional infor-
mation regarding loss reserves, see Loss Reserves on page 34.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Loss Reserves and Reinsurance

Loss Reserves

Our consolidated unpaid losses and LAE, net of reinsurance,
at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $1,184.3 million and
$1,143.1 million, net of discount of $103.8 million and $113.7
million, respectively. Included in the consolidated unpaid losses
and LAE are amounts related to our workers’ compensation
claims of $368.7 million and $363.5 million, net of discount
of $82.7 million and $91.0 million at December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively. The discount rate used was approximately
5% at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Unpaid losses and LAE reflect management’s best
estimate of future amounts needed to pay claims and related
settlement costs with respect to insured events which have
occurred, including events that have not been reported to
us. [n many cases, significant periods of time, ranging up to
several years or more, may elapse between the occurrence
of an insured loss, the reporting of the loss to us and our pay-
ment of that loss. In general, liabilities for reinsurers become
known more slowly than for primary insurers and are subject
to more unforeseen development and uncertainty. As part
of the process for determining our unpaid losses and LAE,
actuarial models are used that analyze historical data and
consider the impact of current developments and trends, such
as trends in claims severity and frequency and claims settle-
ment trends. Also considered are legal developments, regulato-
ry trends, legislative developments, changes in social attitudes
and economic conditions. See the discussion under Losses
and Expenses beginning on'page 29 and Run-oft Operations
beginning on page 32 for additional information regarding
higher than expected losses and LAE during the past three
years at PMA Re and the Fun-off Operations.

Management believes that its unpaid losses and LAE
are fairly stated at December 31, 2002. However, estimating
the ultimate claims liability is necessarily a complex and
judgmental process inasmuch as the amounts are based on
management’s informed estimates and judgments using data
currently available. As additional experience and data become
available regarding claims payment and reporting patterns,
legal and legislative developments, judicial theories of liability,
regulatory trends on benefit levels for both medical and
indemnity payments, changes in social attitudes and economic
conditions, the estimates are revised accordingly. If our ulti-

34

mate losses, net of reinsurance, prove to differ substantially
from the amounts recorded at December 31, 2002, the related

. adjustments could have a material adverse effect on our finan-

cial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, our gross reserves
for asbestos-related losses were $42.1 million, $59.9 million
and $49.2 million, respectively ($25.8 million, $28.6 million
and $32:0 million, net of reinsurance, respectively). At
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, our gross reserves for
environmental-related losses were $18.2 million, $29.6 million
and $29.5 million, respectively ($14.3 million, $16.0 million
and $18.0 million, net of reinsurance, respectively).

Estimating reserves for asbestos and environmental
exposures continues to be difficult because of several factors,
including: (i) evolving methodologies for the estimation of the
liabilities; (ii) lack of reliable historical claim data; (iii) uncer-
tainties with respect to insurance and reinsurance coverage
related to these obligations; (iv) changing judicial interpreta-
tons; and (v) changing government standards. Management
believes that its reserves for asbestos and environmental claims
are appropriately established based upon known facts, existing
case law and generally accepted actuarial methodologies. '
However, due to changing interpretations by courts involving
coverage issues, the potential for changes in federal and state
standards for clean-up and liability, as well as issues involving
policy provisions, allocation of liability and damages among
participating insurers, and proof of coverage, our ultimate
exposure for these claims may vary significanty from the
amounts curtently recorded, resulting in a potential future
adjustment that could be material to our financial condition
and results of operations. . o :

See Critical Accounting Estimates — Unpaid Losses and
Loss Adjustment Expenses on page 45 for additional informa-

© ton. In addition, see the Cautionary Statements on page 48

and Business — Risk Factors in our 2002 Form 10-K for a.
discussion of factors that may adversely impact our losses and
LAE in the future.




Reinsurance

Under our reinsurance and retrocessional coverages in place .
during 2002, 2001 and 2000, we ceded earned premiums
totaling $300.6 million, $243.4 million and $278.6 million,
and we ceded losses and LAE of $223.2 million, $359.6
million and $308.8 million to reinsurers and retrocessionaires.
The increase in ceded losses in 2001, compared to 2000, is
primarily related to losses from the attack on the World Trade
Center. See Impact on 2001 Results from the September 11th
Terrorist Attack on the World Trade Center on page 26 for
additional information. -

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we had amounts
receivable from our reinsurers and retrocessionaires totaling
- $1,295.1 million and $1,210.8 million; respectively.

Approximately $37 million and $36 million, or 3% of these

amounts are due to us on losses we have already paid at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, The remainder of the reinsur—
ance receivables relate to unpaid claims. ‘

At December 31, 2002, we had reinsurance receivables
due from the following unaffiliated reinsurers in excess of
5% of our Shareholders’ equity:

Reinsurance

(dollar amounts-in thousands) Receivables Collateral

The London Reinsurance Group

and Affiliates(" $ 421,415 $ 351,47

St. Paul and Affiliates® 157,196 153,211

Underwriters Re 101,500 101,500
Houston Casualty 97,050 —
PXRE 53,520 37,681

PartnerRe 39,781 —
Folksamerica Re 36,157 —
Berkley insurance Company 35,985 —

(1) Includes Trabaja Reinsurance Company {8369.7 million), London Life & General
Reinsurance Company (850.7 willion) and London Life & Casualty Reinsurance
Corporation ($1.0 million).

(2) Includes United States Fidelity & Guaranty Insurance Company ($106.4 million) and
AMountain Redge Insurance Company (§50.8 million).

We perform credit reviews of our reinsurers focusing on,
among other things, financial capacity, stability, trends and com-
mitment to the reinsurance business. Prospective and existing
reinsurers failing to meet our standards are excluded from our
reinsurance programs. In addition, we require collateral, typically
assets in trust, letters of credit or funds withheld, to support
balances due from certain reinsurers, consisting generally of
those not authorized to transact business in the applicable
jurisdictions. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, our reinsurance
receivables were supported by $666.9 million and $626.9

million of collateral. Of the uncollateralized reinsurance receiv-
ables at December 31, 2002, approximately 91%, were due
from reinsurers rated “A-" or better by A.M. Best and is broken
down as follows: “A++" — 5%;“A+" — 37%;“A” — 35% and
“A=" — 14%.We believe that the amounts receivable from
reinsurers are fully collectible and that the valuaton allowance
is adequate to cover any disputes about amounts owed by rein-
surers to us. In the last three years combined, we have written
off approximately $4 million of reinsurance receivables, sub-
stantally all from the Run-off Operations in 2002. The timing
and collectibility of reinsurance receivables have not had, and
are not expected to have, a material adverse effect on our
liquidity. See Critical Accounting Estimates — R einsurance
Reeceivables on page 46 and Note 5 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information.

At December 31,2002, our reinsurance and retrocessional
protection for major lines of business that we write was as
follows:

Retention Limits {1}
PMA Re
Per Occurrence:
Casualty lines $ 5.0 million $ 45.0 miliion
Property lines $10.0 million $ 40.0 million
Per Risk; ,
Property lines $ 1.0 million $ 4.0 million
Casualty lines $ 1.5million  $ 6.0million
The PMA Insurance Group
Per Occurrence:
Waorkers’ compensation $ 250,000  $104.8 million
Per Risk:
Property lines® $ 500000  $ 19.5million
Auto physical damage $ 500000 $ 25miliion
Other casualty lines™® $ 500,000

$ 4.5million

(1} Represents the amount of loss protection above our level of loss retention.

(2) The PMA Insurance Group retains the first $3 million of losses.

(3)  This coverage also provides protection of §41.5 million per occurrence over the combined net
retention of $500,000.

(4) This coverage also provides protection of 859.5 million per occurrence over the combined net
retention of $500,000. )

(5) Effective January 1, 2003, the retention and limits were changed 10 §1.5 million and 83.5
million, respectively. The coverage also provides protection of $48.5 million over the combined
net reterition of §1.5 million.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

PMA Capital

In addition to the reinsurance and retrocessional protec-
tions shown in the table above, for 2002 we had excess of loss
retrocessional protection that allows us to cede losses up to
a limit of $150 million once our loss and LAE ratio exceeds
a predetermined level. This policy includes protection for losses
caused by terrorist activities. In January 2002, the Company
supplemented its reinsurance and retrocessional programs
with coverage for adverse loss development on certain lines of

. business written prior to 2002.The program provides coverage

of up to $125 million in losses in return for $55 million,
which the Company funded in 2002. Cessions of losses under
these contracts may require the Company to cede additional

" premiums ranging from 40% to 50% of ceded losses depend-

ing on the level of such losses. For additional information
regarding our reinsurance arrangements with Trabaja, see
Business — Reinsurance and Retrocessional Protection in our
2002 Form 10-K. ) ‘ :

PMA Re and The PMA Insurance Group do not write
a significant amount of natural catastrophe exposed business
in their traditional underwriting units. Excluding PMA Re’s
Finite Risk and Financial Products writings, less than 1% of
gross written premiums is for property catastrophe coverage.
The Finite Risk and Financial Products unit wrote $35
million in premiums for property catastrophe coverage in
2002. However, these contracts generally provide for addi- .
tional premiums payable to PMA Re to mitigate the severity:
of the catastrophe loss to PMA Re. We actively manage our
exposure to catastrophes through our underwriting process,
where we generally monitor the accumulation of insurable
values in catastrophe-prone regions. Also, in writing property
reinsurance coverages, PMA Re typically requires pér ]
occurrence loss limitations for contracts that could have catas-
trophe exposure. Through per risk reinsurance, we manage
our net retention in each exposure. PMA Re’s property per,
occurrence reinsurance provides catastrophe protection of
$40.0 million in excess of $10.0 million on its traditional
property book and $12.5 million in excess of $5.0 million
for property exposures underwritten by its Finite Risk
and Financial Products unit. PMA Re can also recover an
additional $20.0 million of Traditional and/or Finite Risk and

.Financial Products occurrence losses under certain industry

loss scenarios. Certain of these contracts require that we cede
additional premiums of up to 20% of ceded losses depending
on the level of such losses. The PMA Insurance Group

maintains catastrophe reinsurance protection of 95% of $18.0

million excess of $2.0 million.

%

In 2002 and 2000, our loss and LAE ratios were not
significantly impacted by catastrophes. In 2001, our loss and
LAE ratios were impacted by the attack on the World Trade
Center as discussed on page 26. Although we believe that
we have adequate reinsurance to protect against the estimated
probable maximum gross loss from a catastrophe, an especially
severe catastrophe or series of catastrophes could exceed our
reinsurance and/or retrocessional protection and may have
a material adverse imp:ict on our financial condition, results
of operations and liquidity.

See Note 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional discussion.

Terrorism

On November 26, 2002, President Bush signed into law the
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 (“TRIA").TRIA
provides federal reinsurance protection for property and
casualty losses in the United States or to United States aircraft
or vessels arising from certified terrorist acts through the end
of 2005. For terrorist acts to be covered under TRIA, they
must be certified as such by the Secretary of the Treasury,

-Secretary of State and Attorney General and must be commit-

ted by individuals acting on behalf of a foreign person or
interest. TRIA contains a “make available” provision, which
requires insurers subject to the Act, to offer coverage for acts
of terrorism that does not differ materially from the terms
{other than price), amounts and other coverage limitations
offered to the policyholder for losses.from events other

than acts of terrorism. The “make available” provision permits
exclusions for certain types of losses, if a state permits
exclusions for such losses. TRIA requires insurers to retain
losses based on a percentage of their commercial lines direct
earned premiums for the prior year equal to a 7% deductible
for 2003, 10% for 2004 and 15% for 2005.The federal
government covers 90% of the losses above the deductible,
while a company retains 10% of the losses. TRIA contains
an annual limit of $100 billion of covered industry-wide
losses. TRIA applies to commercial lines of property and

‘casualty insurance, including workers’ compensation insurance,
“offered by The PMA Insurance Group, but does not apply

to reinsurance. The PMA Insurance Group would have a
deductible of approximately $35 million in 2003.

Because TRIA does not apply to assumed reinsurance
business, PMA Re is currently attempting to exclude coverage
of losses due to terrorist activity in our assumed reinsurance
contracts where underwriters determine that there is a
sigriiﬁcant risk of loss from terrorist activities. However,
because PMA Re’s clients may not accept a full terrorism

- exclusion in connection with business that it may still desire to




write without an exclusion, some or many of our reinsurance
contracts may not include a terrorism exclusion or only
include a limited exclusion. PMA Re has refined its under-
writing procedures to take into-account terrorism risk.

For the commercial insurance business other than work-
ers’ compensation offered by The PMA Insurance Group, in
general, TRIA voided all existing terrorism exclusions. Workers’
compensation insurers were not permitted to exclude terrorism
from coverage prior to the enactment of TRIA, and continue
to be subject to this prohibiton. Wheén underwriting existing
and new commercial insurance business, The PMA Insurance
Group considers the added potental risk of loss due to terrorist
activity, and this may lead it to decline to write or non-renew
certain business. Appropriate rates may be charged for terrorism
coverage, and as of February 28, 2003, The PMA Insurance
Group had adopted premium charges for workers’ compensa-
don insurance in all states except California, Massachusetts and
- Texas, where filings were still pending. The PMA Insurance

Group has refined its underwriting procedures to take into
account terrorism risks. o

Althbugh, as discussed above, we have refined our under-
writing processes to account for terrorism risks and TRIA
may mitigate the potential impacf of terrorism losses on our
results, because of TRIA’ uncertain application, the amount”
of terrorism losses that The PMA Insurance Group must retain
under TRIA and the fact that TRIA does not apply to, and
we do not have terrorism exclusions in all of our reinsurance
business, future terrorist attacks may result in losses that could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and liquidity. For additional informadon

regarding the underwriting criteria of our operating segments,

see Business — PMA Re, Underwriting and The PMA
Insurance Group, Underwriting in our 2002 Form 10-K.

Corporate and Other

The Corporate and Other segment includes unallocated
investment income and expenses, including debrt service, as -
well as the results of certain of our real estate properties. This
segment had pre-tax operating losses of $14.3 million, $6.3
million and $19.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
During 2001, we sold certain real estate properties for net
proceeds totaling $14.4 million, resulting in a pre-tax gain of
$9.8 million, which is recorded in other revenues. Absent the
gain on sale of real estate in' 2001, pre-tax operating results for
Corporate and Other improved in 2002 and 2001, compared
to the immediately preceding year, primarily due to declines
in interest expense of $3.3 million and $5.3 million during

2002 and 2001, respectively. The lower interest expense reflects

a lower average amount of debt outstanding and lower interest
rates throughout the years.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is a measure of an entity’s ability to secure sufficient
cash to meet its contractual obligations and operating needs.
At the holding company level, our primary sources of liquidity
are dividends from subsidiaries, net tax payments received
from subsidiaries and capital raising activities (both debt and

‘equity). We utilize cash to pay debt obligations, including

interest costs; dividends to shareholders; taxes to the federal
government; and corporate obligations. In addition, we utilize
cash resources to capitalize subsidiaries and to repurchase
shares of our common stock from time to time.

Our domestic insurance subsidiaries’ ability to pay
dividends to us is limited by the insurance laws and regulations
of Pennsylvania. All of our domestic insurance entities are
owned by PMA Capital Insurance Company (“PMACIC”).
As a result, dividends from The PMA Insurance Group’s
Pooled Companies may not be paid directly to PMA Capital
Corporation. Instead, only PMACIC, a Pennsylvania
domiciled company, may pay dividends directly to PMA
Capital Corporation. Approximately $58 million of dividends
are available to be paid by PMACIC to PMA Capital
Corporation in 2003 without the prior approval of the
Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioner. As of December 31,
2002, The PMA Insurance Group’s Pooled Companies can
pay up to $24.6 million in dividends to PMACIC during
2003. Dividends received in the past three years from sub-
sidiaries were $28.0 million, $29.6 million and $36.0 million
in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and represent approxi-
m'ately 50% of the maximum dividend capacity in each year.

Net tax payments received from subsidiaries were $12.0

" million, $2.4 million and $6.4 million in 2002, 2001 and

2000, respectively. .

In 2002 and 2001, we raised $244 million of capital
through two public capital markets transactions, In October
2002, we issued $86.25 million of 4.25% convertible senior
debentures (“Convertible Debt”) due September 30, 2022
from which we received net proceeds of approximately $83.7
million. We used the proceeds from this offering primarily
to increase the capital and surplus of our reinsurance and
insurance subsidiaries. See Note 6 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for addidonal information. In December
2001, we issued 9,775,000 shares of Class A Common stock,
for net proceeds of approximately $158 million. We used the
net proceeds from this issuance to contribute additional capital
to our reinsurance subsidiary and to repay $62.5 million of
our outstanding debt maturing at year-end 2001 under our

bank credit facility.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

At December 31, 2002, we had $65 million of outstanding
debt representing borrowings under our new credit facility
{“Credit Facility”), which was executed in September 2002
and replaced our existing bank facility that was scheduled to
mature at December 31, 2002. The proceeds from the Credit

Facility were used to repay the existing bank facility, which had ‘

$62.5 million outstanding. The Credit Facility will mature in
September 2003, or we may convert the outstanding principal
amount into a term loan maturing June 30, 2004, if we meet
certain financial performance targets. At December 31, 2002,
the interest rate on the utilized portion of the Credit Facility
was 3.6%, which equals the London InterBank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) plus 1.8%. The Credit Facility carries a facility fee
on any unutilized portion of 0.375% per annum. Effective
March 2003, we amended the Credit Facility to reduce it to .
$45 muillion in borrowing capacity and repaid $20 million. In
addition, the March 2003 amendment increased the interest
rate to LIBOR plus 2.125%. See Note 6 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information. '

During 2002, 2001 and. 2000, we incurred $3.:3 million,
$6.5 million and $11.9 million of interest expense, and $2.1
million, $7.1 million and $11.8 million was paid in each
respective year.

We maintain a committed facility of $50.0 million for
letters of credit (the “Letter of Credit Facility””), which we
utilize primarily for collateralizing reinsurance obligations of
our insurance subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2002, we had
$15.7 million outstanding in letters of credit under the Letter
of Credit Facility.

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, we paid dividends to
shareholders of $12.1 million, $9.0 million and $8.0 million,
respectively. The increase in dividends paid in 2002 is due to
the additional shares outstanding resulting from our December
2001 issuance of 9,775,000 shares of Class A Common stock.
Qur dividends to shareholders are restricted by certain of our
debt agreements. Under the most restrictive debt covenant,
PMA Capital would be able to pay dividends of approximately
$25 million in 2003.
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‘We repurchased 90,000 ‘shares, 299,000 shares and
989,000 shares of our Class A Common stock at a cost of
$1.7 million, $5.3 million and $18.4 million in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. Since the inception of our share repurchase
program, we have repurchased a total of approximately 3.9
million shares at a cost of $74.6 million. OQur remaining share
repurchase authorization at December 31, 2002 is $15.4
million. Decisions regarding share repurchases are subject to
prevailing market conditions and an evaluation of the costs
and benefits associated with alternative uses of capital.

In 2002 and 2001, we increased the capital and surplus
of our insurance subsidiaries through providing funds totaling
$73.5 million and $58.0 million, respectively.

In 2002 and 2001, we contributed $16.5 million and $9.0
million, respectively, to our qualified pension plan in order to
ensure that the plan assets were at least equal to our accumulated
benefit obligation at the end of each year. If plan assets were
not at least equal to our accumulated benefic obligation at the
end of any particular year, then the company would recognize
a reduction in Shareholders’ equity. In 2002, the Company was
not required to make any contribution to the pension plan
under the minimum funding requirements of the Employee
Retrement Income Security Act (“ERISA™) of 1974. We
made the contributions in 2002 and 2001 due to a significant
decline in the market value of our plan assets, stemming from
the broad market declines in the bond and equity markets over
the past three years. Our plan assets are composed of 65% fixed
maturities and 35% equities at December 31, 2002, and 45%
fixed maturides and 55% equikties at December 31, 2001. We
currently estimate that the pension plan’s assets will generate
a.9% long-term rate of return, which we believe is a reasonable
long-term rate of return, in part, because of the historical
performance of the broad financial markets. For example, for
the 20-year period from 1982 to 2002, the S&P 500 Index and
the Lehman Bond Aggregate Index have returned 14.0% and
9.8% on average. We believe that this is a reasonable period of
time over which to evaluate market returns as it approximates
the current duration of the pension plan’s habilities. Pension
plan funding is currently expected to be insignificant in 2003
assuming plan assets achieve the expected long-term rate of
return of 9% in 2003. If plan assets were to decline by 10%

-in 2003, then we would need to contribute approximately $6.4

million to our pension plan assets by year-end 2003 to ensure
that the plan assets remain at least equal to the accumulated



benefit obligation. However, no contribution is expected to

be required under ERISA in 2003. Pension expense in 2002,
2001 and 2000 was $3.0 million, $1.9 million and $686,000,
respectively. We currently expect that 2003 pension‘ costs

will increase by $1.0 million, or 33%, over 2002 costs due to
the continued amortization of unrecognized actuarial losses
primarily from lower than expected returns on plan assets over
the previous three years. : .

In addidon to the $45 million of debt scheduled to
mature in September 2003, we have contractual obligations to
pay $7.7 million in operating lease payments, net of sublease
rentals of $242,000 in 2003. QOur future commitments for
operating lease payments are $5.2 million in 2004, $4.2 million
in 2005 and $21.8 million thereafter, net of sublease rentals

of $1.5 million in 2004, $1.5 million in 2005 and $14.1 million

thereafter. Other than these future commitments, we have
$86.25 million of convertible debt due to mature in 2022.

We have provided guarantees of §7.0 million related to
loans on properties in which we have an interest. We have also
provided guarantees of $2.2 million related to an executive
loan program for officers of the Company with a financial
institution. The program expires on December 31, 2003, .

) Under the terms of the sale of one of our insurance
subsidiaries in 1998, we have agreed to indemnify the buyer,
up to a maximum of $15 million if the actual claim payments
in the aggregate exceed the estimated payments upon which
the loss reserves of the former subsidiary were established. If
the actual claim payments in the aggregate are less than the
estimated payments upon which the loss reserves have been
established, we will participate in such favorable loss reserve
development.

‘We believe that our available sources of funds will provide
sufficient liquidity to meet our short-term and long-term
obligations. However, because we depend primarily upon
dividends from our operating subsidiaries to meet our short-
term and long-term obligations, any event that has a material
adverse effect on the results of operations of our insurance
subsidiaries could affect our liquidity and ability to meet our

contractual obligatioris and operating needs. In addition, our

ability to refinance our existing debt obligations or raise addi-
tonal capital is dependent upon several factors, including condi-
tions with respect to both the equity and debt markets and the
ratings of any securities that we may issue as established by the
principal rating agencies. Our ability to refinance our outstand-
ing debt obligations, as well as the cost of such borrowings,
could be adversely affected by any future ratings downgrade.
See Business — Risk Factors in our 2002 Form 10-K for addi-

tional discussion.

We currently believe that the existing capital structure is
adequate for our current and near term needs, but we believe
that additional capital and longer-term capital would provide
better support for our growth objectives. Given our debt-to-
total capital ratio of 20%, we believe that we have the financial
flexdbility to provide the necessary capital and support to our
insurance businesses so that they are in position to participate
in what we believe will be a favorable property and casualty
insurance market in 2003. We continually monitor the capital
structure in light of developments in our businesses, and our
present assessment could change as we become aware of new
opportunities and challerigés in our businesses.

Investments

Our investment objectives are to (i) seek competitive after-tax
income and total return as appropriate, (i) maintain medium
to high investment grade asset quality and high marketability,
(iil) maintain maturity distribution commensurate with our
business objectives, (iv) provide portfolio flexibility for chang-
ing business and investment climates and (v) provide liquidity
to meet operating objectives. Qur investment strategy includes
guidelines for asset quality standards, asset allocations among
investment types and issuers, and other relevant criteria for our
portfolio. In addition, invested asset cash flows, both current
income and investment maturities, are structured after consid-
ering projected liability cash flows of loss reserve payouts using
actuarial models. Property and casualty claim demands are
somewhat unpredictable in nature and require liquidicy

from the underlying invested assets, which are structured to
emphasize current investment income to the extent consistent
with maintaining appropriate portfolio quality and diversity.
The liquidity requirements are met primarily through publicly
traded fixed maturites as well as operating cash flows and
short-term investments.

3



PMA Capital

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Our investments at December 31 were as follows:

w2 ‘ 2001

Our investment portfolio includes only fixed maturities, short-
term investments and cash. The portfolio is diversified and
does not contain any ‘signiﬁcant concentrations in single
issuers other than U.S. Treasury and agency obligations. Our
largest exposure to a single corporate issuer is $25 million, or
1% of total invested assets. In addition, we do not have a sig-
nificant concentration of our investments in any single indus-
try segment other than finance companies, which comprise
15% of invested assets at December 31, 2002. Included in this

_ industry segment are financial institutions, including the

financing subsidiaries of automotive manufacturers.
Substantially all of our investments are dollar denominated as
of December 31, 2002.

Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities in
the table above include collateralized mortgage obligations
(“CMOs”) of $181.2 million and $125.6 million carried at fair
value as of December 31, 2002 and 2001. CMO holdings are
concentrated in securities with limited prepayment, extension
and default risk, such as planned amortization class bonds.

7 As of December 31, 2002, the duration of our invest-
ments that support the insurance reserves was 2.6 years and

"(doltar amounts in millions) Fair Value Percent Fair Value Percent
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies $ 3294 18% $ 266.0 15%
States, political subdivisions and foreign government securities 111 1% 171 1%
Corporate debt securities o 6323 35% 599.0 34%
Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities 536.5 30% ) 543.2 30%
Total fixed maturities available for sale 1.529.3 84% 1,425.3 80%
Short-term investments ' 238.7 5% 350.0 20%
Total $1,828.6 180% $1,775.3 100%

the duration of our insurance reserves was 3.4 years. The
difference in the duration of our investments and our insur-
ance reserves reflects our decision to maintain a shorter asset
duration due to our ‘current expectation that interest rates
will rise throughout 2003.

We determine the market value of each fixed income
security using prices obtained in the public markets. There is
only one security, which was carried at its fair value of $14.6
million at December 31, 2002, whose fair value is not reliably
determined from these public market sources. For this security,
we utilized the services of our outside professional investment
asset manager to determine the fair value. The asset manager
determines the fair value of the security by using a discounted
present value of the estimated future cash flows (interest and
principal repayment).

The net unrealized gain on our investment assets at
December 31,2002 was $52.0 million, or 2.9% of the amortized
cost basis. The net unrealized gain included gross unrealized gains
of $64.5 million and gross unrealized losses of $12.5 million.

At December 31, our fixed maturities had an overall
average credit quality of AA, broken down as follows:

2002 2001
{dollar amounts in millions) Fair Value Percent Fair Value Percent
U.S. Treasury securities and AAA. . $ 8745 58% $ 7932 56%
AA ' © 642 - 4% 87.8 - 6%
A 325.9 21% . 2638 19%
BBB 250.9 16% 2578 18%
Below investment grade 14.3 1% .27 - 1%
Total $15299 100% $14253 100%

‘Ratings as assigned by Standard and Poor’s. Such ratings are generally assigned at the time of the issuance of the securities, subject to revision on the basis of ongoing evaluations,
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Our investment income and net effective yield were as follows:

(dcllar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Average invested assets!" $ 17961 - $16482 $17428
investment income® $ 84 $ 986 $ 1127
Net effective yield® 5.08% 647%

5.98%

(1) Average invested assets throughout the year, at amontized cost, excluding amounts related to _
securities lending activities. . ’

(2) Gross investment insome less investment expenses and before interest credited on _funds held
treaties of $2.9 million, $12.0 million and §10.6 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Excludes net realized investment gains and losses and amounts related to securities
lending activities. '

(3) Investment income for the period divided by average invested assets for the same period.

We review the securities in our fixed income portfolio on

a periodic basis to specifically review individual securities

for any meaningful decline in market value below amortized

cost. Our analysis addresses all securities whose fair value is

significantly below amortized cost at the time of the analysis,

with additional emphasis placed on securities whose fair value

has been below amortized cost for an extended period of -

time. As part of our periodic review process, we utilize the

expertise of our outside professional asset managers who
~provide us with an updated assessment of each issuer’s

current credit situation based on recent issuer activities, such as’

quarterly earnings announcements or other pertinent financial
news for the company, recent developments in a particular
industry, economic outlook for a particular industry and rating
agency actions.

In addition to company-specific financial information and
general economic data, we also consider the ability and intent
of our insurance operations to hold a particular security to
maturity or until the market value of the bond recovers to a
level in excess of the carrying value. Our ability and .intent to
hold securities to such time is evidenced by our strategy and
process to match the cash flow characteristics of the invested

asset portfolio, both interest income and principal repayment,

to the actuarially determined estimated liability pay-out
patterns of each insurance company’s claims liabilities. As a
result of this periodic review process, we have determined that
currently there is no need to sell any of the fixed maturity
investments prior to their scheduled or expected maturity to
fund andcipated claim payments. ,
As of December 31, 2002, our investment asset portfolio
had gross unrealized losses of $12.5 million. For securities
that were in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2002,
the length of ame that such securities have been in an unreal-
ized loss position, as measured by their month-end market
values, is as follows:

Percentage
Number of Fair Amortized Unrealized Fair Value to
{doltar amounts in millions} Securities Value ' Cast Loss  Amortized Cost
Less than 6 months 33 $ 858 $ 896 $ 38 96%
6 to 9 months g 21 26 05 . 98%
91to 12 months 3 40 4.2 0.2 95%
More than 12 months 19 46.9 54.9 8.0 85%
Subtotal 70 158.8 17m3 125 93%
U.S. Treasury and
Agency securities 5 - 06 0.6 — 100%
Total 75 $159.4 $171.9 $ 125 93%

Of the 19 securities that have been in an unrealized loss posi-
tion for more than 12 months, 18 securities have an unrealized
loss of less than $1 million and/or less than 20% of their
amortized cost. These 18 securities have an average unrealized
loss per security of approximately $140,000. In addition, 12 of
these securities have fair values at December 31, 2002 that are
90% or more of the amortized cost basis. There is only one.
security out of the 19 with an unrealized loss in excess of

$1 million at December 31, 2002, and it has a market value of
$14.6 million and a-cost of $20.0 million. The security is a
structured security backed by a U.S. Treasury Strip, and is rated
AAA This security matures in 2011 at a value of $20 million,

-and we have both the ability and intent to hold this security

until 1t matures.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

The contractual maturity of securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2002 was as follows:

Percentage

Fair Amartized Unrealized Fair Value to

{dollar amounts in millions) Value Cost Loss Amortized Cost

2003 $ 39 $ 39 § — 100%
2004 - 2007 425 429 0.4 99% -

2008 - 2012 31.0 ©323 13 96%

- 2013 and later 320 33.9 19 94%

Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities 49.4 583 8.9 85%

Subtotal 158.8 1713 125 93%

U.S. Treasury and Agency securities 0.6 0.6 — 100%

Total

For all securities that are in an unrealized loss position for an
extended period of time, we perform an evaluation of the
specific events attributable to the market decline of the security.
We consider the length of time and extent to which the
security’s market value has been below cost as well as the
general market conditions, industry characteristics and the
fundamental operating results of the issuer to determine if the
decline is due to changes in interest rates, changes relating to
a decline in credit quality of the issuer, or general market con-
ditions. We also consider as part of the evaluation our intent
and ability to hold the security until its market value has
recovered to a level at least equal to the amortized cost. Where
we determine that a security’s unrealized loss is other than
temporary, a realized loss 15 recognized in the period in which
the decline in value is determined to be other than temporary.
At December 31, 2002, all of our fixed income invest-
ments were publicly traded and all were rated by at least
one nationally recognized credit rating agency. In addition, at
December 31, 2002, $14.3 million, or 0.8%, of our total
investments were below investment grade, of which $5.1

million of these below investment grade investments were in

an unrealized loss position, which totaled $500,000.

During 2002, we determined there were other than
temporary declines in market value of securities issued by 11
companies, resulting in impairment charges of $23.8 million
pre-tax, including $14.2 million for WorldCom. The write-
downs were measured based on public market prices and
our expectation of the future realizable value for the security

_at the time we determined the decline in value was other
than temporary. In 2001, we recognized an impairment loss .
of $1.6 million pre-tax resulting from one issuer filing for
bankruptcy. We did not recognize any impairment losses
during 2000. See Critical Accounting Estimates — Investments
on page 46 for additional information. - :

Ly

$159.4 $171.9 $ 125 9%

Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses
We recorded pre-tax net realized investment losses of $16.1
million in 2002, compared to pre-tax net realized investment
gains of $8.0 million and $12.0 million in 2001 and 2000, -
respectively. During 2002, there were gross realized gains and
losses of $18.7 million and $34.8 million, respectively. Included
in the gross losses of $34.8 million were $23.8 million of
impairment losses on fixed income securities, primarily
corporate bonds issued by telecommunications and energy
companies. Realized losses also include $7.3 million of realized
losses on sales of securities where we reduced and/or eliminated
our positions in certain issuers due to credit concerns. To
a lesser extent, realized losses also include sales reducing our
per issuer exposure and general duration management trades.

Net realized investment gains for 2001 reflect the sale
of securities because of our decision to shift the mix of
our invested asset portfolio from U.S. Treasury and agency
securities to corporate bonds and structured securities as
a mearis to enhance our portfolio’s yield. As a result of
investment sales pursuant to this strategy and the declining
interest rates in 2001, we recorded net realized investment
gains in 2001. During 2000, realized investment gains
primarily reflect the sale of equity securities, which had
reached our targeted price level.

See Business — Investments in our 2002 Form 10-K, and
Notes 2B and 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for

" additional discussion about our investment portfolio.



" Market Risk of Financial Instruments

A significant portion of our assets and liabilities are financial
instruments that are subject to the market risk of potential
losses from adverse changes in market rates and prices. Our
primary market risk exposures relate to interest rate risk on
fixed rate domestic medium-term instruments and, to a lesser
extent, domestic short—and long-term instruments. To manage
our exposure to market risk, we have established strategies,
asset quality standards, asset allocations and other relevant
criteria for our investment portfolio. In addition, invested asset
cash flows are structured after considering projected lability
cash flows with actuarial models. All of our financial instruments
are held for purposes other than trading. As stated above, our
portfolio does not contain a significant concentration in single
issuers other than U.S. Treasury and agency obligations. In
addition, we do not have a significant concentration of our
investments in any single industry segment other than finance,
companies, which comprise approximately 15% of invested
assets at December 31, 2002. Included in this industry segment
are financial institutions, including the financing subsidiaries
of automotive manufacturers. See Notes 2B, 3, 6 and 11 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
about financial instruments. : '

Caution should be used in evaluating our overall market
risk from the information below, since actual results could
differ materially because the information was developed using
estimates and assumptions as described below, and because
insurance liabilites and reinsurance receivables are excluded
in the hypothetical effects (insurance liabilities represent 70%
of our total liabilities and reinsurance receivables represent
32% of our total assets). v

The hypothetical effects of changes in market rates
or prices on the fair,values of financial instruments as of
December 31, 2002, excluding insurance liabilities and rein-
surance receivables on unpaid losses because such insurance
related assets and liabilities are not carried at fair value, would
have been as follows:

o If interest rates had increased by 100 basis points, there
would have been no significant change in the fair value
of our debt. The change in fair values was determined by
estimating the present value of future cash flows using
models that measure the change in net present values arising
from selected hypothetical changes in market interest rates.

o If interest rates had increased by 100 basis points, there
~would have been a net decrease of approximately $64
million in the fair value of our investment portfolio. The

change in fair values was determined by estimating the
present value of future cash flows using various models,
primarily duration modeling.

Other Matters

Environmental Factors

Our businesses are subject to a changing social, economic,
legal, legislative and regulatory environment that could affect
them. Some of the changes include initiatives to restrict
insurance pricing and the application of underwriting stan-
dards and reinterpretations of insurance contracts long after
the policies were written in an effort to provide coverage
unanticipated by us. The eventual effect on us of the changing
environment in which we operate remains uncertain.

Comparison of SAP and GAAP Results
Results presented in accordance with GAAP vary in certain

.respects from results presented in accordance with statutory

accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the
Pennsylvania Insurance Department, (collectively “SAP”).
Prescribed SAP includes state laws, regulations and general
administrative rules, as well as a variety of National Association
of Insurance Commissioners publications. Permitted SAP
encompasses all accounting practices that are not prescribed.
Our domestic insurance subsidiaries use SAP to prepare

various financial reports for use by insurance regulators.

See Note 17 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting -
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure.” SFAS No. 148
amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition
for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addi-
tion, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in financial
statements about the method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and the effect of the method used
on reported results. We account for stock-based employee
compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed
in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplovees.” Accordingly,
we have applied the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148
to our Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2002. See Note 2K to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

In May 2002, we announced our decision to withdraw
from the excess and surplus lines marketplace previously
served by our Caliber One operating segment. We accounted
for the discontinuation of this business under the prox}isions
of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which are effective January 1,

2002. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121 “Accounting
tor the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to Be Disposed Of;” and the accounting and reporting
provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results
of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment
of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions,” and establishes a single
accounting model for the disposal of long-lived assets and
asset groups.

In January 2003, we sold the capital stock of Caliber One
Indemnity Company. Pursuant to the agreement of sale, we
have retained all assets and liabilities related to in-force policies
and outstanding claim obligations and will run ‘off such in-

force policies and claim obligations. Accordingly, under SFAS -

No. 144, the results of operations of this segment are reported
in results from continuing operations, and will continue to

be reported as such until all in-force policies and outstanding
claim obligations are satisfied, at which point we will report
the results of the Run-off segment as discontinued operations,
The long-lived assets of this segment were tested for impair-
ment in the second quarter of 2002 in accordance with the

provisions of SFAS No. 144. See Note 14 to our Consohdated ‘

"Financial Statements for additional information.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146,

- “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities.” SFAS No. 146 requires companies to recognize
costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are
incurred rather than at the date of 2 commitment to an exit
or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 is to be applied prospectlvely
to exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31,
2002. Accordingly, this standard does not apply to our exit
from the excess and surplus lines business, which we
announced in May 2002.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”) which
requires a company to assess if consolidation of an entity is
appropriate based upon its variable ‘economic interests in a
variable interest entity (“VIE”). The initial determination of
whether an entity is a VIE is required to be made on the date
at which a company becomes involved with the entity. AVIE
is an entity in which the equity investors do not have the
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~ characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have

sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities
without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. A company shall consolidate a VIE if the company
has a variable interest that will absorb a majority of the VIE
expected losses if they occur, receive a majority of the entity’s
expected residual returns if they occur or both.

FIN 46 is effective for new VIEs established subsequent
to January 31,2003, and for existing VIEs as of July 1, 2003.
FIN 46 also reqmrés the disclosure of certain information related
to VIEs in which an entity holds a significant variable interest.
‘We are currently assessing the impact that implementing FIN 46
may have on our consolidated financial statements. In this
regard, we will be evaluating whether Trabaja R einsurance
Company (“Trabaja”) is a variable interest entity as defined in
FIN 46 and, if so, whether our business activities with Trabaja
would warrant consolidation and/or additional disclosure in
our future financial statements. We expect that any impact
from implementing FIN 46 would be a non-cash adjustment
recorded in our consolidated financial statements as a cumula-
tive effect adjustment no later than the third quarter of 2003.

" Any such cumulative effect adjustment may be material to

our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.
However, there will be no effect on the statutory capital of our

- insurance subsidiaries. See Note 5 to our Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional information relating'to our business
activities with Trabaja.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation
No. 45,“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others” (“FIN 457). FIN 45 requires certain guarantees to
be recorded at fair value and also requires a guarantor to make
certain disclosures, even when the likelihood of making pay-
ments under the guarantee is remote. Generally, FIN 45 applies

. to contracts or indemnification agreements that contingently
. require the guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed

party. The recognition provisions of FIN 45 are effective on

a prospective basis for guarantees-issued or modified after
December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements are effective
for financial statements of interim and annual periods ending
after December 15, 2002. We are currently assessing the impact
of adopting FIN 45, and we currently do not expect that

it will have a material adverse effect on our consolidatéd

financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.




Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” In accordanice with .
SFAS No. 142, we no longer amortize goodwill, but instead
test it periodically for impairment. As of December 31, 2002,
we had approximately $3.0 million of goodwill, which is.
included in Other assets on the balance sheet. Amortization
of goodwill was $960,000, or $0.04 per basic and diluted
share, for 2001, and $220,000, or $0.01 per basic and diluted
. share, for 2000. In 2002, we recognized an impairment charge
of $1.3 million associated with goodwill of the Run-off
Operations, which is included in Operating expenses.

Critical Accounting ‘Estimates

Our Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared
in accordance with GAAP. Some of the accounting policies
permitted by GAAP require us to make estimates of the
amounts of assets and liabilities to be reported in our

Consolidated Financial Statements. We have provided a sum- -

mary of all of our significant accounting policies in Note 2
to our Consolidated Financial Statements. We recommend
that you read all of these policies.

The following discussion is intended to provide you
with an understanding of our critical accounting estimates,
which are those accounting estimates that we believe are
most important to the portrayal of our financial condition-
and results of operations, and that require our most difficult,
subjective and complex judgments. .

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjusiment Expenses »

At December 31, 2002, we estmated that under all insurance
policies and reinsurance contracts issued by our insurance
businesses the ultimate amount that we would have to pay for
all events that occurred as of December 31, 2002 is $2,449.9-

* million. This amount includes estimated losses from claims plus
estimated expenses to settle claims. Our estimate also includes
amounts for losses occurring prior to December 31, 2002
whether or not these claims have been reported to us.

In arriving at the estimate of unpaid claims, our actuaries
performed detailed studies of historical.data for incurred
claims, reported claims and paid claims for each major line
“of business and by accident year. The review of this data results
in patterns and trends that are analyzed using actuarial models
that assume that historical development patterns will be
predictive of future patterns. Along with this historical data,
our actuaries consider the impact of legal and legislative
developments, regulatory trends, changes in social attitudes
and economic conditions. From this assessment, we develop

_ various sets of assumptions that we believe are reasonable, valid

PMA Capital

and can be relied upon to help us predict future claim trends.

" These assumptions are then applied to various actuarially

accepted methods and techniques, which provide us with
a range of possible outcomes of the ultimate claims to be
paid by us in the future. Management uses its judgment to
select the best estimate of the amounts needed to pay all
tuture claims and related expenses from this range of possible
outcomes. Under GAAP, we record a liability on our balance
sheet equal to our bést estimate of the ultimate claims lability.
- It 1s important to realize and understand that the process
of estimating our ultimate claims liability is necessarily a
complex and judgmental process inasmuch as the amounts

~ are based on management’s informed estimates and judgments
.using data currently aviilable to us. As additional experience

and data become available regarding claim payment and
reporting patterns, legal and legislative developments, judicial
theories of liability, regulatory trends on benefit levels for .
both medical and indemnity payments, changes in social
attitudes and economic conditions, we revise our estimates
accordingly. We believe that our liability for unpaid losses and.
loss adjustment expenses is fairly stated at December 31, 2002.
However, if our future estimate of ultimate unpaid losses is
larger than the recorded amounts, we would have to increase
our reserves. Any increase in reserves would result in a charge
to earnings in-the period recorded. Accordingly, any reserve

adjustment could have a material adverse effect on our

financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

 As outlined above, our loss and LAE reserves at
December 31, 2002 have been established using generally
accepted actuarial techniques and are based on numerous
critical assumptions and informed judgments about reported
and paid claim trends and their implication on our estimate of
the ultimate loss for reported and incurred but unreported
claims at the balance sheet date. We have established a loss and
LAE reserve for unpaid claims at December 31, 2002 that we
believe is a reasonable and adequate provision based on the

‘information available to us. If we revised our assessment of loss

reporting and claims payment patterns because of changes in

- those patterns, such that it resulted in a 1% change in our net

loss and LAE reserves, then our pre-tax operating income
would change by approximately $12 million.

For additional information about our liability for unpaid
losses and LAE, see Notes 2D and 4-to our Consolidated -
Financial Statements as well as the discussion on page 34 of

~ this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Investments

All investments in our portfolio are carried at market value.
For.99% of our investments, we determine the market value
using prices obtained in the public markets, both primary

and secondary markets. These market prices reflect publicly
reported values of recent purchase and sale transactions for
each specific, individual security. Therefore, we believe that the
reported fair values for our investments at December 31, 2002
reflect the value that we could realize if we sold these invest-
ments in the open market at that time.

As part of determining the market value for each specific
investment that we hold, we evaluate each issuer’s ability to
fully meet their obligation to pay all amounts, both interest
and principal, due in the future. Because we have jnvested in
fixed income obligations with an average credit quality of AA,
and all of our investments.are currently meeting their obliga-
tions with respect to scheduled interest income and principal
payments, we believe that we will fully realize the value of our
investments. However, future general economic conditions
and/or specific company performance issues may cause a par-
ticular issuer, or group of issuers in the same industry segment,
to become unable to meet their obligation to pay principal
and interest-as it comes due. If such events were to occur, then
we would evaluate our ability to fully recover the recorded

“value of our investment. Ultimately, we may have to write
down ari investrnent to its then determined net realizable
value and reflect that write-down in earnings in the period
such determination is made.

Based on our evaluation of securities with an unrealized
loss at December 31, 2002, we do not beliéve that any addi-
tional other-than-temporary impairment losses other than
those already reflected in the financial statements are necessary
at the balance sheet date. However, if we were to have deter-
mined that all securities that were in an unrealized loss position
at December 31, 2002 should have been written down to their
fair value, we would have recorded an additional other-than-
temporary impairment loss of $12.5 million pre-tax..

For additional information. about our investments, see
Notes 2B, 3 and 11 as well as the discussion on pages 39 to 43
of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Reinsurance Receivables :

We follow the customary insurance industry practice of reinsur-
ing with other insurance and reinsurance companies a portion
of the risks under the policies written by our insurance and
reinsurance subsidiaries. Our reinsurance receivables total
$1,295.1 million at December 31, 2002. We have also estimated
that $5.5 million of reinsurance receivables will be uncoll_ectible,
and we have provided a valuation allowance for that amount.

4%

Although the contractual obligation of individual reinsur-
ers to pay their reinsurance obligations is determinable from
sbeciﬁc contract provisions, the collectibility of such amounts
requires significant estimation by management. Many years may
pass between the occurrence of a claim, when it is reported to
us and when we ultimately settle and pay the claim. As a result,
it can be several years before a reinsurer has to actually remit
amounts to us. Over this period of time, economic conditions
and operational performance of a particular reinsurer may ‘

. impact their ability to meet these obligations and while they

may still acknowledge their contractual obligation o do so,
they may not have the financial resources to fully meet their
obligation to us. If this occurs, we may have to write down

a reinsurance receivable to its then determined net realizable
value and reflect that write-down in earnings in the period
such determination is made. We attempt to limit any such
exposure to uncollectible reinsurance receivables by performing
credit reviews of our reinsurers. In addition, we require collat-
eral, such as assets held in trust or letters of credit, for certain
reinsurance receivables. However, if our future estimate of
uncollectible receivables exceeds our current expectations, we

" may need to increase our allowance for uncollectible reinsur-

ance receivables. The increase in this allowance would result in
a charge to earnings in the period recorded. Accordingly, any
related charge could have a material adverse effect'on our
financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Based on our evaluation of reinsurance recoverables at
December 31, 2002, we have established an allowance for
amounts that we have concluded are uncollectible at the
balance sheet date. In reaching our conclusion, we relied .
on historical performance as well as any known disputes or
collection issues as of the balarice sheet date and applied our
informed judgment in ascertaining the appropriate level of
allowance for uncollectible amounts. Because our current
relationships with reinsurers are considered sound and because
such reinsurers are current on their obligations to our insur-
ance subsidiaries, we currently consider all amounts to be
collectible. At December 31, 2002, approximately $38 million

- of uncollateralized reinsurance receivables, including $25

million due for ceded IBNR, are due from reinsurers whose
A M. Best financial strength rating had declined to below
A- in 2002 or who were under regulatory supervision or

in liquidation in 2002.




For additional information about reinsurance receivables,
see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements as well
as the discussion on pages 35 and 36 of this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis. '

Defetred Tax Assets _

‘We record deferred tax assets and liabilities to the extent of
the tax effect of differences between the financial stétement
carrying values and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The
deferral of tax losses is evaluated based upon management’s
estimates of the future profitability of the Company’s taxable
entities based on current forecasts. A valuation allowance

is established for any portion of a deferred tax asset that
management believes is not more likely than not going to
be realized. At December 31, 2002, PMA Capital has a net
deferred tax asset of $§94.1 million, resulting from $165.9
million of deferred tax assets reduced by $71.8 million of
deferred tax liabilities. In establishing the appropriate value
of this asset, management must make judgments about the
Company’s ability to utilize the net tax benefit from the reversal
of temporary differences and the utilization of operating loss
carryforwards that expire mainly from 2018 through 2022.

In evaluating the recoverability of our net deferred tax
asset, management has considered the recent performance of
its business, which generated pre-tax losses of $79.2 million
and $4.4 million in 2002 and 2001 due primarily to losses
from Run-off Operations and World Trade Center losses.
While such performance may call into question our ability to
be profitable, we believe that future results will be substantially
mmproved due to our exit from the business segment that
generated a substantial portion of our net loss in 2002 and
2001, as well as the unprecedented loss event in 2001 stem-
ming from the attack on the World Trade Center. Accordingly,
despite our recent earnings history, we have estimated at year-
end 2002 that our ongoing insurance operations will generate
sufficient future taxable income to utilize the net deferred tax
asset over a period of time not exceeding the expiration of .
our operating loss carryforwards. As a result, we determined
that it is more likely than not that we will be able to realize
the future tax benefit of our net deferred tax asset. In making’
this determination, we have made reasonable estimates of our
future taxable income. If our estimates of future income were
to be revised downward and we determined that it was then
more likely than not that we would not be able to realize
the value of our net deferred tax asset, then this could have
a material adverse effect on our results of operations. For
additional information see Note 12 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

" coverage to which we ceded these losses, we were required to

- see Notes 4 and 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Premiums

Premiums, including estimates of additional premiwmns result-
ing from audits of insureds’ records; and premiums from
ceding companies which are typically reported on a delayed
basis, are earned principally on a pro rata basis over the terms
of the policies. As discussed on page 27, in the second quarter
of 2002, PMA Re recognized $44 million of net written
premiums for prior underwriting years due to a difference
between the originally estimated and actual premiums. Due

. to the customary lag in reporting premium data by some

of PMA Re’s clients, PMA Re must estimate the ultimate
written premiums to be received from a ceding company
based upon data received when we initially receive the sub-
mission, including broker and ceding company data and
projections. Actual premiums written for PMA Re reported in
the Statement of Operations are based upon reports received
from ceding companies, supplemented by our own estimates
of premiums written for which ceding company reports have
not been received. Differences between such estimates and
actual amounts are recorded in the period in which the actual
amounts are determined.

The premiums on reinsurance business ceded are recorded
as incurred on a pro rata basis over the contract period.
Certain ceded reinsurance contracts contain provisions
requiring us to pay additional premiums ranging from 20%
to 50% of ceded losses or reinstatement premiums in the event
that losses of a significant magnitude are ceded under such
contracts. Under accounting rules, we are not permitted to
establish reserves for potential additional premiums or record
such amounts until a loss occurs that would obligate us to pay
such additional or reinstatement premiums. As a result, the net
benefit to our results from ceding losses to our rerocessionaires
in the event of a loss may be reduced by the payment of addi-
tional premiums and reinstatement premiums to our retroces-
sionaires. For example, in 2000, PMA Re increased its gross
losses by $83 million and ceded $60 million of these lossés to

our retrocessionaires. Under the terms of the retrocessional
pay $35 million of additional ceded premiums to our retroces-

sionaires, which reduced the net benefit of the loss cessions

from $60 million to $25 million. For additional information,
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Cautionary Statements

Except for historical information provided in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and otherwise in this report, state-
ments made throughout, including in the Business Outlook
section on page 26, are forward-looking and contain informa-
tion about financial results, economic conditions, trends and
known uncertainties. Words such as “believes,” “‘estimates,”’

“anticipates,” “expects” or similar words are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements are based on currently available financial, competi-
tive and economic data and our current operating plans based
on assumptions regarding future events. Our actual results
may differ materially from our current expectations. The
factors that could cause actual results to vary materially, some
of which are described with the forward-looking statements,
include, but are not limited to: -

° changes in general economic conditions, including the
performance of financial markets, interest rates and the 1eve1
of unemployment

o regulatory or tax changes, including changes in risk-based
capital or other regulatory standards that affect the cost of,
or demand for, our products or otherwxse aﬂ"ect our abxhty
to conduct business; ’

° - competitive conditions that may affect the level of rate
adequacy related to the amount of risk undertaken and that
may influence the sustainability of adequate rate changes;

o ability to implement and maintain rate increases;

s the effect of changes in workers’ compensation statutes and
their administration, which may affect the rates that we
can charge and the manner in which we administer claims;

° our ability to predict and effectively mariage claims related A

to insurance and reinsurance policies;

o the lowering or loss of one or more of the financial strength
or claims paying ratings of our insurance subsidiaries;
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° adequacy of reserves for‘claim Iiabi]ities;

o adverse property and casualty loss development for events
we insured in prlor years; :

>, the uncertain nature of damage theories and loss amounts
and the development of addidonal facts related to the
attack on the World Trade Center;

o uncertainty as to the price and availability of reinsurance
on business we intend to write imrthe future, including
reinsurance for terrorist acts;

' adequacy and collectfbility of reinsurance that we purchased;

s severity of natural disasters and other catastrophes, includ-
ing-future acts of terrorism in connection with insurance
and reinsurance policies;

o reliance on key management;

° uncertainties related to possible terrorist activities or
international hostilities; and:

o other factors disclosed from time to time in our most
recent Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K filed w1th the Securities
_and Exchange Commission.

-You should not place undue reliance on any such forward-

looking statements. Unless otherwise stated, we disclaim any
current intention to update forward-looking information

and to release publicly the results of any future revisions we
may make to forward-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence
of unanticipated events.




C@MSOMdated B;ﬂamce Sheets

(in thousands, except share data)

See accompartying notes to the consolidated finandal statements,

2002 2001
Assets:
. Investments: _ ,

Fixed maturities available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost:

2002 - $1,477,921; 2001 — $1,416,901) $ 1,529,924 $ 1,425281
Short-term investments ' | 238,536 325,054
Short-term investments, Ioaned securities coilateral . — 25,000
Cash 43,853 20,656

Total investments and cash . - 1,872,483 1,795,991

Accrued investment income : 18,600 18121
Premiums receivable (net of valuation allowance: 2002 — $9 528 2001 - $12,583) I E7B 301,106
Reinsurance receivables {net of valuation allowance: 2002 — 35,483; 2001 $4,562) 1,285,083 1,210,764
Deferred income taxes, net 4,074 82120
. Deferred acquisition costs 222 64,350 -
Funds held by reinsureds 157,479 . 145,239
Other assets 215,98 184,290
 Total assets $ 4105720  § 3802979
Liabilities: ‘
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 2,629,880 $ 2324439
Unearned premiums 405,373 308,292
Short-term debt 85,030 62,500
Long-term debt. 85,250 —
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other habtlltles 253,175 217,480
Funds held under reinsurance treaties 249570 227,892
Dividends to policyholders _ 14,928 17132
_ Payable under securities loan agreements 42 33,228
Total liabilities 3,524,404 3,190,973
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Shareholders’ Equity: :
Class A Common stock, $5 par value (40,000,000 shares authorized;

2002 — 34,217,945 shares issued and 31,328,922 outstanding;

2001 — 34,217,945 shares issued and 31,167,006 outstanding) 171,080 171,080
Additional paid-in capital 108,331 109,331
Retained earnings 319,044 382,165
Accumulated other comprehensive income 34,552 " 5,375
Notes receivable from officers ‘ (62) (158)
Treasury stock, at cost (2002 — 2,889,023 shares; 2001 — 3,050,939 shares) (52,535) (55,797)

Total shareholders’ equity ' 581,380 612,006

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 405,798 $ 30802979
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PMA Cagpital

Consolidated Statements of Operations-

See accompanying notes 1o the consolidated financial statements.
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{in thousands, except per share data) T 2002 2001 2000
Revenues:
Net premiums written $1,104,997 $ 769,058 $ 545,555
Change in net unearned premiums {113,985) (36,618) (14,131)
Net premiums earned 231,010 732,440 531,424
Net investment income 84,881 86,945 102,591
Net realized investment gains (losses) (16,085} 7,988 11,975
Other revenues 15,330 22,599 14,000
Total revenues 1,075,137 849,972 659,990
Losses and Expenses: : ‘
. Losses and loss adjustment expenses 823,658 616,763 449,388
Acquisition expenses 216,984 138,982 112,654
~ Operating expenses 102,808 78,015 67,081
Dividends to policyholders 7,587 14,087 18,855
Interest expense 3,257 6,541 11,889
o Total losses and expenses‘ 1,154,284 854,388 659,867
Income (loss) before income taxes (79,357) {4,416) 123
Income tax benefit (31,133) (11,519) (1,202)
Net income {loss) $ (48020 $ 7,103 $ 1,325
Income (loss) per share:
Basic §_ (153) $ 0.33 3 0.08
Diluted $ (153 3 0.32 3 0.06




PMA Capital

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands) I ) 2002 2001 2000

Cash fiows from operating activities: S
Net income (loss) ‘ ‘ ‘ ', ' - $ (480290 § 7,03 $ 1325
' Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash roWs_ '
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Deferred income tax benefit ‘ . (27,527) {3,147) (82
Net realized investment (gains) losses . . ] : ' 16,083 (7,988) (11,975)
Gain on sale of real estate - ) — (9,763) —
Change in: ‘ ]
Premiums receivable and unearned premiums, net : ’ 34,516 20,236 {18,127)
Dividends to policyholders : . ' (2,134) (114) 3,464
Reinsurance receivables » ‘ o (34,319) (276,875) (275,725)
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 125,451 257,520 120,537
Funds held by reinsureds . ‘ (12,240) (72,588) . (54,721)
Funds held under reinsurance treaties : - 21,778 54,130 79,317
Accrued investment income i . 521 1,746 1,866
Deferred acquisition costs’ : . : (24,872) (15,828) 427
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities o 25,835 45122 96,667
Other, net (2,504) {9,129) -1,988

Net cash flows provi,_ded by {used in) aperating activities : ' 72,167 {9,575) (55,039)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Fixed maturities available for sale:

Purchases ’ (854,047) (1,054,794) - (422,350)
Maturities and calls ‘ ‘ o 235,625 297,549 121,814
Sales . ' - - _ 634480 833884 408,233
Equity securities: ,
Purchases ) — — (24,7086)
Sales : ' — — . 78182
Net purchases of short-term investments . ) : (23,942) (102,637) (131,688)
Praceeds from sale of real estate ‘ : — 14,401 —
Other, net ' ) : (20,351) (8,071) (29,522)
Net cash flows used in investing activities ' ‘ (123,845) (19,668) (37)
Cash flows from financing activities: ) .
Proceeds from issuance of stock < . — 157,868 =
Dividends paid to shareholders T ‘ ‘ ‘ , (12,102) . {9,035) (8,020)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . 2,888 1,387 2,866
Purchase of treasury stock : : ' {1,728) {5,323) (18,427)
Proceeds from issuance of debt 151,250 — —
Debt issue costs , ‘ (3,088) — —
Repayments of debt N {62.530) {100,500} —
Net repayments {issuance) of notes receivable from officers ' g5 (102} —
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities _ 74875 44,295 (23,581)
Net increase {decrease) in cash : 23497 15,052 (78,657)
Cash - beginning of year : ' . 20,655 5,604 84,261
Cash - end of year ' A $ 43833 $ 20656 $ 5604
Supplementary cash flow information: .
Income tax paid (refunded) : o -8 (sbgeg) - 3 (8991 $ 7300

Interest paid ' $ 2,091 $ . 7074 $ 11,795

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

51




P A ﬁ'aui_lal

C@MSOMdafc@d Smt@m;ems‘ of Shareholders’ Eqmty

2002

{in thousands) 2001 2000
Class A Common stocl: -
Balance at beginning of year $ 171,080 $ 122214 $ 56791
Issuance of Class A Comman stock — 48,876 —
Conversion of Common stock into Class A Common stock — — 65,423
Balance at end of year 171880 171,080 122,214
Additional paid-in capital - Class A Common stecle - .
Balance at beginning of year 102,331 339 339
issuance-of Class A Common stock — 108,992 —
Balance at end of year 109,331 109,331 339
Retained earnings:
Balance at beginning of year 382,165 384,694 391,981
Netincome {loss) {68,024) 7,103 1325
Class A Common stock dividends declared - (13,742) {9,018} (7,458)
Common stock dividends declared .- - {922)
Reissuance of treasury shares under employee benefit plans (1,385) {614) {232)
Balance at end of year 319,014 382,165 384,694
Accumulated other c@mpvehemswe income (1 @ss) . .
Balance at beginning of year 5375 (14,373) (46,844)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax expense: ’ :
2002 — $15,710; 2001 — $1,634; 2000 — $17,484 23177 19,748 32471
Balance at end of year 34,552 5,375 (14,373)
Mates receivable rom efficers:
Balance at beginning of year {158) (56) (56)
Repayment (issuance) of nates receivable from officers g5 (102)- —
Balance at end of year {62) {158) (56)
Treasury stock — Class A Common:
Balance at beginning of year {55,797} (52,772) (32,909)
Purchase of treasury shares - (1,726) (5,323} (18,427)
Conversion of Common stock into Class A Common stock S— — {5,582)
Reissuance of treasury shares under employee benefit pIans 4,938 2,298 4,146 .
Balance at end of year {52,535) {55,797) (52,772)
Total shareholders’ equity:
Balandg at beginning of year 612,005 440,046 429,143
Net income (loss) (43,029) 7,103 1,325
Issuance of Class A Common stock — 157,868 —
Class A Common stock dividends declared {13,142} {9,018) (7,458)
‘Common stock dividends declared — — (922)
Purchase of treasury shares {1,728) (5,323) (18,427)
Reissuance of treasury shares under employee benefit plans 3013 1,684 3914
Other comprehensive income 23,177 19,748 3241
Repayment (issuance) of notes receivable from of'ﬁce_rs‘ 85 {102) —
Balance at end of year $ 612,006 $ 440,046

In 2000, all-shares and related dollar amounts of Common stock (865,423) and Feéuq stock — Common (85,582) were converted into Class A Common stock.

See acompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of CQmpr@hensiveln&Om@ (Loss)

{in thousands)

2002

)

2001
et income (loss) $ (83024) $ 1103 $  13%
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized gain on securities:
Holding gain arising during the period 17,355 25,175 40,095
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gains} losses inciuded
in netincome {loss), net of tax expense {benefit): 2002 - ($5,830); _
2001 - $2,796; 2000~ $4,191 ' 10,455 (5,192) (7,784
Total unrealized gain on securities 27,810 19,983 - 32,31
Foreign currency translation gain {loss), net of tax expense (benefit): '
2002 — $736; 2001 — ($127); 2000 — $87 1,357 {235) 160
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 28,177 19,748 32471
Comprehensive income (loss) ' $ (18,847 $ 3379%

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PMA Capital

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Business Description

The accompanying consoidated financial statements include
the accounts of PMA Capital Corporation and its subsidiaries
(colléctively referred to as “PMA Capital” or the “Company”).
PMA Capital is an insurance holding company that owns and
operates the following specialty risk management businesses:”

PMA Re — PMA Capital’s reinsurance operations offer excess
of loss and pro rata property and casualty reinsurance protec-
tion mainly through reinsurance brokers. PMA Re focuses on
risk-exposed business, which it believes allows it to best utilize
its underwriting and actuarial expertise.

The PMA Insurance Group — The PMA Insurance Group
writes workers’ compensation, integrated disability and, to

a lesser extent, other standard lines of commercial insurance,
primarily in the eastern part of the United States. Currently,
approximately 90% of The PMA Insurance Group’s business
1s produced through independent agents and brokers.

Prior to May 1, 2002, the Company operated a third specialty’\

risk management business, Caliber One, which wrote excess
and surplus lines of business throughout the United States,
generally through surplus lines brokers. Effective May 1, 2002,
the Company announced its decision to withdraw from the
excess and surplus lines marketplace. As a result of this deci-
sion, the results of this segment are reported as Run-off
Operations. See Note 14 for additional information.

Note 2. Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

A. Basis of Presentation — The consolidated financtal
statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated-
in consolidation. The preparation of consolidated financial
staternents in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and Habilities, disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the period. Actual results, could differ from those estimates.

In addidon, certain prior year amounts have been restated to
conform to the current year classification. The balance sheet
information presented in these financial statements and notes
thereto is as of December 31 for each respective year. The
statement of operations information is for the vear ended
December 31 for each respective year.

b4

B. Investments — All fixed maturities are classified as avail-
able-for-sale and, accordingly, are carried at fair value. Changes
in fair value of fixed maturities, net of income tax effects, are
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
All short-term, highly liquid investments, which have original
maturities of one year or less from acquisition date, are treated
as short-term investments and are carried at amortized cost,

“which approximates fair value.

Realized gains and losses, determined by the first-in,
ﬁrst~out method, are reflected in income in the period in which
the sale transaction occurs. For all securities that are in an
unrealized loss position for an extended period of tme, the -
Company performs an evaluation of the specific events attrib-
utable to the market decline of the security. The Company
considers the length of time and extent to which the security’s
market value has been below cost as well as the general market
conditions, industry characteristics and the fundamental
operating results of the issuer to determine if the decline is due
to changes in interest rates, changes relating to a decline in
credit quality of the issuer, or general market conditions. The
Company also considers as part of the evaluation its intent and
ability to hold the security until its market value has recovered
to a level at least equal to the amortized cost. Where the
Company determines that a security’s unrealized loss is other
than temporary, a realized loss is recognized in the period
in which the decline in value is determined to be other than
temporary. The write-downs are measured-based on public
market prices and the Company’s expectation of the future
realizable value for the security at the time the Company
determines the decline in value was other than temporary.

The Company participates in a securities lending pro-
gram through which securities are lent from the Company’s
portfolio for short periods of time to qualifying third parties
via a lending agent. Borrowers of these securities must provide
collateral equal to a minimum of 102% of the market value
including accrued interest of the lént securities. Acceptable
collateral may be in the form of either cash or securities. Cash
received as collateral is invested in short-term investments, and
is recorded as such on the balance sheet, along with a corre-
sponding liability included in payable under securities loan
agreements. All securities received as collateral are of similar
quality to those securities lent by the Company. The
Company is not permitted by contract to sell or repledge the
securities received as collateral. Additionally, the Company

limits securities lending to 40% of statutory admitted assets

of its insurance subsidiaries, with"a 2% limit on statutory
admitted assets to any individual borrower. The Company
either receives a fee from the borrower or retains a portion
of the income earned on the collateral. Under the terms of
the securities lending program, the Company is indemnified




against borrower default, with the lending agent responsible
to the Company for any deficiency between the cost of
replacing a security that was not returned and the amount of
collateral held by the Company.

C. Premiums — Premiums, including estimates of additional
premiums resulting from audits of insuréds’ records, and premi-
ums from ceding companies which are typically reported on

a delayed basis, are earned principally on a pro rata basis over
the terms of the policies. For reinsurance premiums assumed,
management must estimate the subject premiums associated
with the treaties in order to determine the level of written
and earned premiums for a reporting period. Such estimates
are based on information from brokers and ceding companies,
which can be subject to change as new information becomes
available. See Note 4 for additional information. With respect
to policies that provide for premium adjustments, such as
experience-rated or exposure-based adjustments, such premium
adjustments may be made subsequent to the end of the policy’s
coverage period and will be recorded as earned premium

in the period in which the adjustment is madé. Premiums
applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force are
reported as unearned premiums. The estimated premiums
receivable on retrospectively rated policies are reported as

a component of premiums receivable.

D. Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Eﬁcpemses —
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”), which
are stated net of estimated salvage and subrogation, are esti-
mates of losses and loss adjustment expenses on known claims,
and estimates of losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred
but not reported (“IBNR”). IBNR reserves are calculated
utilizing various actuarial methods. Unpaid losses on certain
workers’ compensation claims are discounted to present value
using the Company’s payment experience and mortality and
interest assumptions in accordance with statutory accounting
practices prescribed by the Pennsylvania Insurance Department
(collectively “SAP”). The Company also discounts unpaid
losses and LAE for certain other claims at rates permitted

by domiciliary regulators or if the timing and amount of such v

claims are fixed and determinable. The methods of making
such estimates and establishing the resulting reserves are
continually reviewed and updated and any adjustments
resulting therefrom are reflected in earnings in the period
identified. See Note 4 for additional information.

- 6% and 8% on its ceded funds held arrangements. The interest

E. Reinsurance — In the ordinary course of business,
PMA Capital’s reinsurance and insurance subsidiaries assume
and cede premiums with other insurance companies and
are members of various insurance pools and associations.
The Company’ reinsurance and insurance subsidiaries cede
business in order to limit the maximum net loss from large
risks and limit the accumulation of many smaller losses from
a catastrophic event. The reinsurance and insurance subsidiaries
remain primarily liable to their clients in the event their
reinsurers are unable to meet their financial obligations.
Reinsurance receivables include claims paid by the Company
and estimates of unpaid losses and LAE that are subject to
reimbursement under reinsurance and retrocessional contracts.
The method for determining the reinsurance receivable for
unpaid losses and LAE involves reviewing actuarial estimates
of gross unpaid losses and LAE to determine the Company’s
ability to cede uripaid losses and LAE under its existing.
reinsurance contracts. This method is continually reviewed and
updated and any adjustments resulting therefrom are reflected
in earnings in the period identified. Under certain of the
Compahy’s reinsurance and retrocessional contracts, additional
premium and interest may be required if predetermined ceded
loss and LAE thresholds are exceeded.

Certain of the Company’ assumed and ceded reinsurance

‘contracts are funds held arrangements. In a funds held

arrangement, the ceding company holds onto the premiums
instead of paying them' to the reinsurer and losses are offset
against these funds in an experience account. Because the
reinsurer 1s not in receipt of the funds, the reinsurer earns
nterest on the experience fund balance at a predetermined
credited rate of interest. The Company generally earns an
interest rate of between 6% and 8% on its assumed funds held
arrangements and generally pays interest at a rate of between

earned or credited on funds held arrangements is included in
net investment income in the Statement of Operations. In
addition, interest on funds held arrangements will continue to
be earned or credited until the experience account is fully
depleted, which can extend many years beyond the expiration
of the coverage period.

Certain of the Company’s reinsurance contracts are
retroactive in nature. Any benefit derived from retroactive
reinsurance contracts is deferred and amortized into income
over the payout pattern of the underlying claim habilities
unless the contracts call for immediate recovery by the
Company from reinsurers as ceded losses are incurred.
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PMA Capital

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

E Deferred Acquisition Costs — Costs that directly relate
to and vary with acquisiﬁ,On of néw and renewal business

are deferred and amortized over the period during which

the related premiums are earned. Such direct costs include
commissions, brokerage and premium taxes, as well as other
policy issuance costs-and underwriting expenses. The Company
determines whether deferred acquisition costs are recoverable
considering future losses and loss adjustment expenses,
maintenance costs and anticipated investment income. To the
extent that deferred acquisition costs are not recoverable, the
deficiency is charged to income in the period identified.

G. Dividends to Policyholders — The PMA Insurance
‘Group issues certain workers’ compensation insurance policies
with dividend ‘payment features. These policyholders share in

’ the operating results of their respective policies in the form
of dividends declared at the discretion of the Board of Directors

|  of The PMA Insurance Group’s operating companies. Dividends

| to policyholders are accrued during the period in which the

terms of the individual pclicies.

H. Income Taxes — The Company records deferred tax
assets and liabilities to the extent of the tax effect of differences
between. the financial statement carrying values and tax bases
of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recorded for
deferred tax assets where it appears more likely than not that

the Company will not be able to recover the deferred tax asset.

I. Stock-Based Compensation — The Company accounts

for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method *

prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related -
interpretations. Accordingly, compensation cost for stock
options is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market
price of the Company’s Class A Common stock at grant date
or other measurement date over-the amount an employee
must pay to acquire the Class A Common stock. See Note
2K for additional information. . ‘

J. Other Revenues — COther revenues include service
revenues related to unbundled claims, risk management and

are earned over the term of the felated contracts in proportion
to the actual services rendered, and other miscellaneous
revenues. During 2001, other revenues included a $9.8 million
gain on the sale of certain real estate properties.
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related premiums are earned and are determined based on the

related services provided by The PMA Insurance Group, which

K. Recent A\ccoum\ﬁmg Pmno@mcemems — In January
2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)

* No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based 'Compensation -

Transition and Disclosure”” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No.

~123,“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide

alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to
the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends
the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require
prominent disclosures in financial statements about the method
of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the
effect of the method used on reported results. The-Company
accounts for stock-based employee compensation using the
intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting Principles
Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,“Accounting for Stock

~ Issued to Employees.” Accordingly, the Company has applied

the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 to our Financial
Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2002.
The following table illustrates the effect on net income

- (loss) if the fair value based method had been applied:

. {in thousands, except per share) ) 2002 2001 2000
Netincome floss) $las028)  $7003  $ 1325
Stock-based compensation expense
~ already included in reported _ . ‘

netincome (loss), net of tax 140 — (650)

Total stock-based compensation

expense determined under fair
value based method, net of tax {1,480) (1,043)  (1,308)
Pro forma net income (loss) . $(49384)  $6080 $ (633
Income (loss) per share:
Basic - as reported $ (158) 8 033 § 005
Basic—proforma. § (183) 8§ 028 § (0.03)
Diluted —as reported- - $ (153)  $ 032 $ 005
Diluted - pro forma $ (1% -§ 027§ (003)

In May 2002, the Company announced its decision to
withdraw from the excess and surplus lines marketplace

" previously served by its Caliber One operating segment. The

Company accounted for the discontinuation of this business
under the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the

. Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which are

effective January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS
No. 121 “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” and the
accounting and réport'mg provisions of APB Opinion No. 30,




“Reporting the Results of Operations —
of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary,
Unusual and Infrequenty Occurring Evenes and Transactions,”
and establishes a single accounting model for the disposal of
long-lived assets and asset groups.

In January 2003, the Company sold the capital stock of
Caliber One Indemmty Company. Pursuant to the agréement
of sale, the Company has retained all assets and liabilities
related to in-force policies and outstanding claim obligations
and will rin off such in-force policies and claim obligations.
Accordingly, under SFAS No. 144, the results of operations
of this segment are reported in results from continuing
‘operations, and will continue to be reported as such until all
. in-force policies and outstanding claim obligations are satisfied,
at which point the Company will report the results of the
Run-off segment as discontinued operations. The long-lived
assets of this segment were tested for impairment in the
second quarter of 2002 in accordance with the provisions
_ of SFAS No. 144. See Note 14 for additional information.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
* Activities”” SFAS No. 146 requires companies to recognize
costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are
incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit
or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 is to be applied prospectively
to exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002.
Accordingly, this standard does not apply to the Company’s
exit from the excess and surplus lines business, which was
anfiounced in May 2002. h '

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretanon No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 467)
which requires a company to assess if consolidation of an entity
is appropriate based upon its variable economic interests in
a variable interest entity (“VIE”). The initial determination of
whether an entity is a VIE is required to be made on the date
at which a company becomes involved with the entity. AVIE
1s an entity in which the equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have
sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities
without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. A company shall consolidate a VIE if the company
has a variable interest that will absorb a majority of the VIE’
expected losses if they occur, receive a majority of the entity’s
expected residual returns if they occur or both.

Reporting the Effects

" FIN 46 is effective for new VIEs established subsequent to
January 31,2003, and for existing VIEs as of July 1, 2003. FIN
46 also requires the disclosure of certain information related
to VIEs in which the company holds a significant variable
interest. The Company 1s currently assessing the impact that
implementing FIN 46 may have on its consolidated financial
statements. In this regard, the Company will be e‘}aluating
whether Trabaja Reinsurance Company (“Trabaja™) is a vari-
able interest entity as defined in FIN 46 and, if so, whether the
Company’ business activities with Trabaja would warrant con-
solidation and/or additional disclosure in the Company’s

- future financial statements. The Company expects that any

impact from implementing FIN 46 would be a non-cash
adjustment recorded 1n its consolidated financial statements as
a cumulative effect adjustment no later than the third quarter

-of 2003;Aﬁy such cumulative effect adjustment may be mate-

rial to the Company’s consolidated financial condition and
results of operations. However, there will be no effect on the
statutory capital of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries. See
Note 5 for additional information regarding the Company’s
business activities with Trébaja.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation
No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others” (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 requires certain guarantees
to be recorded at fair value and also requires a guarantor to
make certain disclosures, even when the likelihood of making
payments under the guarantee is remote. Generally, FIN 45
applies to contracts or indemnification agreements that
contingently require the guarantor to make payments to the
guarantéed party. The recognitionr provisions of FIN 45 are
effective on a prospective basis for guarantees issued or modi--
fied after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements are
effective for financial statements of interim and annual periods
ending after December 15, 2002. The Company is currently
assessing the impact of adopting FIN 45, and currently does
not expect that it will have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity.

Effective January 1,2002, the Company adopted SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” In accor-
dance with SFAS No. 142, the Company no longer amortizes
goodwill, but instead tests it periodically for impairment.
As of December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately
$3.0 million of goodwill, which is included in Other assets
on the balance sheet. Amortization of goodwill was $960,000,
or $0.04 per basic and diluted share, for 2001, and $220,000,
or $0.01 per basic and diluted share, for 2000. For the year
ended December 31, 2002, the Company recognized
an impairment charge of $1.3 million associated with the
goodwill of the Run-off Operauons which 1s included in
Operating expenses.
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. Note 3. Investments

The Company’s investment portfolio is diversified and does
not contain any significant concentrations in single issuers
other than U.S. Treasury and agency obligations. In addition,
the Company does not have a significant concentration

of investments in any single industry segment other than
finance companies, which comprise 15% of invested assets

at December 31, 2002. Included in this industry segment
are financial institutions, including the financing subsidiaries
of automotive manufacturers.

. The amortized cost and fair value of the Company’s
investment portfolio are as follows:

Gross - Gross

. Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
{dollar amounts in thousands) Cost . Gains Losses Value
December 31, 2002
Fixed maturities available for sale: _ ’

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies $ 315911 $ 13480 $ 3 $ 329398
States, political subdivisions and foreign government securities 10,217 935 — 11,153
Corporate debt securities ’ . 608,407 28026 3580 532,853
Mortgage-backed and ather asset-backed securities 343386 - 22,018 8834 555,520
Total fixed maturities available for sale 1,477,321 64,470 - 12,467 1,523,924
Short-term investments 288,885 — . — 238,685
Total investments $1,776,807 $ 64,470 $ 12467 $1,828.610
December 31, 2001
Fixed maturities available for sale: :
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government agencies $ 263,633 $ 4563 $ 2155 $ 266,041
States, political subdivisions and foreign government securities 16,857 272 3 17,098
.Corporate debt securities 594,477 13,354 8,828 599,003
Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities 541,934 10,215 9,010 543,139
Total fixed maturities available for sale 1,416,901 28,404 20,024 1,425,281
Short-term investments "350,054 — , — 350,054
Total investments $1,766,955 $ 28404 $ 20,024 $1,775,335
The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities at Net investment income consists of the following:
December 31, 2002, by contractual maturity, are included in - {doltar amounts in thousands} ' 2002 2001 2000
the table below: Fixed maturities $ 84957 $ 91530 § 103,490
Amortized” Fair . L.
{dollar amounts in thousands) ) Cost Value Eqwty securities - - 716
: Short-term investments 5073 7,048 8,513
2003 8 A3 AT gy w3 2811 300
2004-2007 | 360833 381438 Total investment income 20,943 101,489 115721
2008-2012 232103 243,027
2013 and thereafter 2196 247502 Investment expenses (3,173) (2,559) (2,490)
: Interest on funds held, net (2,889) (11,985)  (10,640)
Mortgage-backed and other ]
asset-backed securities 543,3% 555,520 Net investment income $ 84881 $ 86945 § 102591

$1477,921 $1,528,324

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because certain securities may be called or prepaid with or
without call or prepayment penalties.
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The Company recognized income, net of lending fees, from
securities lending transactions of $360,000, $383,000 and
$600,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, which was
included in net investment income. At December 31, 2002,
the Company had no securities on loan.




Net realized investment gains (losses) consist of the

following:
(doltar amounts in thousands) 2602. 2001 2000
Realized gains: .

Fixed maturities ) $ 18839 8§ 15768 "§ 3423

Equity securities o — — 15,698
18659 15768 19,121
Realized losses — fixed maturities (34,744) {7,146)

(7,780}

Total net realized

investment gains (losses) $ (16085) $ 7988 § 11975

Net realized investment losses for 2002 include impairment
losses of $23.8 million on fixed income securities, primarily
corporate bonds issued by telecommunications and energy
companies, including $14.2 million for WorldCom. Net
realized losses for 2001 include impairment losses of $1.6
million. The write-downs were measured based on public
market prices and the Company’s expectation of the future
realizable value for the security at the time when the
Company determined the decline in value was other than
temporary, No impairment losses were recorded in 2000.

The change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments
for 2002, 2001 and 2000-was $43.6 million, $30.7 million and
$49.7 muillion, respectively, attributable to fixed maturities.

On December 31, 2002, the Company had securites with
a total amortized cost of $38.5 million and fair value of $39.8
million on deposit with various governmental authorities, '
as required by law. In addition, at December 31, 2002, securities

with a total amortized cost of $24.1 million and fair value

" of $25.0 million were pledged as collateral for letters of credit
issued on behalf of the Company. A security with an amortized
cost of $1.9 million and fair value of $2.0 million was pledged
as collateral for an executive loan program with a financial
institution. Securities with a total amortized cost of $5.4
million and fair value of §5.5 million were held in trust to
support the Company’s participation in the underwriting
capacity of a Lloyd’s of London syndicate. The secutities on
deposit, pledged as collateral or held in trust are included in
Fixed maturities on the Balance Sheets.
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Note 4. Unpaid Losses and
Loss Adjustment Expenses

Activity in the lability for unpaid losses and LAE is summa-
rized as follows:

{dallar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Balance at Januafy 1 $2,324.439 $2,053,138 $1,932,601
Less: reinsurance
recoverable on unpaid .
losses and LAE 1,181,322 924,429 648,227
“Net balance at January 1 1,143,917 1,128,708 1,284,374
Losses and LAE incurred, net:
Current year,
net of discount $55,393 586,392 432,767
Prior years 159,748 23,512 6,491
Accretion of
pridr years’ discount 8513 6,859 10,130
Total losses and LAE .
. incurred, net ‘ 823,658 616,763 449,388
‘Losses and LAE paid, net: ’
Current year (938,927)  (145352) (110,188)
Prioryears (534,362)  (457,003)  (445,865)
Total losses and LAE .
paid, net ' (732,489)  (602,355)  (556,053)
Reserves transferred (50,820) — {49,000
Net balance at December 31 1,184306 1,143,117 1,128,709
Reinsurance recoverable
on unpaid Iosse{s and LAE 1265584 1,181,322 924,429

Balance at December 31 $2,649830 $2,324,439 $2,053,138

Unpaid losses-and LAE reflect management’s best estimate of
future amounts needed to pay claims and related settlement
costs with respect to insured events which have occurred,
including events that have not been reported to the Company.
In many cases, significant periods of time, ranging up to
several years or more, may elapse between the occurrence of
an insured loss, the reporting of the loss to the Company

" and the Company’s payment of that loss. In general, Liabilities

for reinsurers become known more slowly than for primary
insurers and are subject to more unforeseen development

and uncertainty. As part of the process for determining the
Company’s unpaid losses and LAE, actuarial models are used
that analyze historical data and consider the impact of current
developments and trends, such as trends in claims severity and
frequency and claims settlement trends. Also considered are
legal developments, regulatory trends, legislative developments,
changes in social attitudes and economic conditions.
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Losses and LAE incurred in 2001 were impacted by the

September 11th terrorist attack on the World Trade Center.
‘The Company incurred $30 million of pre-tax net lossés from

 this catastrophe. Gross losses of approximately $145 million
resulted from this catastrophe, which is before (1) reinsurance
recoveries ($120 million), (2) additional premiums due to
PMA Re’s retrocessionaires ($30 million} and (3) additional
premiums due to PMA Re on its assumed business ($25 mil-
lion). The Company’s estimate of net loss from the September
11th terrorist attack on the World Trade Center continues to
be approximately $30 million pre-tax and is based on its

" analysis to date of known exposures. However, it is difficult to
fully estimate the Company’s loss from the attack given the
uncertain nature of damage theories and loss amounts, and the
development of additional facts related to the attack. As more

- information becomes available, the Company’s estimate of
these losses may need to be increased.

The components of the Company’s (favorable) unfavor-

able development of reserves for losses and LAE for prior

_ accident years, excluding accretion of discount, are as follows:

{dollar amounts in thousands) . 2082 © o 2000
PMIA Re ‘ $ 108888 $ (1,568) § 9,691
The PMA Insurance Group. 1,032 2,889 (6,074}
Run-off Operations 57,800 219 2874
Total net unfavorable development  § 153,748  $ 23512 $ 6491 .

During 2002, PMA Re recorded unfavorable prior year
development of $106.9 million. In the fourth quarter, PMA
Re’s actuarial department conducted its routine year-end
reserve study to determine the impact of any emerging data
on anticipated loss development trends and recorded unpaid
losses and LAE reserves. During the fourth quarter, the -
Company’ actuaries noticed a higher thian expected increase
in'the level of reported losses by our ceding companies. Based
on the actuarial work perfermed, which included analyzing
recent trends in the levels of the reported and paid claims

. using various loss projection techniques, an updated selection
of actuarially determined loss reserve estimates was developed

" by accident year for each major line of business written by
PMA Re. Management’s selection of the ultimate losses indi-

- cated that gross loss and LAE reserves for prior accident years
needed to be increased by approximately $86 million in the
fourth- quarter, primarily for excess of loss and pro rata general -
liability occurrence contracts ($54 million) and, to a lesser '
extent, excess of loss general liability claims-made contracts
($13 million), from accident years 1998, 1999 and 2000.
“Under existing retrocessional contracts, approximately $22
million of the higher than expected losses were ceded to
PMA Re’ retrocessionaires, reducing the impact on net losses
and LAE 1o apprommately $64 million.
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The rémaining $43 million of unfavorable prior year
development at PMA Re in 2002 primarily reflects the
recording of losses ard LAE on additional earned premium

- recorded during 2002 as a result of a change in our estimate

of ultimate premiums written from prior years. Because
premiums from ceding companies are typically reported on

a delayed basis, we monitor and update as appropriate the
estimated ultimate premiums written. Qur periodic reviews
of estimated ultimate premiums written, which compared
actual reported premiums to originally estimated premiums
based on ceding company estimates, indicated that premiums
written in recent years, primarily in the Traditional- and
Specialty-Treaty units for 2001 and 2000, were higher than
originally estimated. As a result, PMA Re recorded additional
net premiums earned during 2002, including $39.9 million in
the second quarter, which were completely oﬁ:set by losses and

. LAE and acquisition expenses.

In 2001, PMA Re recorded favorable prior year develop-
ment of $1.6 million, reflecting re-estimated Ioss trends
for prior accident years that were lower than previous expec-
tations and concentrated in casualty lines of business.

In 2000, PMA Re recorded unfavorable prior year
development of $9.7 million, mainly reflecting the recognition
of higher than expected losses and LAE primarily from

‘more recent accident years, partially offset by lower than

expected losses and LAE for accident years 1996 and prior.

, The unfavorable development primarily related to coverages
“for 1998 and 1999 written on a pro rata basis, partially offset

by lower than expected losses and LAE for treaties covering
losses occurring in accident years 1996 and prior. In the third
quarter, the Company increased its estimate of gross loss and
LAE reserves by $83 million primarily reflecting higher than

" expected losses mainly in the Company’s pro rata business.
. The concentration of estimated adverse loss development

related primarily to general liability treaties written on a

claims made basis covering losses in' 1998 and 1999, property
treaties covering 1999 losses and, to a lesser extent, commercial
automobile liability treaties covering losses in 1998 and 1999.
In addition, the third quarter reserve increase reflects unfavor- -
able prior year loss reserve development in the excess of loss
general lability line for accident years 1998 and 1999. Under
existing retrocessional contracts, $60 million of gross losses

" were ceded to PMA Re’s retrocessionaires, reducing the

impact on net incurred losses and LAE to $23 million during
the third quarter. This net unfavorable prior year development
was partially offset by favorable loss development for accident
years prior to 1997. '



The PMA Insurance Group experienced unfavorable prior

year development of $1.1 million and $2.9 million in 2002 and
2001, respectively, and favorable prior year development of $6.1
‘milion in 2000. The unfavorable prior year development in
2002 and 2001 reflects higher than expected claims handling
costs. The favorable prior year development in 2000 primarily
teflects better than expected loss experiénce from loss-sensitive
and rent-a-captive workers’ compensation business. Premium
adjustments for loss-sensitive business and policyholders’ divi- .
dends for rent-a-captive business offset this favorable develop-
ment. Rent-a-captives are used by customers as an alterriative
method to manage their loss exposure without establishing and
capitalizing their own captive insurance company.

During 2002, the Run-off Operations recorded unfavor-
able prior year development of approximately $52 million.
During 2002, company: actuaries conducted reserve reviews

to determine the impact of any emerging data on anticipated -

loss development trends and recorded unpaid losses and LAE
reserves. Based on the actuarial work performed; which
included analyzing recent trends in the levels of the reported
"and paid claums an updated range of actuarially determined
‘loss reserve estimates was developed by accident year for each
major line of business written by Caliber One. Management’s
selection of the.ultimate losses resulting from their reviews

indicated that net loss reserves for prior accident years, mainly

1999 and 2000, needed to be increased by approximately $52
million, net of $12 million of ceded losses. This unfavorable
prior year development reflects the impact of higher than
expected claim severity and, to a lesser extent, frequency, that
emerged in 2002 on casualty lines of business, prlmarﬂy
professional liability policies for the nursing homes class .
of business; general liability, including pohaes covering
contractors’ liability for construction defects; and commercial
automobile, mainly for accidént years 1999 and 2000.

As a result of its reserve reviews conducted during 2001,

- the Run-off Operatons revised its estimate of ultimate expected

claims activity and, accordingly, increased its estimate of ulti-

" mate losses, substantially all for accident years 1999 and 2000.
During 2001, the Run-off Operations recorded unfavorable,
prior year development of $22.2 million; which is net of losses
of approximately $26 million ceded to third party reinsurers
under existing reinsurance contracts. These losses primarily
reflect higher than expected claim frequency and severity that
emerged in 2001 on certain casualty lines of business, primarily
professional lability policies for the nursing homes class of
business and, to a lessér extent, property lines of business.

PMA Capital

Dﬁring 2000, the Run-‘oﬁ' Operations recorded unfavor-
able prior year development of $2.9 million, primarily related
to the emergence of higher than expected losses and LAE in

-.certain segments of the professional liability (nursing homes),

commercial automobile, general liability and property lines

* of business for coverage of 1999 exposures. During 2000, the

Run-off Operations discontinued writing or cancelled policies

in the professional liability (nursing homes) and commercial

automobile classes of business that produced the emergence -
of higher than expected losses.

Reeserves transferred in 2002 and 2000 reflect the
assumption of PMA Re’s and The PMA Insurance Group’s
losses by an unaffiliated third party. Cash and short-term
investments of $50 million and $49 million were transferred
in 2002 and 2000, respectively, to support the payment of the

" transferred reserves. -

" Unpaid losses for the Company’s workers’ compensation
claims, net of reinsurance, at December 31,2002 and 2001
were $368.7 million and $363.5 million, net of discount of
$82.7 million and $91.0 million, respectively. The discount rate
used was approximately 5% at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

The Company’s loss reserves were stated net of salvage

.-and subrogation of $41.1 million and $40.8 million at

December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Management believes that its unpaid losses and LAE are

“fairly stated at December 31, 2002, However, estimating the
- ultmate claims liability is necessarily a complex and judgmental

process inasmuch as the amounts are based on management’s

. informed estimates and judgments using data currently

available. As additional experience and data become available
regarding claims payment and reporting patterns, legal and
legislative developments, judicial theories of Liability, regulatory
trends on benefit levels for both medical and indemnity pay-
ments,changes in social attitudes and economic conditions, the

_ estimates are revised accordingly. If the Company’s ultimate

losses, net of reinsurance, prove to differ substantally from the
amounts recorded at December 31, 2002, the related adjust-
ments could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, gross reserves

for asbestos-rélated losses were $42.1 million, $59.9 million

and $49.2 million, respectively ($25.8 million, $28.6 million
and $32.0 million, net of reinsurance, respectively). Of the
net asbestos reserves, approximately $22.9 million, $26.6 million

" and'$27.2 million related to IBNR losses at December 31,

2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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At December 31, 2002; 2001 and 2000, gross reserves
for environmental-related losses were $18.2 million, $29.6
million and $29.5 million, respectively ($14.3 million, $16.0.
million and $18.0 million, net of reinsurance, respectively).
Of the net environmental reserves, approximately $7.9
million, $9:2 million and $9.2 million related to IBINR losses
at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. All
incurred asbestos and environmental losses were for accident
years 1986 and prior.

Estimating reserves for asbestos and environmental
exposures continues to be difficult because of several factors,

. including: (i) evolving methodologies for the estimation of
the liabilities; (if) lack of reliable historical claim data; (i)
uncertainties with respect to insurance and reinsurance.
coverage related to these obligations; (iv) changing judicial
interpretations; and (v) changilng government standards.
Management believes that its reserves for asbestos and envi-
ronmental claims are appropriately established based upon -

* known facts, existing case law and generally accepted actuarial

methodologies. However, due to changing interpretations

by courts involving coverage issues, the potential for changes
in federal and state standards for clean-up and liability, as

well as issues involving policy provisions, allocation of liability
and damages among participating insurers, and proof of
coverage, the Company’s ultimate exposure for these claims.
may vary significantly from the amounts currently recorded,
resulting in a potential future adjustment that could be
material to the Company's financial condition and results

of operations. »
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.(dollar amounts in thousands)

Note 5. Reinsurance

The components of net premiums written and earned, and
losses and LAE incurred are as follows:
{dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Written premiums: , .
Direct ' . $ 604984 $531,286 § 422,537

Assumed 781,552 485,568 398,726
Ceded (281,5349)  (247,796) (275,708)
Net $1,104897 $ 769,058 $ 545,555
Earned premiums: _ ‘
Direct $ 599827 508821 $ 416,152 -
Assumed 691,740 468,975 393,828
Ceded (300,556)  (243,356)  (278,556)
Net 0§ 991,011 $732440 $ 53142
Losses and LAE: ’
Direct : . $ 303857 $ 478,013 $ 368424
Assumed 543,025 498,366 389,724
Ceded {223,.234) (359,616) (308,760)
© Net : '$ 823,553 $ 616763 $ 449388

Losses and LAE ceded for 2001 included approximately $120
million related to the September 11th attack on the World
Trade Center.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had reinsurance
receivables due from the following unaffiliated reinsurers in
excess of 5% of Shareholders’ equity:

Reinsurance

Receivables Coliateral

The London Reinsurance Group

* and Affiliates $ 421,415 $ 351,471

St. Paul and Affiliates® 157,196 153,211
Underwriters Re 101500 101,500
Houston Casuaity ) 97,050 —
PXRE _ 53,520 37,681
PartnerRe 39,781. —
Folksamerica Re . - - 36,157 —
Berkley insurance Company - 35,985 —

(1) Includes Trabaja Reinsurance Company (8369.7 million), London Life & General
Reinsvrance Company (850.7 miflion) and London Life & Casualty Reinsurance
Corporation ($1.0 million). *

(2) " Includes United States Fidelity & Guananty Insurance Company (8106.4 million) and
Mountain Rxdge Insurance Company (850.8 million).

The Company performs credit reviews of its reinsurers focus-
ing on, among other things, financial capacity, stability, trends
and commitmerit to the reinsurance business. Prospective and
existing reinsurers failing to meet the Company’s standards

are excluded from the Company’s reinsurance programs. In
addition, the Company requires collateral, typically assets in
trust, letters of credit or funds withheld, to support balances
due from certain reinsurers, consisting generally of those not
authorized to transact business in the applicable jurisdictions.




At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s reinsurance
receivables of $1,295.1 million and $1,210.8 million were sup-
ported by $666.9 mullion and $626.9 million of collateral. Of
the uncollateralized reinsurance receivables as of December 31,

- 2002, approximately 91% were recoverable from reinsurers
rated “A-" or better by A.M. Best. The Company- believes that
the amounts receivable from reinsurers are fully collectible and
that the valuation allowance is adequate to cover any disputes
about amounts owed by reinsurers to the Company.

Our largest reinsurance receivable is due from Trabaja
Reinsurance Company (“Trabaja™). Reinsurance receivables
from Trabaja were $369.7 million at December 31, 2002, of
which 81% were collateralized. : ‘

Trabaja, formerly PMA Insurance Cayman, Ltd. (“PMA
Cayman”), is 2 wholly owned subsidiary of London Life and
Casualty Reinsurance Corporation (“London Reinsurance
Group”). The Company sold PMA Cayman to London

~ Reinsurance Group for $1.8 million, and transferred approxi-
mately $230 mullion of cash and invested assets as well as loss
reserves to the buyer in 1998. Under the terms of the sale
of PMA Cayman to London Reinsurance Group in' 1998,
the Company has agreed to indemnify London Reinsurance
Group, up to a maximum of $15 million if the actual
claim payments in the aggregate exceed the estimated pay-
ments upon which the loss reserves of PMA Cayman were
established. If the actual claim payments in the aggregate are
less than the estimated payments upon which the loss reserves
have been established, then the Company will participate
in such favorable loss reserve development. :

The total equity .of Trabaja as of December 31, 2002

_and 2001 1s $1.3 million and $679,000, respectively. _
Management believes that the assets of Trabaja of $272.5
million at December 31, 2002, are sufficient to satisfy Trabaja’s
reinsurance obligations to the Company. All of Trabaja’s

* reinsurance transactions are conducted with the Company:

* In January 2002, the Company supplemented its in-force -

reinsurance programs for PMA Re and The PMA Insurance
Group with retroactive reinsurance contracts with Trabaja that
provide coverage for adverse loss development on certain lines
of business written prior to 2002. These contracts provide
coverage of up to $125 million in'losses in return for $55
million of funding, which included $50 million of assets and
$5 mullion in ceded premiums. Such funding was provided

by the Company in 2002. Under the terms of the contracts,
PMA Re’s losses and LAE ceded to Trabaja for accident years
1996 through 2001 are recoverable as they are incurred

by the Company. In 2002, PMA Re recognized a benefic of
$25 million for losses ceded to these reinsurance contracts.
Any future cession of losses under these contracts may require
the Company to cede additional premiums ranging from 40%
to 50% of ceded losses depending on the level of such losses.
In addition to the transfer of assets and loss reserves of $50
million in 2002 to Trabaja, PMA also transferred $49 million
of assets and loss reserves to Trabaja in 2000.

* Company’s senior debt rating is below Ba3 or BB-, Further,
holders of the Convertible Debr, at their option, may require

shares of Class A Common stock. The Convertible Debt is

Note 6. Debt

At December 31, 2002, the Company had $65.0 million out-
standing under its new credit facility (“Credit Facility”), which
was executed in September 2002 -and replaced the Company’s
existing bank facility that was scheduled to mature at
December 31, 2002. The proceeds from the Credit Facility
were used to repay the existing bank facility, which had $62.5

‘million outstanding. The Credit Facility will mature in

September 2003, or the Company may convert the outstand-
ing principal amount into a term loan that matures June 30,
2004, if the Company meets certain financial performance tar-
gets. At December 31, 2002, the interest rate on the utilized
portion of the Credit Facility was 3.6%, which equals the
London InterBank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™) plus 1.8%.The
Credit Facility carries a facility fee on any unutilized portion
of 0.375% per annum. Effective March 2003, the Company
amended the Credit Facility to reduce it to $45 million

in borrowing capacity and repaid $20 million. In addition,

the March 2003 amendment increased the interest rate to

LIBOR plus 2.125%.

In October 2002, the Company issued $86.25 million of
4.25% convertible senior debentures (“Convertible Debt”)
due September 30,2022 from which the Company received
net proceeds of approximately $83.7 million. The Convertible
Debt bears interest at a rate of 4.25% per annum, payable
semi-annually, beginning on March 30, 2003. In addition, con-
tingent interest may be payable by the Company to the hold-.
ers of the Convertible Debt commencing September 30,
2006, under certain circumstances. Each $1,000 principal
amount of the Convertible Debt is convertible into 61.0948
shares of the Company’s Class A Common stock under certain
events specified in the indenture, including once the stock -
price reaches $19.64 for a specified period of time or if the

the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their deben-
tures on September 30, 2006, 2008, 2010, 2012 and 2017, or
subject to specified exceptions, upon a change in control. The
Company may choose to pay the repurchase price in cash or

redeemable in cash, in whole or in part, at the Company’s
option at any time on or after September 30, 2006. See Note
8 for additional information. .

The Company has a letter of credit facility (the “Letter
of Credit Facility”’) which provides for up to $50.0 million in
letter of credit capacity. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the
aggregate outstanding face amount of letters of credit issued
was $15.7 million and $27.9 million, respectively. The Letter
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of Credit Facility is utilized primarily for collateralizing

reinsurance obligations of the insurance subsidiaries of the

Company. At December 31, 2002, fees for the Letter of Credic

Facility were 0.45% per annum on the utilized portion and
-0.15% on the unutilized portion.

The debt covenants supporting the Credit Facﬂlty and
the Letter of Credit Facility contain provisions that, among
other matters, hmit the Company’s ability to incur additional
indebtedness, merge, consolidate and acqiire or sell assets.
The debt covenants of the Company’s currently outstanding
debt also require the Comipany to satisfy certain ratios related
to statutory surplus, debt-to-capitalization, cash coverage,

" risk-based capital and reinsurance recoverables to equity.
Additionally, the debt covenants place restrictions on dividends

" to shareholders.

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

- For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 total
-rent expense was $4.1 million, $3.9 mullion and $3.4 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2002, the Company was

obligated under noncancelable operating leases for office space”

with aggregate minimum annual net rentals of $5.0 million in
2003, $3.4 million in 2004, $3.3 million in 2005, $3.0 million
in 2006 and $18.3 million thereafter, net of sublease rentals
- of $242,000 in 2003, $1.5 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006,
and $12.6 million thereafter. In addidon, the Company was
obligated under noncancelable operating leases for office
computers, equipment and other items of $2.7 million in
2003, $1.8 million in 2004, $881, OOO in 2005, $426,000 in
2006 and $65,000 thereafter.
In the event a property and casualty insurer operating in
-a jurisdiction wheére the Company’s insurance subsidiaries
also operate becomes or is declared insolvent, state insurance

regulations provide for the assessment of other insurers to fund

any capital deficiency of the insolvent insurer. Generally, this
assessment is based upon the ratio of an insurer’s voluntary
premiums written to the total premiums written for all
insurers in that particular jurisdiction: As of December 31,
2002 and 2001, the Company had recorded liabilities of
- $5.4 million and $3.8 million for these assessments, which

is included in accounts payable, accrued expense& and other
Liabilities on the balance sheet.. .

The Company has prov1ded guarantees of $7.0 million
related to loans on properties in which the Company has an
interest. The Company has also provided guarantees of $2.2

million related to an executive loan program for officers of the
Company with a financial institution. The program expires on

- December 31,2003. See Note 16 for additional information.
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Under the terms éf the sale of PMA Cayman in 1998,
the Company has agreed to indemnify the buyer, up to a
maximum of $15 million if the actual claim payments in the

_ aggregate exceed the estimated payments upon which the loss

reserves of PMA Cayman were established. If the actual claim
payments in the aggregate are less than the estimated payments
upon which the loss reserves have been established, the
Company will participate in such favorable loss reserve devel-

. opment.

The Company is continuously involved in numerous
lawsuits ‘arising', for the most part, in the ordinary course of
business, either as a liability insurer defending third-party
claims brought against its insureds, or as an insurer defending _
coverage claims brought against it by its policyholders or
other insurers. While the outcome of all litigation involving
the Company, including insurance-related litigation, cannot
be determined, litigation is not expected to result in losses
that differ from recorded reserves by amounts that would

be material to the Company’s financial condition, resuits

. of operations or liquidity. In addition, reinsurance recoveries

related to claims in litigation, net of the allowance for
uncollectible reinsurance, are not expected to result in
recoveries that. differ from recorded receivables by amounts
that would be material to the Company’s ﬁnanc1al conchtlon

‘results of operations or liquidity.

'Note 8. Shareholders’ Equity »

Changes in Class A Common stock shares were as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Class A Common stock: .
Balance at beginning of year 36,217.945 24,442,945 11,358,280
Issuance of Class A ‘ .
Common stock - 19,775,000 V —
Conversion of Common stock
inta Class A Common stock L — — 13,084,685
Balance at end of year 207865 34,217,945 24442945
Treasury stock — Class A
Common stock: -
Balance at beginning of year 3,030,839 2,869,629  1,665426 - '

Purchase of treasury shares - * 0,185 299,300 988,800 -
- Reissuance of treasury shares -
under employee benefit plans {252.101) {117,9%0) = (220,604)
Conversion of Common stock }
into Class A Common stock — — 436007
2839023 3050939 2869629

Balance atend of year

In December 2001, the Company issued 9,775,000 shares of
its Class A Common stock, realizing net proceeds of $157.9 -
million. The Company used the net proceeds from this

issuance to contribute additional capital to its reinsurance




subsidiary and to repay $62.5 mﬂhpn of its outstanding debt
under its Credit Facility.

The Company repurchased 90,000 shares of its Class A
Common stock at a cost of $1.7 million in 2002, 299, 000
shares at a cost of $5.3 million in 2001 and 989,000 shares at
a cost of $18.4 million in 2000. The Company’s-remdining
share repurchase authorization at December 31, 2002 is $15.4
. million. Decisions regarding share fepurchases are subject to
prevailing market conditions and an evaluation of the costs
and benefits associated with alternative uses of capital.

The Company declared dividends on its Class A~
Com_mon__stock of $0.42, $0.42 and $0.39 per share in 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The Company declared dividends
on its Common stock of $0.08 per share in 2000.

Effective on the close of business April 24, 2000, the

Company eliminated its class of Common stock from the
" Company’s authorized capital and reclassified each issued share
of Common stock (13,084,665 shares of Common stock and
436,007 shares of Common Treasury stock) into one share

of Class A Common stock. In addition, in early 2000 the.
Company authorized 2,000,000 shares of undesignated
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share. There are no shares
-of Preferred stock issued or outstanding.

In 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a
shareholder rights plan that will expire on May 22, 2010.The
rights automatically attached to.each share of Class A '
Common stock. Generally, the rights become exercisable after
the acquisition of 15% or more of the Company’s Class A
Common stock and permit rights-holders to purchase the

Company’s Class A Common stock or that of an acquirer ata .

substantial discount. The Conipany may redeem the rights for
" $0.001 per right at any time prior to an acquisition.

The Company’s domestic insurance subsidiaries’ ability
to pay dividends to the holding company is limited by the

insurance laws and reguladons of Pennsylvania. All of PMA
Capital’s domestic insurance entities are owned by PMA
Capital Insurance Company (“PMACIC”). As a result,

- dividends from The PMA Insurance Group’s Pooled Cdmpém'es

may not be paid directly to PMA Capital. Instead, only
PMACIC, a Pennsylvania domiciled company, may pay divi-
dends directly to PMA Capital. Approximately $58 million
of dividends are available to be paid by PMACIC to PMA

- Capital in 2003 without the prior approval of the Pennsylvania

Insurance Commissioner. As of December 31, 2002, The PMA
Insurance:Group’s Pooled Companies can pay up to $24.6
million in’ dividends to PMACIC during 2003. Dividends
received from subsidiaries were $28.0 million, $29.6 million
and $36.0 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

PMA Capital’s dividends to shareholders are restricted by
certain of its debt agreemients. Under the most restrictive debt
covenant of the Credit Facility and the Letter of Credit
Facility, the Company would be able to pay dividends of

‘approximately $25 million in 2003.

Note 9. Stock Options

The Company currently has stock option plans in place for
stock options granted to officers and other key employees for
the purchase of the Company’s Class A Common stock, under
which 3,401,652 Class A Common shares were reserved for
issuance at December 31, 2002. The stock options are granted

‘under terms and conditions determined by the Stock Option

Committee of the Board of Directors. Stock options granted
have a2 maximum term of ten years, generally vest over periods
ranging between two and four years, and are typically granted

-with an exercise price at least equal to the fair market value of

the Class A Common stock on the date the options are grant-
ed. Information regarding these option plans is as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average . Average
- Shares Pricé Shares Price Shares Price
Options outstanding, beginning of year . 3387054 $ 16.45 3 444026 $ 16.22 3320556 § 15.40
Options granted 440,500 1230 115,000 20.00 411,000 21.50

Optlo'ns exercised
Options forfeited or expired

Opticns outstanding, end of year!!
Options exercisable, end of year

Option price range at end of year
Option price range for exercised shares
Options available for grant at end of year

(302485) 1268

{128,372} 12.20

- {221,905) 13.02

(428585) 1878 (43500)  20.26 (65625) 1884
303548  $ 1683 3387154 $ 1645 3444026 § 1622
2058729 S 1574 . 2,190,357 § 1491 2102509 $ 14.38
$19.50 ¢o $21.58 $10.00 to $21.50 ~ $8.00to $21.50
$10.63 to $17.00 $8.00 to $17.00 $8.00 to $17.00
305,158 48,466 © 121,986

(1) Included in the options outstanding at the end of 2002, 2001 and 2000 are 250, 000, 420,000 and 420,000 options (“Target Price Options™), respectively, with an exercise price of 817.00, which
would have become exercisable had the Company’s Class A Common stock achieved certain target prices by February 2003. Because the stock did not reach the necessary price, the Target Price Options

Options as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,

i

expired as unvested options in Febmary 2003. In 2000, the Company reduced the actrual for these Target Pm.'e Options by approximatcly 81 million, There was ro acrued liability for the Tanget Price
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Of the total options granted in 2002, 225,000 were
granted with an exercise price that was lower than the market
value on the grant date (“in-the-money”), and such options
had a weighted average exercise price of $19.50 per share
and a weighted average fair value of $14.61 per share. The
remaining 215,500 were granted with an exercise price that
exceeded the market value on the grant date (“out-of-the-
money”), and such options had an exercise price of $19.50
per share and a weighted average fair value of $7.66 per share.
In 2001 and 2000, all options were granted out-of<the-money
atan exercise price of $20.00 and $21.50 per share and a fair
value of $6.39 and $7.16 per share, respectively.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation
using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. Included in
the Company’s net loss for 2002 were pre-tax compensation
costs of $215,000. No compensation cost was recognized in
2001. In 2000, net income included a benefit of $1 million
pre-tax related to the Targer Price Options as discussed above.

The fair value of options at date of grant was estimated
using an option-pricing model with the following weighted
average assumptions: _

002 2001 2000

Expected life {years) ‘ 10 0 - 10
Risk-free interestrate 5.1% 5.2% 6.5%
Expected volatility 16.8% 159% = 17.1%
Expected dividend yield . 20% 2.4% 24%

Stock options outstanding and options exercisable at
December 31, 2002 were as follows: '

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted R

Average Weighted Weighted

Number Remaining Average Number Average

Exercise Prices of Shares Life  Exercise Price  of Shares Exercise Price
$11.50 to $14.00 572,139 0.83 $11.79 572139 $ 1179 .

$14.01 t0 $16.50 445,300 243 $1548 445,300 $ 1548

$16.51t0 $19.00 989,750 - 3.36 $17.07 728,750 '$ 17.09

$19.01t0 $21.50 1,089,305 763 - $2009 $ 2017

312,540 .

See Note 2K for additional information.

Note 10. Earnings Per Share

Shares used as the denominator of the basic and diluted
earnings per share were computed as follows:
" 2002 2001 2000

Basic shares — weighted
average shares outstanding 31284848 21,831,725 21,898,967
Effect of dilutive stock options - — 384,970 454,655

31284848 22,216,695 22,353,622

Total diluted shares
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For all years presented, there were no differences in the
numerator (net income (loss)) for the basic and diluted earn~
ings per share calculation.

The effect of 3.1 million, 873,000 and 840,500 stock
options were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share because they would have been anti-dilutive
for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The 2002 diluted shares do not assume the conversion of
the Company’s 4.25% convertible debentures-into 5.3 million

“ shares of Class A Common stock becauise under the termis

of the Convertible Debt agreement they did not meet the
required. conditions for holders to be able to convert the
debentures. See Note 6 for additional information.

Note 11. Fair Value of Financial I[nStruments

As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the carrying
amounts for the Company’ financial instruments approximated
their estimated fair value, other than the Convertible Debt,
which had a fair value of approximately $95 million, com-
pared to a carrying value of $86.25 million. The Company
measures the fair value of fixed maturities and the Convertible
Debt based upon quoted market prices or by obtaining quotes
from dealers. The fair value of bank debt is estimated using
discounted cash flow calculations based upon the Company’s
current incremental borrowing rate for similar types of
borrowing ficilities or the rate utilized to prepay obligations,
where applicable. For other financial instruments, the carrying
values approximate their fair values. Certain financial instru-
ments, specifically amounts relating to insurance and reinsur-
ance contracts, are excluded from this disclosure.

Note 12. Income Taxes

The components of the federal income tax benefit are:

{dollar amounts in thousands) - ‘ 2002 2001 2000
Current s (3608) 8§ (8372} § (1,120)
Deferred (27,527) (3,147) (82)
Income tax benefit $ (31,133)  $(11,519)

$ (1,202}

A reconciliation between the total income tax benefit and
the amounts computed at the statutory federal income tax rate
of 35% is as follows:

. (dollar amounts in thousands)‘ 2002 2001 2000

Federal income tax at the

statutory rate $ {27,708 8 {1,546) $ 43
Reversal of income tax accruals (3,020) (10,076) (1,362)
Qther ] (428) - 103 17 .
$ {31,933) $(11,519 § (1,202)

Income tax benefit




The tax effects of significant temporary differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax
bases of assets and liabilities that represent the net deferred
tax asset are as follows:

{dollar amounts in thousands) ) 2002 2001
Discounting of unpaid losses and LAE $ 61824 § 54647
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards - -50,914 v29,189
Unearned premiumé _ ) 25,870 18,508
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 6225 6,402
Postretirement benefit obligation 4,715 4,878
Deferred compensation 1,344 3,001
Depreciation . ‘ 2043 1,909
Guaranty funds and other assessments 1,604 1,335
Other. - 9,705 9,469
Gross deferred tax assets. 155885 129338
Valuation allowance ; . o — (572)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 165,855 128,766
Deferred acquisition costs (31.227)  (22,521)
Losses of foreign reinsurance affitiate (81200 (11,1200
Unrealized appreciation of investments (18334) . {2,886)
Prepaid pension (8,€5) (2,945),
Capitalized software {4885) (4,100
Other {1.558) {3,074)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (71.787)  (46,646)

Net deferred tax assets $ 94074 § 82120
At December 31,2002, the Company had $107.7 million of
net operating loss carryforwards, which will expire in 2018
through 2022; $11.4 million of capital loss carﬂomaf&,
which will expire in 2007; and $8.5 million of alternative min-
imum tax (“AMT") credit carryforwards, which do not expire.
Management believes that it is more likely than not that
the benefit of its deferred tax asset of $94.1 million, as of
December 31, 2002, will be fully realized. The Company has
determined that no valuation allowance is required on its
future income tax asset as of December 31, 2002. R ealization
of the deferred tax asset is dependent on generating sufficient
future taxable income. Although realization is not assured,
management believes it 1s more likely than not that all of the
deferred tax asset will be realized. The amount of the deferred
tax asset considered realizable, however, could be reduced
if actual, or estimates, of future taxable income are reduced.
In 2002, the Company decreased its valuation allowance
on deferred tax assets relating to certain foreign insurance
operations by $572,000 because the Company utilized
$572,000 of foreign net operating loss carryforwards in 2002.

The Company’s federal income tax returns are subject to
audit by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), and provisions
are made in the financial statements in anticipation of the results
of these audits. In 2001, the IRS completed their examination

~ of the Company’s 1996 US. federal tax return with no material

changes to the Company’s filed tax return. No other tax years
are currently under audit by the IRS. In management’s opinion,
adequate liabilities have been established for all years.

In October 2002, the Company received a refund from
the IRS of $9.6 million resulting from an AMT net operating
loss, which was generated in 2001 and carried back to 1998
and 1999,

Note 13. Employee Retirement, Postretirement
and- Postemployment Benefits

A. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits:

Pension Benefits — The Company sponsors a qualified non-
contributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Qualified
Pension Plan”) covering substantially all employees. After
meeting certain qualifications, an employee acquires a vested
right to future benefits. The benefits payable under the plan
are generally determined on the basis of an employee’s length
of employment and salary during employment. The
Company’ policy is to fund pension costs in accordance with
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
The Company-also maintains non-qualified unfunded
supplemental defined benefit pension plans (the “Non-quali-

- fied Pension Plans™) for the benefit of certain key employees.

The projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit
obligation for the Non-qualified Pension Plans were $6.2 mil-
lion and $5.8 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2002.

Other Postretirement Benefits — In addition te providing pension
benefits, the Company provides certain health care benefits for
retired employees and their spouses. Substantially all of the
Company's employees may become eligible for those benefits
if they meet the requirements for early retirement under the
Qualified Pension Plan and have a minimum of 10 years
employment with the Cémpany. For employees who retired on
or subsequent to January 1, 1993, the Company will pay a fixed
portion of medical insurance premiurms, including Medicare Part
B. Retirees will absorb future increases in medical premiums. ‘
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The following tables set forth the amounts recognized in the Company’s financial statements with respect to Pension Benefits

and Other Postretirement Benefits:

Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benafits

Prepaid (accrued) benefit at end of year

Pension Benéfits

{doHar amounts in thousands) 2092 2001 - 2002 i 2001
Change in benefit obligation: - - .
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 57,143 $ 51,698 $ 8513 $ 8274
Service cost 2335 1,917 ) 36 - 205
Interest cost 4,278 3,911 539 . - 605
‘Actuarial loss 5373 1,868 23 485
Benefitspaid {2.272) 12,251) {ga1) {1,085)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 65,924 $5/143  .$ 8808 $ 8515
Change in plan assets: .
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 49327 . $ 45,440 § — 5 —
Actual return on plan assets {8437 (2,862) ' — -
Employer contributions: 16500 - 9,000 — —
Benefits paid {2.272) (2,251) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 572,118 $ 49,327 3 — . $ =
Benefit obligation greater than the fair value of plan assets $ (9,805) $ (7.816) - $ (8803) $ (8,515)
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss 23,126 © 13,603 {3.815) (4,354)
Unrecognized prior service {cost) benefit | 492 © 497 {r22y (841} -
Unrecognized net transition obligation k<< 329 . — ’ —
$20045. 8 6§13 $ (13,435)

$(13,710)

Other Postretirement Benefits

{dollar amounts in thousands) . 2002 .

Rate of compensation increase .

For the measurement of Other Postretirement Benefits, a 9%

annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health

care benefits was assumed for 2003. The rate was assumed to
dectease gradually to 5.5% by 2007 and remain at that level

~ thereafter. A one percentage point change in assumed health
care cost trend rates would have an immaterial impact on the -
total service and interest cost components of the net periodic

benefit cost and the postretirement benefit obligation.

B8

2001 2000 2002 7001 2000
quhponents of net periodic benefit cost: .
Service cost - 0§ 2385 $ 197 8 1408 $ 316 $ 205 $ 181
fnterast cost . 4,278 3911 3,586 539 605 ' 613
* Expected return on plan assets ) (6,333) (3,983} (4,375). . — - -
Amortization of transition obligation {4) (4) B 4) — ‘ — : —
Amortization of prior service cost 3 5 5 (119) (119) (119)
Recognized actuarial (gain) loss ) #5352 26 {34) {218) - (231) (248)
Net periodic benefit cost -$ 3.004 $ 1,872 $§ 686 $ 558 $ 460 $ 4
- Weighted average assumptions: ‘ . ' . ‘ '
Discount rate 8.75% 7.25% 7.50% 6.75% 1.25% 7.50%
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% C— . —_- . —
4.50% 475% . . —_ — ' —

" 475% _

Qualified Pension Plan assets consist of approximately
35% equity securities and approximately 65% fixed maturity
securities at December 31, 2002.

" B. Defined Contribution Savings Planm — The Company
also maintains a voluntary defined contribution savings plan
covering substantially all employees. The Company matches
employee contributions up to 5% of compensation. Contri-
butions under such plans expensed in 2002, 2001 and 2000
were $3.4 million, $2.9 million and $2.6 million, respectively.




C. Postemployment Benefits — The Company may
provide certain benefits to employees subsequerit to their
employment, but prior to retirement including severance,
long-term and short-term disability payments, and other
related benefits. Postemployment benefits attributable to prior
service and/or that relate to benefits that vest or accumulate -
are accrued presently if the péyments are probable and-
-reasonably estimable. Postemployment benefits that do not
meet such criteria are a¢crued when payments are probable

and reasonably estimable. See Note 14 for addmonal informa-.

tion regarding severance.

Note 14 Run-off Operatﬁoné '

In May 2002, the Cormipany announced its decision to with- '

draw from the excess and surplus lines marketplace previously -

served by the Caliber One operating segment. On January 2,
2003, the Company completed the sale of the capital stock
of Caliber One Indemnity Company, and received gross pro-
" ceeds of approximately $31 million, representing $3.5 million
plus surplus of approximately $27 million. Pursuant to the
agreement of sale, the Company has retained all assets and
. liabilides related to the in-force policies and outstanding
claim obligations relating to Caliber One’s business written
prior to closing. The transaction is not expected to have
a material effect on the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations. As a result of the Company’s decision
to exit this business, the results of this Segment are reported
as Run-off Operations. -
As a result of the decision to exit from and run off this
businéss, 2002 results for the Run-off Operations include
a charge of $43 million pre-tax ($28 million after-tax).

Components of the pre-tax ¢harge include expenses associated

with the recognition of liabilities of approximately $27 mil-
lion, including reinsurance costs of approximately $19 million,
long-term lease costs of approximately $4 million and invol- )
untary employee termination benefits of approximately

$3 million. In addition, the $43 million pre-tax charge
includes approximately $16 million to write-down assets to
their estimated net realizable value, including approximately.
$9 million for reinsurance, premiums and other receivables and
a non-cash charge of approximately $6 million for leasehold
improvements and other fixed assets and $1.3 million for
goodwill. See Note 15 for additional information regarding’
the reinsurance component of the charge. The charge was
included in Operating expenses (approximately $24 million)
and Net premiums earned (approximately $19 mﬂhon) in the
statement of operations in 2002.

. Note 15:

“The Company’s revenues, substanually all of which are

as follows: .

{dollar amounts in thousands) . 2002 2001 2000
PMA Re $ 600209 § 385762 § 30223
The PMA insurance Group 480,573 397,258 310,416
Run-off Operations 31,253 4935% 33223

During 2002, approximately 80 Caliber One employees,
primarily in the underwriting area, were terminated in
accordance with the Company’s exit plan. Approximately
17 positions, primarily claims, remain after the terminatons.
Involuntary employee termination benefits of $1.9- million
were paid during 2002.

Business Segments

The Company’s pre-tax operating income {loss) by principal
business segment and net income (loss) are presented in the
table below. In addition to providing net income (loss), the
Company also provides operating income {loss) because
management believes that it is a meaningful measure of the

" profit or loss generated by the Company’ operating segments.

Operating income (loss) differs from GAAP net inconie (loss)
in that it excludes net realized investment gains and losses
because (i) net realized investment gains and losses are unpre- -
dictable and not necessarily indicative of current operating
fundamentals or future performance ‘and (i) in many instances,
decisions to buy and sell securities are made at the holding
company level, and such decisions result in net realized gains
and losses that do not relate to the operations of the individual
segments. Operating income (loss) does not replace net income
(loss) as the GAAP measure of our results of operations.

{doltar amounts in thousands) . 2002 2001 2000

Pre-tax operating income {loss):

PMA Re ‘ $ 13422 $ (3062) § (7.297)
The PMA Insurance Group - BYUS 23,148 21,601
Run-off Operations (87,501) {26,168) (7,014)
Corporate and Other (14,339) {6,322)  (19,142)
Pre-tax operating loss (63072)  (12408) (11852)
Net realized investment ‘
gains {losses) {16,085) 7,988 11,975
Income (loss) before income taxes . (79,157) (4,416 123
Income tax benefit : (31.133) {11,519) (1,202)
Net income (loss) $ (68028) $ 7,103 $ 1,325

generated within the U.S., by principal business segment were

Corporate and Other {853) 9,608 2142
Net realized investment :
gains (losses) ~ (16,083) 7,988 11,975

$1,075,037 -$ 849972 $ 659,930

Total revenues
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Net premiums earned by principal business segment are as
. follows: v
{doltar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

The Company’s amortization and depreciation expense by
principal business segment were as follows:

(dollar-amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
PMA Re: PMA Re $ 4159 § 3520 $ 1,803
Traditional - Treaty The PMA Insurance Group | 3,598 1,933 3,609

Casualty $ 167,411 $ 66,242 $ 79,942 Run-off Operations 1,313 1,295 1,123

Property 94,655 /50,347 44779  Corporate and Other 128 328 863

Other 4249 1,285 683  Total depreciation and
Total 257,015 117,874 125,404 amortization expense $ 9218 $ 7076 $ 7398
Finite Risk and Financial Products , ' o ‘

Casualty - 101,885 74499 30236  The Company’s total assets” by principal business segment

Property 86,639 108,395 45,085 were as follows: . ‘

Other 18,007 1,163 2,876 . (dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001
Total 207,531 184,057 78'197, PMA Re $2.000.850 $1,868,818
Specialty — Treaty : - The PMA Insurance Group 1,874,810 1,678,206

Casualty 4,911 28816 42448 ° Run-off Operations 205843 299,756

Property 2828 1378 1031 Corporate and Other® 3TE (43801)

Other . 459 734 617 Total assets $4,105,724 $3,802,979
Total 58,348 30,528 44,096
Facultative 4 . ‘ (1) Equity immstm;nb‘ in subsidiaries, which eliminate in consolidation, are excluded from total

Casualty 12283 4127 85 2 Cafr;losrﬁz Z[:f: gﬁ?:?::hda the effects of eliminating transactions between the various insurance

Property 8,355 3,215 3,347 segens.

Total 18,619 7,942 3412 ‘ ]

Total casualty 336,470 173884  152691- PMA Re distributes its products through reinsurance brokers,

Tatal property 197,648 163,335 ga242  and PMA Re’s-top four such brokers accounted for approxi-

Total other™ 24,335 3,182 4176 -~ mately 80% of PMA Re’ gross premiums written in 2002.

Total premiums earned 559,503 380401 251109 -During 2002, 2001 and 2000, total revenues of approximately
$287 million, $110 million and $76 million, respectively, were

The PRA Insurance Group: - placed through brokers which individually exceeded 10%

Workers' compensation and of the Company’ total revenue.

integrated disability 33356 284128 195856 The PMA Insurance Group’s operations are concentrated
Commercial automobile 43,384 32864 - 26,963 in nine contiguous states in-the eastern part of the U.S. As,
Commercial multi-peril 25380 25,863 21869 such, economic trends in indi{;idual states may not be inde-
Other 7,538 3919 1,860 pendent-of one another. Also, The PMA Insurance Group’s '
Total premiums earned 410,268 346,574 252,348 products are highly regulated by each of these states. For many

Run-off Operations 30,113 46,232 28799  of The PMA Insurance Group’s products, the insurance depart-
Corporate and Other " (281) {767y - (832)  ments of the states in which it conducts business must approve
Net premiums earnsd $ 930001  $732440  $531424 rates and policy forms. In addition, workers’ compensation

(1} Primarily aviation, ocean marine and accident in 2002.
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- benefits are determined by statutes and regulations in each of

these states. While The PMA Insurance Group considers factors
such as rate adequacy, regulatory climate and economic factors
in its underwriting process, unfavorable developments in

these factors could have an adverse impact on the Company’
financial condition and results of operations. In 2002, 2001

and 2000, workers’ compensation net premiums written by
The PMA Insurance Group represented 32%, 36% and 37%,
respectively, of the Company’s net premiums written.



PMA Re has agreed to assume the claims obligations
of the Run-off Operations if the actual claim payments in the
aggregate exceed the estimated payments upon which the
loss reserves of the Run-off Operations were established.
As a result of this transaction, PMA Re recorded assumed pre-
mium of $10 million in 2002. No losses were recorded ‘
by PMA Re in connection with this transaction. Also during
2002, PMA Re recorded assumed premium of $8.5 million in
connection with the assumption of losses from the Run-off -
Operations, which PMA Re retroceded under its existing
retrocessional contracts. As a result of these two transactions, -
the Run-off Operations recorded a ceded premium charge
of $18.5 million in 2002 as part of the charge to exit from and
run off the excess and surplus lines business. These amounts
are reflected in the individual business segments’ pre-tax
operating income (loss) and revenues.

The Company actively manages its exposure to catastro-

phes through its underwriting process, where the Company
generally monitors the accumulation of insurable values in
catastrophe-prone regions. Also, in writing property reinsur-
ance coverages, PMA Re typically reqmres per occurrence loss
limitations for contracts that could have catastrophe exposure. .
Through per risk reinsurance, the Company manages its

net retention in each exposure. PMA Re’s property per
occurrence reinsurance provides catastrophe protection of
$40.0 million in excess of $10.0 million on its traditional
property book and $12.5 million in excess of $5.0 million

-+ for property exposures underwritten by its Finite Risk -

and Financial Products unit. PMA Re can also recover an
additional $20.0 million of Traditional and/or Finite Risk and
Financial Products occurrence losses under certain industry
loss scenarios. Certain of these contracts require the cession

of additional premiums of up to 20% of ceded losses depend-
ing on the level of such losses. The PMA Insurance Group
maintains catastrophe reinsurance protection of 95% of $18.0
million excess of $2.0 mllion.

Although the Company believes that it has adequate
reinsurance to protect against the estimated probable maxi-
mum gross loss from a catastrophe, an especially severe catas-
trophe or series of catastrophes could exceed the Company’s
reinsurance and/or retrocessional protection and may have a
material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations and liquidity. In 2001, the Company’s
results reflect approximately $30 million pre-tax ($20 million
after-tax) of losses due to the attack on the World Trade
Center. See Note 4 for additional information. In 2002
and 2000, the Company’s loss and LAE ratios were not signifi-
cantly impacted by catastrophes.

PMA CTapital

Note 16. Transactions with Related Parties

The Company’ largest shareholder is PMA Foundation (the

“Foundaticn”), a not-for-profit corporation qualified under
Section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code, whose pur-
poses include the promotion of the comumon business interests
of its members and the economic prosperity of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. As of December 31, 2002,

' the Foundation owned 5,558,050 shares, or 17.7%, of the

Company’s Class A Common stock, and all but two members

" of the Company’s Board of Directors currently serve as mem-

bers of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees. Also, Frederick W.
Anton III, Chairman of the Company, serves as President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Foundation. The Company and

" certain of its subsidiaries provide certain administrative services

to the Foundation for which the Company and its subsidiaries
receive reimbursement. Total reimbursements amounted to
$13,000 for each of the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The Foundation also leases

" its Harrisburg, Pennsylvania headquarters facility from a

subsidiary of the Company under an operating lease presendy
requiring rent payments of $25,000 per month, and reimburs-
es a subsidiary of the Company for its use of office space.
Rent and related reimbursements paid to the Company’s
affiliates by the Foundation was $304,000 for each of the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The Company incurred legal and consulting expenses
aggregating approximately $3.9 million, $4.8 million and
$5.3 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, from firms
in which directors of the Company are partners or principals.

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company
had notes receivable from officers totaling $62,000, $158,000
and $56,000, respectively, that are accounted for as a reduction
of shareholders’ equity. At December 31, 2002, the interest rate
on these notes was 4.75%.

The Company has arranged an executive loan program
with-a financial institution. The institution provides personal
demand loans to officers of the Company at a floating interest

" rate equal to the financial institution’s prime rate minus

1/2%. Such loans are collateralized by Class A Common stock
beneficially owned by the officer and a Company treasury
security. The Company has agreed to purchase any loan made
to an officer (including accrued interest and related expenses)
from the financial institution in the event that the borrower
defaults on the loan. The amount of loans outstanding as of
December 31, 2002 under this program was $2.2 million.
The program eéxpires on December 31,2003. |
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

'Note 17. Statutory Financial Information

These consolidated financial statements vary in certain respects
from financial statements prepared using statutory accounting
practices that are prescribed or permitted by the Pennsylvania
Insurance Department and the Delaware Insurance Department,
(collectively “SAP”). Prescribed SAP includes state laws,

" regulations and general administrative rules, as well as a variety

of National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC™)

. publications. Permitted SAP encompasses all accounting
practices that are not prescribed. The Codification of Statutory
Accounting Principles (“Codification™) guidance is the
NAIC’ primary guidance on statutory accounting.

SAP net income (loss) and capital and surplus for PMA
Capital’s domestic insurance subsidiaries are as follows:
(doltar amounts in thousands) ) S 2002 2001 2000

SAP net income {loss):

PMA Capital Insurance Co. 3 {8039)

The PMA Insurance Group 4,3%4 25,341 4,847

Caliber One Indemnity Co. (27.874) - (3658) - 57233

Total . $ {3032 $ 2975 $ 19,000

SAP capital and surplus: :

PMA Capital Insurance Co. $ 520,151 $ 559,578 $ 529,631

The PMA Insurance Group © 305533 - 264476 254,633

Caliber One Indemnity Co. . 26,344 37,060 42,859

Eliminationst"! : {332377)  (301,536)  (297.492)
$ 559,578 § 529,631

Total - :  $ 83081

(1) The surplus of The PMA Insuirance Group’s domestic insurance subsidiaries and Caliber One
Indemnity Company are eliminated as they ‘are included in the statutory surplus of PMA
_ Capital Insurance Company, the parent comparty of these insurance companies.

A reconciliation of PMA Capital’s domestic insurance sub-
sidiaries’ SAP net income (loss) to the C‘ompany’s‘ GAAP net
income (loss) is as follows: , _
{dollar amounts in thousands} o 2002 2001 2000

SAP net income {loss) —

domestic insurance subsidiaries $ (30929) 2,975 $ 19,000
GAAP adjustments: ‘ '
" Dividends received from oo
subsidiaries ' {15,200) (18,797) (1,706)
Chénge in deferred acquisition costs . 24,872 15828 . (109) -
Benefit (provision) for deferred .
~ income taxes 3790 (7,100 (5,205)
Allowance for doubtful accounts gI% 4874  (454) '
Guaranty fund and foss based . ’ T
- assessments @10} - .38 1,362
Other o (2699) _ (10610) 1984
GAAP netincome (loss) — ) '
domestic insurance subsidiaries (23,165) - (10,502) 14,872
Othér entities and eliminations - (22,353) 17606 (13,547)
$ {48028) § 7103- $ 1325

GAAP netincome {loss)

n

$ (18,708) $ 8920

A reconciliation of PMA Capital’s domestic insurance
subsidiaries’ SAP capital and surplus to the Company’s GAAP
shareholders’ equity is as follows:

(dollar amounts in thousands}) 2002 2001 2000 -

~ SAP capital and surplus ~~

_ domesticinsurance subsidiaries = $ 580,151 § 559,578 $ 529,631
GAAP adjustments: .
Deferred acquisition costs 80222 64,350 48,522
- Deferred income taxes 3227 36,226 41,843
Allowance for doubtful accounts {13,641} {(13954)  (18,828)
‘Retirement accruals {9,105) (8943}  (9,370)
_ Non-admitted assets 22,101 88,150 50,770
Unrealized gain (loss) on fixed
maturities available for sale 25,382 5,584 (12,789)
Other {5,527} 12,030 16,969
"GAAP shareholders’ equity — - N
domestic insurancé subsidiaries 720808 743,021 846,748
Other entities and eliminaticns {139.419)  (131,015) {206,702)

$ 531,330 $ 612,006 $ 440,046

GAAP shareholders’ equity

The Company’s statutory financial statements are presented
on the basis of accounting practices prescribed or permitted
by the Pennsylvania Insurance Department (for PMA Capital
Insurance Company and The PMA Insurance Group) and
the Delaware Insurance Department (for Caliber One

" Indemnity Company). Pennsylvania and Delaware have

adopted Codification as the basis of their statutory accounting
practices. However, Pennsylvania has retained the prescribed
practice of non-tabular discounting of unpaid losses and LAE
for workers’ compensation, which was not permitted under
Codification. This prescribed accounting practice increased .

statutory capital and surplus by $13.0 million, $22.2 million

" and $20.4 million at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,

respectively, over what it would have been had the prescribed

" practice not been allowed. In addition, under this prescribed

accounting practice, the Company discounted certain of its

ceded unpaid loss and LAE reserves for workers’ compensa—
tion and increased its statutory credit for céded reinsurance,
which indirectly benefited statutory capital and surplus by

~ approximately $72 million at December 31, 2002. Only if

- these reserves were not discounted and the Company was
. unsuccesstul in obtaining collateral would the statutory surplus
_ be directly impacted. .*



LFMA Capital

Repmht of Independent Accountants:
PriceyTerHoUsE QoPERS

To the Board of D1rectors and Shareholders of
PMA Capital Corporation ' )

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations,

cash flows, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of PMA Capital Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with
accounting. principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our'audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall ﬁnanc1al statement presentation. We believe that our audits
prov1de a reasonable basis for our op1mon -

Phlladelphla Pennsylvania

February 5, 2003, except for Note 6
as to which the date i is March 17, 2003
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Quarterly Financial Information mnaudied

. The following unaudited quarterly financial data are presented on a consolidated basis for each of the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001. Quarterly financial results necessarily rely on estimates and caution is required in drawing specific conclusions
from quarterly consolidated results.

Second

First Third Fourth
(dollar amounts in thousands, except share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2002
Income Statement Data:
Total revenues $ 227375 $ 284,139 $ 271,007 $ 292616
Income {loss) before income taxes (26,585) {45,550 14,329 {21,851)
Netincome (loss) {17,247) (29,743)" 9,375 (10,403)
Per Share Data: ) .
Net income {loss) (Basic) $  (055) $ @M $ 030 $ (033
Net income {loss) (Diluted) $  {055) $ (035" $ 030 $  (033)
Class A Common Stock Prices:
High $ . 2310 $ 2539 $ - 2050 $ 1530
Low . 18.71 17.65 1305 . 12.37
Close 2234 20.15 15.0D 14.33
20017
Income Statement Data: ‘ .
Total revenues $, 193,599 $ 217,075 $ 210,155 $ 229,143
Income (loss) before income taxes (2,549) 9,726 {20,934)2 9,341
Net income {loss) 8,091 v 6,040 (13,650)2 6,622
Per Share Data:
Net income {loss) (Basic) $ 038 $ 028 $ (0833® s 029
Net income {loss) (Diluted) § 037 $ 028 $ (083@ $ 029
Class A Common Stock Prices: ‘
High ' $ 1894 -8 1805 $ 1824 $ 1940
Low 16.50 16.59 16.13 16.05
17.38 18.05 18.00 19.30

Close

The Company had approximately 5 700 holders of its Class A Common stock at January 31> 2003 based on recordholders and
other beneficial owners. In each quarter of 2001 and 2002, the Company declared quarterly dividends of $0.105 per share for its

Class A Common stock

(1) Includes approximately $43 million pre-tax (828 million after-tax or §0.90 per basic and diluted shate) for costs associated with the exit from and run off of Caliber One,

our formev excess and surplus lines bustness.

(2} Includes losses of approxcimately 830 million pre-tax (820 million after-tax or $0.93 per basic and diluted share) for the attack on the World Tiade Center,
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